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Group overview 
The Group operates three divisions: US Services, 
UK Services and Global Products; to ensure efficient 
leverage of expertise, technology, customer 
relationships and business development skills. 

Our services businesses which account for more 
than 70% of total sales, are focused on providing 
expertise and knowledge in national markets. Our 
products business provides the platform to bring 
valuable intellectual property into the commercial 
markets on a global basis. 

Div1s1on 

US Services 

01vis1on 

UK Services 

Division 

Global 
Products 

Revenue 

£588.2m 
(2010 £628 Om) 

Underlying operating profit• 

£44.3m 
(2010 £52 6m) 

Revenue 

£611.6m 
(2010. £693.9m) 

Underlying operating profit• 

£48.7m 
(2010 £59 lm) 

Revenue 

£502.8m 
(2010 £303 Sm) 

Underlying operating profit• 

£52.4m 
(2010 £8 6m) 

Definitions of underlying measures of performance are in the glossary on page 107 

Revenue by business 

2011 2010 
£m £m 

US Services 588 2 628 0 

UK Servrces 6116 693 9 

Global Products 502.8 303 s 
Total 1,702 6 1,625 4 

Employees 

4,500 
(2010: 5,369) 

Employees 

5,045 
(2010: 5,707) 

Employees 

1,663 
(2010. 2,002) 



Underlying operating profrt* by business Revenue by ma1or customer type Revenue by geography 

2011 
£m 

US Services 44 3 

UK Services 487 

Global Products 52 4 

Total 145 4 

capab1httes 

Custom software 
C41SR 

Cyber security 
• IT infrastructure 

Program management 
Research & development 
Tra1n1ng and simulation 

capabilities 

Air engmeenng 
C41SR 
Cyber security 
TechnJCal information 
servrces 
Test and evaluanon 
Training and s1mulat1on 
Programme and 
procurement support 

capab1httes 

Survivab1hty 
Unmanned systems 
Energy from waste 
Vehrcle power management 
Sensor networks 

2010 
£m 

52 6 US Government 

591 UK Government 

86 Other 

120 3 Total 

Developments during year 

Award to provide 
engineering services at NASA 
Kennedy Space Center 
Five year contract for 
training development and 
dehvery services to the 
US Navy's Space and 
Naval Warfare System 
Center Atlanhc 
Sale of S&IS 

Developments during year 

Award of the f9m managed 
services contract to operate 
flight phys1olog1cal centre 
1n Sweden 
Increased test and 
evaluanon capab1hty 
demand from 
overseas customers 

Developments dunng year 

S1gn1hcant contribution 
from Q-NET vehicle 

surv1vabtl1ty products 
Award of OptaSense• 
£26 Sm contract with Shell 
Award of £12m 

contract for light protected 
patrol vehicle 
Acqu1s1t1on of 

Sensopt1cs Ltd 

2011 2010 2011 2010 
£m £m £m £m 

894 3 7541 North Amenca 949 2 825 3 

526 5 614 5 United Kingdom 623 7 7200 

2818 256 8 

1,702 6 1,625 4 

customers 
NASA 

Other 

Total 

US Department of Homeland 
Security (DHS) 
US Department of Defense 
(DoD) 
US Department of State 
(DoS) 

OJstomers 

Ministry of Defence (MOD) 
DSTL 
The Highways Agency 
UK security agencies 
Australian Department 
of Defence 

customers 
US Department of Defense 
(DoD) 
UK M1n1stry of Defence 
(MOD) 
UK and North Amencan 
security agencies 
Shell 
Merck 
Astnum 

129.7 801 

1,702 6 1,625 4 

Building value 

A strong position in growing 
market segments C41SR, 
engineering services, 
training and s1mulat1on 
and cyber security 

Building value 

A strong pos1tlon 1n test 
and evaluation, cyber 
security, C41SR, acquisition 
and programme advice, 
engineering services 
and training and 
s1mulaoon markets 

Budding value 

Through rnternanonal 
expansion while cap1tahsmg 
on opportunities 1n 
adjacent markets, 
such as 011 and gas 



Who we are 
QinetiQ comprises teams of dedicated people; experts in 
defence, aerospace, security and related markets. We draw 
on our extensive technical knowledge and intellectual property 
to provide the know-how and support to solve some of the 
world's most challenging problems. 

What we do 
Our customers face challenges that define the modern world. 
They know that we understand the increasingly global nature 
of science, technology and engineering and they trust us to work 
alongside them to ensure the success of their mission. We support 
space programmes; we provide trusted technical services to the 
UK Ministry of Defence and the US Department of Defense; we 
carry out secure monitoring services for a range of commercial and 
government customers globally - all vital support solutions requiring 
trust and integrity. 

How we create value 
Our people make the critical difference to customers by providing 
unique approaches to problem solving. They supply answers 
requiring innovation, deep domain knowledge, rigorous independent 
thinking and technical expertise - answers which save lives, protect 
assets and critical infrastructure, reduce costs, ensure competitive 
advantage - answers which make tomorrow work today. 
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£1,702.6m £260.9m 

Underlying operating profit* 

£145.4m 

Underlying operating cash 
conversion* 

183% 

Underlying operating margin* 

8.5% 

• Definitions of underlying measures of performance are fn the glossary on page 107 

Underlying earnings per share* 

14.2p 

Gearing ratiot 

1.4x 

Dividend 

1.60p 

' The gearing ratio ls net debt to adjusted EBITDA and the deflrntJon 1s m the glossary on page 107 
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Business review 

Chairman's 
statement 

Dear shareholder 
I wnteth1s report having completed my first full year as Chairman 
of QmetiQ I am pleased to report that, against a backdrop of 
challenging markets, Q1netiQ's performance 1n the last financial 
year was 1mpress1ve 

These results were delivered in s1gnrficant part because we took 
charge of our destiny and implemented a 24 month self-help 
programme to restore the business to strength and build value 
for the future Our markets on both sides of the Atlantic were 
under srgn1ficant budgetary pressures as our customers responded 
to their need to reduce national deficits Given, however, the 
increased global nsks and threats, our key markets of defence 
and security remain a priority for governments We have made 
raptd progress m reshaping our business This, together, with the 
reduction and refinancing of our debt contributed to a more 
agile and competitive QmetiQ 

Results 
Group revenues were £1,702 Gm (2010 £1,625 4m) and underlying 
operating profit' increased to £145 4m (2010 £120 3m), up 21%, 
resulting m an underlying profit before tax for the Group of 
£114 6m, up 34% on the previous year (2010 £85 7m) The rigorous 
Group-wide focus on debt reduction resulted ma strong underlying 
operating cash conversion· of 183% (2010 145%) as underlying 
cash flow from operations' increased to £265 Sm (2010 £174 3m) 
Closing net debt at 31March2011 was £260 9m (2010 £457 4m), 
an improvement of £196 Sm Full year underlying earnings per 
share' were 14 2p (2010 11 lp) 

D1v1dend 
In May 2010, the Board recommended a suspension of d1v1dend 
payments during the first 12 months of the Group's programme 
to restore Qmet1Q to strength In hne with its commitment at that 
time, the Board 1s recommending a return to the d1v1dend list 
The Board 1s also recommending the reinstatement of a progressive 
d1v1dend policy, which takes into account the profitab1hty of 
QmetlQ's businesses and underlying growth, as well as 1ts capital 
requirements and cash flows, while maintaining an appropriate 
level of d1vrdend cover The final dividend will normally represent 
approximately two-thirds of the full year dividend 1n future periods 
The proposed final d1v1dend 1s 1 60p per share for the year ended 
31 March 2011, which will be paid on 2 September 2011 to 
shareholders on the register at 5 August 2011 

Our people 
Q1netiQ's success rests on the skills and dedication of its people as 
we adapt to changing market conditions They have played an active 
role in the Group's progress during the year and we know they are 

Definitions of underlymg measures of performance are rn the glossary on page 107 
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deeply engaged 1n the self-help plan that we are 1mplement1ng 
Our teams embody a strong ethos of public service, which provides 
a vital bond with our customers 1n delivery of their pnonties 
May I take this opportunity to extend my thanks to our employees 
who have played such a vital role m our progress during the year 

The Board 
Just as our business 1s evolving so 1s the shape of the Board Dunng 
the course of the year, Nick Luff and David Langstaff both left the 
Board due to growing execunve management commitments outside 
of the Group I thank them for their service to the Company and 
wtsh them both well for the future In October 2010, Paul Murray 
JOmed as a Non-executive Director, bnngmg a broad range of 
experience 1n finance and corporate governance from a cross 
section of industries I would hke to welcome Paul to the Board 
and, on behalf of my Board colleagues, look forward to working 
with him Admiral Ed Gtambastlani will step down as a Non­
executive Director at this year's Annual General Meeting I would 
like to thank him for his contnbution to Q1nenQ over the past three 
years We will continue to review the structure of the Board as 
Q1netiQ transitions and adapts to changing markets 

Outlook 
We are making s1gn1flcant progress 1n restonng Q1netiQ to strength 
Our reshaping of the businesses, together with the reducnon 
and refinancing of the debt, all contnbuteto a leaner and more 
agile Group With a stronger balance sheet, we are now able to 
fund future growth and rernstate the d1v1dend for shareholders 
Internally, we have made s1gn1ficant changes which we will embed 
and extend this year, to ensure that over the medium term we 
max1m1se value from both QrnetlQ's inherent capabilities and 
emerging opportunities Externally, by working closely with its US 
and UK government customers, Q1netiQ will be able to ahgn its 
unique expernse with their pnontles to achreve greater value and 
efficiency We are unhkelyto see a repetition of last year's level of 
Q-NET sales, but the Board beheves that the programme underway 
to increase competitiveness will enable the Group to perform 1n hne 
with its expectanons for the current financial year 1n what are hkely 
to remain challenging market conditions 

Mark Elliott 
Chairman 
27May2011 



Chief Executive Officer's Review 
Summary of Priorities 
We are now 12 months into our 24 month self-help 
programme to restore value, to strengthen our 
foundations, and build a path to future sustainable 
and profitable growth. The following priorities 
have been put in place: 

Focus 

- Extracting value from the portfolio 

Cultural transformation 

- Building a more competitive culture 

Strengthen the balance sheet 

- Enable longer-term options 

For more 1nformatlon go to 
www QmetJQ com 
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Busmess review 

Chief Executive 
Officer's review 

The Group made significant progress 1n the year Its programme 
of self-help resulted m rncreased competltlveness and a strong 
foundabon for the future Throughout what was a difficult penod 
1n the markets, all our businesses have worked closely with therr 
customers to ensure that QrnetlQ 1s well-pos1boned to create value 
over the medium term 

Through a relentless focus on our key pnonbes, we rebased 
the business and put 1t on a strong foundation for the future 
I am particularly pleased that we achieved a number of our goals 
ahead of schedule, pr1nc1pallythe refinancing This major milestone, 
completed 12 months ahead of schedule, culminated in a 
strengthened balance sheet and the confidence to reinstate the 
dtv1dend In addition, the Group has no debt maturity until 2016, 
prov1d1ng a strong foundallon to fund future growth While we are 
making good progress, we remain focused on the next 12 months, 
to build on our progress and deliver a more agile, commercial and 
efficient business for the future 

Trading environment 
Q1netJQ's pnnc1pal markets remain challenging, with defence 
budgets on both sides of the Atlantic under pressure in light of 
government programmes to reduce flscal deficits 

In the US, after six months operating under a Connnumg Resolutlon, 
President Obama srgned the Defense Appropnatlon Bill on 15 Apnl 
2011, which funds the Department of Defense for the remainder 
of the US Government 2011 flscal year Work within the US 
Government now turns to the budget for the 2012 flscal year, 
accompanied by a review by the Department of Defense (DoD) to 
evaluate long-term spending plans Over the medium term, budget 
reducnons are expected 1n order to generate efficiency savings 
Agamst this backdrop offlscal austenty, customer behaviours 
are changmg as they look 'to do more with less' 

In the UK, rt 1s anttc1pated that budgets will be reduced to meet 
the Government's target of an 8% cumulative reduction m 
defence spending over the next four years In December 2010, the 
Government published its Consultation Paper, 'Equipment, Support 
and Technology for UK Defence and Security', on the role which 
industry will play m future defence programmes and the resulting 
White Paper 1s scheduled for this summer In Apnl 2011, the 
MOD also implemented its Comprehenstve Commitment Control 
Regime, which requires the approval of senior c1v1I servants for new 
expenditure, except tn key categories such as those which support 
current operanons, the strategic deterrent and safety Overall, 
the imperative for change within the MOD ts hkely to connnue 
to restrict and delay the authorisation of new contracts 

• Defimtlons of underlvu"l8 measures of performance can be found rn the glossary 
The gearingratJols adjusted net debt EBIIDA calculated in acc.ordance with the 
Group's credit faal1ty ratios.. 
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Update on pnontles 
In May 2010, Q1net1Q set out a 24 month self-help programme with 
three pnontles to refocus the businesses, to transform the culture 
and to strengthen the balance sheet 

Focus 
The Group's new structure of three d1v1s1ons- US Services, UK 
Services and Global Products- aligns its expertise and technology 
efficiently with customers' needs Each d1v1s1on made progress 
on implementation m the period 

full integration of the US Services businesses 1s underway to 
reduce duplicated overhead, 1mprov1ng the ability of the d1v1s1on 
to compete effecttvely, 

the realignment of UK Services with specific customer segments 
was completed 1n the first half, with further refinements likely 
to reflect evolving customer requirements, 

the Global Products framework 1s now 1n place and dehvenng 
a common approach to development of the product portfoho, 
for example, the development of E-X-Dnve• for the US Ground 
Combat Vehicle programme 

The portfoho 1s reviewed on an ongoing basis to address both 
performance issues and key focus areas Dunng the year 

the Group completed the disposal of the S&IS business and 
acquired Sensopncs Ltd to support development of the 
OptaSense• business, 

existing UK synthenctra1ning and simulation capab1l1t1es were 
brought together as one business w1th1n UK Services, 

a common US/UK cyber platform 1s under development to 
globahse the Group's cyber capab1ht1es 

Cultural transformation 
The world-class domain expernse and 1nnovanon of Q1net1Q's 
screntlsts and engineers, together with its deep customer 
relanonsh1ps m both the UK and US, provide the potennal for 
longer-term profltable growth Del1venng this requires the right 
leadership, measurement and processes to enable empowerment 
and accountability, as well as a more flexible and competltlve cost 
base The following steps were taken to achieve this 

more than 80% of the Group's executive team has been 
upgraded, as well as approxrmately half of senior management 
1n the UK and a third in the US New performance-related 
remuneranon was introduced for the UK leadership team, 
to replace legacy terms and condttlons, 



US Services UK Services 
Air eng1neenng Aerospace operanons 

Engineering 
management 
Information services 
Mission solutJons/cyber 
Software and systems 
engineering 

Test and evaluation 
Trammg and s1mulanon 
Cyber securrty and C41SR 
Programme and 
procurement support 

Global Products 
Surv1vab1hty 
Unmanned systems 
Energy from waste 
Veh 1cle power 
management 
OptaSense• 

common business review processes have been implemented 
across the Group to ensure transparency and the ab1l1ty to 
manage outcomes and react quickly, 

two programmes- My Contnbunon and Fit 4 Growth - have 
been introduced Together, these engage all employees m raising 
performance and provide a single end-to-end process, from bid 
to project delivery, dnvmg ongoing improvements in productivity 
and value delivered to customers, 

1n the UK, a more commercial way of working was needed to 
improve performance Sales leadership was upgraded, new 
incentive plans introduced and over 3,000 employees trained 
rn value-based selling, negotlatlon and project delivery During 
the year, the business saw a 9% improvement in MOD customer 
satisfaction scores, white a recent employee survey showed 
higher engagement levels and a 14% nse 1n the leadership 
score since 2009, 

changes to UK employee terms and cond1tlons, mcludrng revised 
redundancy arrangements, came into effect on 1 July 2010 after 
a 75% favourable vote by union members The combination 
of rntroducmg a new performance management system, 
restructuring the UK businesses and ratlonahsing the technology 
portfoho, resulted m a 15% reduction in UK headcount, a 
reducnon m layers of management and 1n overhead costs, and 
addressed areas of systemic under-ut1l1sat1on with m1n1mal loss 
of key capability Further reductions to the UK cost base have 
been ach1eved through structured procurement of goods and 
services -1nclud1ng IT and fac1l1tles management- and the 
streamlrn1ng of UK suppliers 

Balance sheet 
A key goal for the 24 month programme was to restore 
QrnetlQ's balance sheet to strength through self-help S1gn1flcant 
improvement was made 1n the first 12 months 

rrgorous Group-wide processes and the engagement of 
employees at all levels drove strong underlying operanng cash 
conversion of 183% (2010 145%), 

the Group's net debt at 31 March 2011 improved to £260 9m 
(31 March 2010 £457 4m), 

the gearing ratio was reduced to 1 4x net debt EBITDA' 
(31 March 2010 2 Sx), 

1n February 2011, the Group signed a new five-year revolving 
credit fac1hty, totalhng £275m denominated 1n sterhng and 
dollars, which 1s currently undrawn, 

• 1n May 2011, the US$135m prrvate placement note, due to 
mature rn 2013, was repaid from surplus cash 

As a result of these actions, the Group has no debt maturrty untll 
2016, providing a strong foundation to fund future growth 

Ongoing priorities 
Over the next 12 months, the Group's key goal 1s to complete its 
24 month programme to build a leaner, more agile Q1net1Q, focused 
on - and competitive m - its areas of core capab1lrty The 1n1t1at1ves 
which are transforming the Group's culture and processes must 
be sustained and embedded Improvements 1n productivity will 
be extended, as will the dnve to strengthen the balance sheet 
The portfolro will continue to be aligned with custorners' needs, 
both through non-core disposals and by funding carefully selected 
areas tn which Q1net1Q has a clearly estabhshed position and, 
therefore, a base for value creation over the medium term 

Leo Quinn 
Chief Executive Officer 

27May2011 

'The gearing rano 1s adjusted net debt to ED!TDAcalculated 1n accordance with the 
Group's credit fadhties 
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Busmess review 

Operations overview 

US Services 

Delivery of technical services 
in aerospace operations and 
systems, engineering and lifecycle 
management, information solutions, 
m1ss1on solutions, cyber and software 
and systems engineering. 

Revenues declmed by 7% on an organic basis at constant currency 
impacted by US Government 1n-sourcmg around last year end as 
well as the sw1tchmg of some work to small business preference 
contracts The protracted Conbnumg Resolution led to a further 
lack of clarity around contract funding This resulted 1n new and 
incremental orders being delayed and the cancellation of some 
re-competes with shorter term extensions awarded 1n their place 
Also, during the latter part of the year, the successful Iraqi flight 
tra1mng project completed 

In this envlfonment, bidding for ex1sbng services and larger 
programmes 1s very compebbve necessitating a higher investment 
1n business development This, coupled with the volume impact 
on revenue, contributed to underlying operating proht" falhng to 
£44 3m (2010 £52 6m), dehvenng an underlying margin of 7 5% 
(2010 8 4%) 

As part of the programme to exit non-core capab1hties, the sale 
was agreed of S&IS, an access control business, for a total cash 
consideration of US$60m before tax The year-on-year revenue 
variance as a result of this disposal was £16m 

• Definitions of underlylf18 measures of performance can be found In the glossary 
on page 107 

t The gearing ratio rs adjusted net debt EBITDAcalculated in accordance with the 
Group scred1t faahty ratios 
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US Services 

Orders 

Revenue 

Underlying operating proht" 

Underlying operating margin' 

2011 
£m 

5611 

588.2 

443 

75% 

2010 
£m 

5776 

628 0 

52 6 

84% 

The strength of ongoing relationships with key customers was 
evidenced by an award to provide engmeenng services at the 
Kennedy Space Center m Florida, ll?lleragmg existing NASA support 
contracts at the site, as well as at the Glenn Research Center 1n 
Ohio and the Goddard Spaceflight Center m Maryland The new 
service at the Kennedy Space Center began on 1 March 2011 for 
an expected base period of five years with three one-year options 

During the year, the US Services business was awarded seven new 
contracts for m1ss1on-critical services by key rntelhgence customers 
totalling US$2Sm Bu1ld1ng on its track record 1n providing training 
services to the US Army, Manne Corps, Navy and Joint communities, 
US Services was also awarded a hve-year, US$36m contract to 
provide a full range of trammg development and delJVery services 
to the Tactical C2 Eng1neenng Div1s1on by the US Navy's Space and 
Naval Warfare System Center Atlantic (SSC-A) 

As competition 1ntens1fies, the dec1s1on to create a fully 
integrated US Services business will reduce duphcated overhead 
and dehver further efficiency savings, 1mprov1ng the d1v1s1on's 
ab1l1ty to compete effectively S1gn1ficant progress has also been 
made tn developing a common US/UK cyber platform to exploit 
opportunities- principally 1n 'hve eyes' markets (UK, US, Canada, 
Austraha, New Zealand)-generated by government commitments 
to additional cyber security funding 

Ma><1m1s1ng operational and business effectiveness 
Identifying m1ss1on-cntlcal factors, and controlling assets 

Our Command, Control, Commumcahons, Computers, Intelligence, 
Surveillance and Reconnaissance {C415R) teams offer world-leading 
experhse, techmcal advice and practical end-to-end solutions 
Our services resolve the most complex issues m the mtelhgence, 
command and control (C2) and 1nformahon domarns They manage 
1nformahon gathered from different sources on the battlefield to 
improve a commander's s1tuahonal awareness and dec1s1on-makmg 



A Global Challenge - cyber intelligence, solutions and services 
A situational awareness approach 
Our track record m the field of security 
positions QmetJQ to develop a comprehensive 
assessment of the threats an organisation or 
business faces m cyberspace 

Our technology-neutral approach leads to 
solunons that meet a customer's specific 
challenges We have global experience 
to design 1nd1v1dual security plans and the 
ability to implement them Our mtell1gence­
led approach to security addresses the full 
scope of today's risks, including the evolving 
demands of cyberspace 

From threats to fac1ilt1es, enterprise 
infrastructure, malware, identity theft, 
ph1sh1ng and loss of intellectual property, 
we cover the entire spectrum of cyber nsks 
Our excellent record m the prov1s1on of virtual 
and on-site managed security services for 
Critical National Infrastructures, governments 
and commercial companies all around the 
world, makes QmetJQ a globa I asset for 
cybersecunty 
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Business review 
Operations overview continued 

UK Services 

Provision of technical services 1n 
aerospace engineering, test and 
evaluation, training and simulation, 
cyber security, information and 
intelligence and procurement 
consultancy. 

Revenues declrned 10% on an organic basis, principally due to 
pressure on customers' budgets and delays 1n spending approvals 
Budget uncertainties had the greatest impact on the prov1s1on of 
technical and information services, where manpower utll1satlon has 
a direct correlation with profltab1l1ty In addition, the pnor period 
included some pass-through revenues on certain contracts which 
dtd not recur this year and a contribution from the Underwater 
Systems business sold 1n 2009 Orders 1n the comparator period 
were also enhanced by approximately £40m of multi-year orders 
and a £31m contract associated with the Ministry of Defence's 
Defence Training Ranonahsanon (DTR) programme 

Underlying operating profit" declined from £59 lm to £48 7m, 
principally due to falling revenue and hence unl1sanon, although 
project margins remained strong This was exacerbated by the 
combined impact of approximately £Sm m respect of higher 
pension service costs and reduced property income following a 
major tenant vacating premises last year The underlying margin" 
for the full year was 8 0% (2010 8 5%), an rmprovement on the 
first half margrn of 7 3% as cost reducnons began to take effect 
Headcount was reduced by 662 1n the year, largely as a result 
of the restructuring programme 

Oefirnnons of underlymgmeasures of performance can be found 1n the glossary 
on page 107 
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2011 2010 
UK Services £m fm 

Orders 1 3716 4938 

Revenue 6116 6939 

Underlying operating profit" 487 591 

Underlying operating margin 80% 8 5% 
1 Orders exdudes remalnfng£3 9bn (31March2010 £4 lbn) In respect ofLTPAcontract. 

UK Services continues to dehver value to its customers, de-nsk1ng 
the procurement of technology for core defence programmes, 
predominantly 1n the UK but 1ncreas1ngly overseas New 
opportunities came to fruition in Scand1nav1a, including a £9m 
managed services contract to operate the flight physiological 
centre for the Swedish defence adm1n1stranon and a £4m order 
for the Norwegian Andaya Range System The year also saw an 
increase 1n funding for the Weapons Technology Centre, managed 
by Q1net1Q 1n support of the future pipeline of complex weapons 
At the end of the period UK Services won a fllm contract to 
provide technical and mformanon services for a national pohce unit 

In response to customers' requirements to reduce the cost of 
tra1n1ng, existing UK synthenctrammg and simulation capab1htles 
have been brought together as one business This will enable the 
leveraging of Q1nenQ's unique, technology-agnostic position to 
deliver operanonal and m1ss1on tram mg for force preparation 
using Commerctal-Off-The-Shelf (COTS) technology Reducnons 
1n government and agency size also provrde an opportunity 
for Q1nenQ, as a trusted advisor, to dehver acqu1s1non and 
procurement support 

Air worthiness, safety assurance, test and evaluation certainty 
Independent technical expertise 

QinetJQ provides a turn-key capab1hty to design, simulate, mstrument, 
certlhcate, and evaluate aircraft and equipment, assurmg safety and 
effechveness for a broad cross-section of government and private sector 
customers Our experts provide test and evaluation, log1stlcs and 
management, and research and development support as well as 
aerospace engineering expertise 



Providing off-the-shelf capability to address 
training challenges 
Technology-agnostic, trusted and transformational 
The military 1s faced with ever more complex 
operational situations Against this backdrop, 
QmetiQ 1s offering a new approach to the 
use of synthetics to make train mg more agile, 
more up-to-date, more relevant, more cost 
effective and more accessible 

We already lead 1n the design and delivery 
of open architecture, enabling customers 
to select the most effective combinations 
of software and hardware m a 'Plug and 
Play' approach to synthetics- or to select 
a bespoke solution 1f needed Our unique 
sk1llset 1s capable of delivering a much wider 
range of m1ss1on training solutions across 
the simulation spectrum, from application 
for hand-held devices at one end to full 
m1ss1on simulations at the other 

Our competitive advantage hes in our deep 
domain knowledge, our close working 
relationship with the military, our research 
into the technologies available, and our 
understand mg of customer needs 

QinetiQ's teams are, therefore, drawn from a 
wide range of d1sc1plines, including specialists 
m training, simulation, modelling, software 
engineering and design, systems integration, 
and human factors 
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Business review 
Operations overview continued 

Global Products 

Focuses on the exploitation of 
intellectual property through the rapid 
development of concepts into proven 
products and solutions, complemented 
by contract-funded research and 
development to support the creation 
of the next generation of products for 
the international market. 

Revenues were £S02 Sm (2010 £303 Sm), a 66% organrc increase 
at constant currency This includes a US$288m contnbutlon from 
the new Q-NET vehicle surv1vab1hty product and illustrates the 
lumpy profile of the Global Products revenue Q-NET dellvenes 
dunng the year were primarily for the MRAP Lite vehicle- although 
rn1t1al orders were also received for Navistar Maxxpro and the 
Stryker vehicle- and demonstrate the ab1hty of the business 
to develop and deploy a technology in a tlmeframe that meets 
customers' demands Contributions also came from TALON™ robots 
and Shoulder-Worn Acoustic Targeting System (SWATS) 1nd1v1dual 
gunfire detection systems, with contract awards cont1nu1ng 1n 
support of current operations, despite wider budgetary pressures 
and the Continuing Resolution 

Underlying operanng profit• rncreased to £52 4m (2010 £8 6m) 
and an underlying margrn• of 10 4% (2010 2 8%), with a s1gn1ficant 
contnbunon from the volume of Q-NET dehvenes more than 
offsetting a d1sappo1nt1ng performance rn the UK 

In the UK, the trading environment was impacted by further 
contract delays and cancellanons from the MOD Dunng the 
year, the UK business was reorganised, changes were made 
to the leadership team and management layers were removed 
Total UK headcount was reduced by 346, largely as a result of the 
restructuring programme, and a business that lacked customer 
demand and funding was closed 

"'Oeflrnttons of underlying measures of performance can be found In the glossary 
on page 107 
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Global Products 

Orders 

Revenue 

Underlying operating prohf 

Underlying operanng margin· 

2011 
£m 

6270 

502 8 

52 4 

104% 

2010 
£m 

3296 

303 5 

86 

28% 

The OptaSense• fibre-optic sensing business continues to make 
strong progress m the energy sector with a three-year, £26 Sm 
contract with Shell Follow-on orders for security and cond1t1on 
mon1tonng included a project for Cairn Energy PLC to protect 
the 700km Mangala development p1pehne 1n India In December 
2010, the acqu1s1non of SensoptJcs Ltd was completed for an 1n1tJal 
cons1deranon of £2 3m, net of cash acqu1red Sensoptlcs designs 
and manufactures the hbre-optlc sensing hardware used 
by OptaSense• 

Towards the end of the penod, the UK business received a £12m 
contract from Force Protecnon Europe to design, opnm1se and 
supply the modular armour kits for the Light Protected Patrol 
Vehicle (LPPY) 

A new Global Products framework has been put 1n place enabling 
a common approach to developing and markenng the product 
portfolio, focused on businesses with growth strategies The 
development of EX-Drive•, as part of a consortium brddrng into 
the US Ground Combat Vehicle programme, 1s an early example 
of this approach 

Meeting the highest military standards for equipment 
Lrfesav1ng equipment making a difference 

Ground forces in operational urban and rural environments are 
faced with continuous threat Having s1tuat1onal awareness capab1hnes 
and surv1vab1hty products, which enables them to operate in extreme 
s1tuatlons, 1s a pnonty QmetlQ developed SWATS 1n response to concerns 
about the high toll ofsrnper fire on m1l1tary forces 

The US Army and the US Manne Corps have selected SWATS as their 
individual gunfire detection system of choice It 1s quickly becoming the 
global standard for wearable gun shot detection Weighing less than one 
pound, 1t 1s a versa Ille solution for combat troops around the world 



Applying technology to new market applications 
Using distributed fibre sensing to provide value enhancing 
information to multiple industries 
Distributed fibre sensing is enabling our 
customers to monitor their strategic assets 
cost effectively and, in some cases, 
to measure the unmeasurable 

Our OptaSense" business 1s leading 
commercial change in multiple industries 
through the application of distributed fibre 
sensing (DxS) to gather information from 
large or complex linear assets At the heart 
of its success 1s its ability to convert existing 
fibre optic assets into thousands of sensors 
and then to apply advanced signal processing 
algorithms to disseminate the data m real 
time This dual approach enables customers 
to leverage an existing fibre asset and receive 
important and timely information This, in 
turn, enables them to make value-enhancing 
business dec1s1ons, whether these are to 
change a well completions process or 
to dispatch security to prevent theft from 
an 011 pipeline 

OptaSense" delivers value in a range of 
markets, from the 011 and gas industry, through 
defence and security, to transport and many 
others These markets require a truly global 
business focus During this year, OptaSense" 
opened offices in Houston and Calgary, 
and delivered projects in new geographies, 
including India and Nigeria among others 
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Business review 

Chief Financial 
Officer's review 

Group results overview 

Revenue 

US Services 

UK Services 

Global Products 

Total 

Group revenues increased by £87 3m (5%) organically, excluding 
a £19 7m beneht from the strengthening of the US dollar 
exchange rate and the impact of £29 Sm 1n revenue contnbutlon 
from divested businesses 

Global Products revenue increased by £199 3m (66%) largely as 
a result of the considerable demand for the new Q-NET product, 
whilst demand for the robot family of products remained strong 
Both of these products are supporting operations 1n Afghanistan 

Both UK and US services businesses suffered from pressures 
on government spending In the UK, governmental customers' 
spending approvals have slowed due to the uncertainty around 
pnontles and budget levels The drop m revenue within the US 
Services bus mess reflects the volumes of government in-sourcing 
around the previous year end, exacerbated by the Continuing 
Resolution being m effect for much of the period 

Deflrntlons of underlying measures of performanc.e are In the glossary on page 107 
Underlying financial measures are presented as the Board belleves these provide 
a better representation of the Groups long-term performance trend 
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The excellent cash flow across the Group m 
the year has significantly strengthened the 
balance sheet. 
David Mellors, Chief Financial Officer 

2011 2010 
£m Em 

588 2 628 0 

6116 693 9 

502 8 303 5 

1,702 6 1,625 4 



Group summary 

Revenue (£m) 

Organic change at constant currency 

Underlying operanng profit" (£m) 

Underlying operating margin· 

Underlying proht before tax· (£m) 

Net finance expense (£m) 

Underlying effective tax rate 

Basic earnings per share 

Underlying earnings per share 

D1v1dend per share 

Underlying net cash from operations (post capex) (fm) 

Underlying operating cash conversion 

Net debt (fm) 

Net debt EBITDA 

Average USS/£ exchange rate 

Closing USS/£ exchange rate 

Underlying operating profit" 

Underlying operating proht 

US Services 

UK Services 

Global Products 

Total 

The increase m underlying operating profit" reflects the 
increased demand for the Q-NET product which more than 
offset a d1sappo1nt1ng result from the UK w1th1n the Global 
Products business 

The UK Services underlying operatlng margin· decreased to S 0% 
(2010 SS%) and the US Services underlying operating margin fell 
to 7 5% (2010 S 4%) The reduction in underlying operanng profit' 
and underlying operating profit margrn· w1th1n both UK and US 
services businesses reflects the revenue volume impacts 
mentioned above as well as increased pension service costs 
and decreased rental income in the UK, and investment 1n 
business development 1n the US Cost savings 1n the UK have 
contnbuted to the margin increasing 1n the second hatf of 
the year (Hl UK Services margrn 7 3%) 

The increase rn underlying operating margin· from 7 4% to S 5% 
1s a result of the hrgher mix of revenues from product sales 

2011 2010 

1,702 6 1,625 4 

5% (3)% 

145 4 120 3 

85% 74% 

114 6 85 7 

308 34 6 

190% 150% 

0 Sp (97)p 

14 2p 11 lp 

160p 158p 

265 8 174 3 

183% 145% 

260 9 457 4 

14x 2 5x 

1 56 159 

1 60 152 

2011 2010 
£m Em 

44 3 52 6 

48 7 591 

52 4 86 

145 4 120 3 

Finance costs 
Net finance costs reduced to £30 Sm (2010 £34 Gm) A component 
of this decrease was the net pension finance credit of £9 lm 
(2010 cost of £2 Sm) from the improvement m open1ng market 
value of scheme assets outweighing the negative impact of a 
lower discount rate applied to scheme l1ab1l1nes A lower level 
of debt also contributed to the reduction 1n net finance costs 
These impacts were partially offset by accelerated interest costs 
of £S Sm resulting from the election to make early repayment of 
a US$13Sm private placement debt The early repayment 
was concluded dunng May 2011 

Taxation 
The Group's underlying effective tax rate was 19 0% (2010 15 0%) 
The increase was due primarily to the additional US profits earned 
on sales of Q-NET surv1Vab1lity products The Group continues 
to benefit from the ava1lab1hty of research and development 
relief m the UK 
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Business review 
Chief Financial Officer's review continued 

Acqu1s1tion amortisation and specific non-recurring items 
The performance of the Group after allowing for non-recurnng 
events and amortisation of acquired 1ntang1ble assets 1s 
shown below 

2011 2010 
£m £m 

Underlying profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 92 8 728 

UK restructuring 

Pension curtailment gam 

Contingent payments on acqu1s1tion treated as remuneration 

(33 5) 

49 

(6 1) 

(441) 

20 

Net inventory wrrte-offs 1n respect of cap1tahsed DTR-programme bid costs 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

(23 8) 

(5 9) (24 O) 

Amortisation of mtang1ble assets arising from acqu1s1tions 

Impairment of mtang1ble assets 

Gamon business combinations and divestments 

Unrealised 1mpa1rment of investments 

Tax impact of items above 

(26 3) 

27 

02 

(261) 

(534) 

51 

(113) 

15 7 

Proflt/(loss) for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company so (63 3) 

The resulting statutory proht after tax was £5 Om 
(2010 loss of £63 3m) 

The UK restructunng costs of £33 Sm (2010 £44 lm) relate to 
headcount reductions announced 1n July and August 2010 The 
majority of the cash outflow associated with this charge occurred 
m the second half of the year The restructuring formed part of the 
programme to restore Q1netiQ to strength by ensuring the Group 
has a competitive cost base, appropriately sized for the market 
A pension curtailment gam of £4 9m (2010 £2 Om) arose as a 
consequence of the restructuring 

'The geanrl8 ratkl is adjusted net debt EBITDA calculated 1n accordance with the Group's 
credit fadllty ratios.. 
Definitions of underlying measures of performance are In the glossary on page 107 
Underlying flnanc1al measures are presented as the Board believes these prcwlde 
a better representation of the Group slong-term performance trend 
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The contingent acqu1s1tion payments of £6 lm and the gain 
1n respect of negative goodwill of £0 2m relate to the acqu1s1tion 
of Sensoptics The discounted fair value of the contingent 
purchase pnce was treated as remuneration 1n accordance 
with IFRS 3 (revised) 

On 19 October 2010 the UK MOD terminated the Defence 
Training Rationalisation (DTR) programme for which Q1netiQ 
was preferred brdder as a 50/50 equity partner 1n the Metnx JO Int 
venture £23 8m has been written off previously cap1tahsed bid 
costs w1th1n non-recurring items' 



A charge of £5 9m (2010 £24 Om) was taken 1n the year against 
the Group's owned properties and 1mpa1rment of assets These 
properties are no longer occupred and as no external tenant has 
been found the assets are no longer generating a return 

The gain on business divestments 1n the year relates to the disposal 
of S&IS, a non-core securrty operations and access control business, 
w1thm QinetlQ's US Serv1ees operation 

Earnings per share 
Underlying earnings per share was 14 2p compared with 11 lp 
for the year ended 31 March 2010 Basrc earnings per share 
increased to O Bp (2010 (9 7p)) 

D1v1dend 
The Group did not pay an 1ntenm dividend for the year and the 
Board is recommending a final d1v1dend of 1 60p per share 
The record date for the final d1v1dend will be S August 2011 
Subject to approval at the Annual General MeetJng, the final 
d1v1dend will be paid on 2 September 2011 to shareholders 
on the register at 5 August 2011 

Other hnanc1als 
Cash flow 
The Group's cash flow from operations before restructunng 
costs but after capital expenditure was £265 Sm (2010 £174 3m) 
The underlying operatJng cash conversion ratio" was 183% (2010 
145%), as a result of relentless focus on cash generation, assisted 
by deferred contract capital spend 1n the UK Services business 
The cash outflow 1n the year on restructuring the UK business 
was £31 Bm (2010 £35 4m) 

Acqu1s1Uon expenditure, net of cash acquired, tot a\ led £15 Sm 
(2010 £45 6m), £2 3m of which was due to the acqu1s1t1on of 
Sensopncs Ltd m December 2010 and the remainder was deferred 
consideration 1n respect of DTRI, acquired 1n a pnor year Proceeds 
received from the disposal of businesses totalled £38 2m 
(2010 £21 lm), largely from disposal of the S&IS business 

At 31 March 2011, net debt reduced substantlalty to £260 9m 
compared with £457 4m at 31March2010 

The Group's borrowings remained comfortably w1thrn its 
financial covenants, with a geanng ranot of 1 4x compared to 
the covenant maximum level of 3 5x, a s1gn1ficant improvement 
from 2 Sx last year 

The Group refinanced its existing credit fac1hty with a new 
five-year revolving credit fac1hty provided by the Group's six global 
relanonsh1p banks The new muln-currency fac1hty, which matures 
m February 2016, includes a £118m tranche and a US$250m 
tranche and was undrawn at 31 March 2011 The Group's cash 
performance also allowed 1t to make early repayment of a US$13Sm 
private placement debt, whrch was repaid during May 2011 from 
surplus cash 

Net finance costs were impacted by an accelerated interest 
payment of £8 Sm related to the early repayment of the 2013 
private placement debt 

Total committed fac1htJes available to the Group at year end 
amounted to £625m Following the early repayment of the 
US$135m private placement debt 1n May 2011, total committed 
fac111nes amount to £540m, with no maturity before 2016 
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Business review 
Chief Fmanc1al Officer's revrew continued 

Pensions 
The net pension deficit under IAS 19, after deducting deferred tax, 
was £92 2m (2010 £106 lm) The decrease rn net pension deficit 1s 
pnmanly dnven by the increase rn market value of scheme assets, 
partially offset by the input of assumed increase 1n life expectancy 

The key assumptions used in the IAS 19 valuatlon of the scheme are 

Assumption 

D1scount rate 

Inflation 

Salary increase 

life expectancy- male (currently aged 40) 

life expectancy-female (currently aged 40) 

Each assumption 1s selected by the Group in consultation with the 
Company actuary and takes account of industry practice amongst 
comparator listed companies The sens1t1v1ty of each of the key 
assumptions 1s shown rn the table below 

Assumption 

Discount rate 

Inflation 

Salary increase 

life expectancy 

The market value of the assets at 31 March 2011 was £981 lm 
(31 March 2010 £915 9m) and the present value of scheme 
l1abrl1t1es was £1,105 7m (31March2010 £1,063 2m) 

The rnvestment pnnc1ples of the QmetJQ Pension Scheme were 
revised dunng the year by the trustees, m consultation with QrnetJQ 
A shift from the h1stoncal weighting towards equity investments, 
to a more balanced portfoho, was considered appropriate by the 
trustees to reflect the relative age of the scheme and changes to 
the membership profile The next triennial full actuarial valuation 
of the Q1net1Q pension scheme rs due to be undertaken as at 
30 June 2011 

Capital risk 
The Group funds its operations through a mixture of equity 
fundrng and debt flnancrng, tndudrng bank and capital market 
borrowrngs At 31 March 2011 the Group's total equity was £457 Sm 
(2010 £473 7m) Net debt as defined by the Group was £260 9m 
(2010 £457 4m) 

The capital structure of the Group reflects the Judgement of the 
Directors of an appropriate balance offundrng required The 
Group's target 1s to maintain its gearing ratio below 2xEBITDA 

Deflmtlonsof underlying measures of performance are 1n the glossary on page 107 
Underlying fmanc1al measures are presented as the Board bell eves these provide 
a better representation of the Group's long term performance trend 
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Change in 
assumption 

Increase/decrease byO 1% 

Increase/decrease byO 1% 

Increase/decrease byO 1% 

Increase by one year 

Treasury policy 

31 March 31 March 
2011 2010 

56% 56% 

36% 36% 

46% 46% 

90 89 

91 90 

Indicative effect on scheme 
1Jab11ltles (before deferred tax) 

Decrease/increase by £24m 

Increase/decrease by £25m 

Increase/decrease by £6m 

Increase by £22m 

The Group treasury department works w1thrn a framework of 
pol1c1es and procedures approved by the Audit Committee As part 
of these policies and procedures, there 1s strict control on the use of 
frnanc1al rnstruments Speculative trading 1n financial instruments 1s 
not permitted The pol1c1es are established to manage and control 
risk 1n the treasury environment and to ahgn the treasury goals, 
objectives and philosophy of the Group 

Funding and debt portfolio management 
The Group seeks to obtain certainty of access to funding 1n the 
amounts and matuntles required to support the Group's medium 
to long-term forecast financing requirements Group borrowings 
are arranged by the Group treasury function 

Interest nsk management 
The Group seeks to reduce the volat1l1ty 1n its interest charge 
caused by rate fluctuations A s1gnifrcant portion of the Group's 
borrowrngs are fixed tn the short to medium term through 
frxed-rate debt 



Foreign exchange risk management 
The pnnc1pal exchange rate affecting the Group was the sterling 
to US dollar exchange rate 

£/US$ - average rate 

£/USS -closing rate 

£/USS - open mg rate 

The Group's income and expenditure 1s largely settled 1n the 
functional currency of the relevant Group enhty, mainly sterling 
or US dollar The Group has a polrcy 1n place to hedge all material 
transaction exposure at the point of commitment to the underlyrng 
transaction Uncommitted future transactions are not routinely 
hedged The Group continues its practice of not hedging income 
statement translanon exposure To m1n1m1se the impact of currency 
deprectatlon of the net assets on its overseas subs1d1anes, the 
Group seeks to borrow m the currencies of those subs1d1anes, 
but only to the extent that its gearing covenant within its loan 
documentation, as well as its facility headroom, are likely to 
remain comfortably wrthm l1mrts 

Tax risk management 
The central pnnc1ple of Q1nenQ's tax strategy 1s to manage effecnve 
and cash tax rates whilst fully complying wrth relevant legislation 
Tax is managed 1n alignment with the corporate strategy and with 
regard to Qin en Q's core value of 1ntegnty 1n all business dealings 
These principles are applied 1n a responsible and transparent 
manner m pursuing the Group's tax strategy and 1n all dealrngs 
with tax authonnes around the world 

Credrtrlsk 
Credit nsk anses when a counterparty fails to perform its 
obllganons The Group 1s exposed to credit risk on financial 
instruments such as hqu1d assets, denvanve assets and trade 
receivables Credit risk 1s managed by 1nvestJng llqurd assets and 
acquiring denvanves from h1gh-cred1t quality financial 1nst1tunons 
Trade receivables are subject to credit hm1ts, control and approval 
procedures across the Group The nature of the Group's operations 
leads to concentrations of credit nsk on its trade receivables 
The majority of the Group's credit nsk 1s wrth the UK and US 
Governments and 1s therefore consrdered m1n1mal 

Insurance 
The Group connnually assesses the balance of risk arising from the 
operations undertaken against the insurance cover available for 
such activities and associated premiums payable for such cover 
A prudent and consistent approach to risk retention and scope of 
cover 1s applied across the Group The Group has a pohcy of self-
1nsurance, through its captive insurance company, on the first layer 
of specific nsks with insurance cover above these levels placed 1n 
the external market with third-party insurers 

Employees 

2011 

1 56 

160 

1 52 

2010 

159 

152 

1 44 

Year-end employee numbers have decreased by 14% to 11,208 
at 31 March 2011 The dechne pnmanly reflects normal in-year 
attrition as well as departures under the restructuring programme 
1n the UK and the impact of Government rn-sourc1ng and the 
disposal of S&IS 1n the US 

Accounting standards 
As a UK-hsted company, the Group 1s required to adopt EU 
endorsed IFRSs and comply with the Companies Act 2006 The 
effect of changes to financial reporting standards 1n the year and 
cnncal accounbng estimates and judgements are disclosed 1n note 
1 to the financial statements 

Critic.al accounbng estimates and judgements 1n applying 
accounting pohaes 
A description and consideration of the cnncal accounting estimates 
and Judgements made 1n preparing these financial statements 1s set 

o~ l'-lo'lth '"e"G~r~o"u'p"'ft~n~a~n~~:~')"'-
David Mellors 
Ch1efF1nanclal Ofhcer 
27May2011 
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Business review 

Key performance indicators 
The Group's strategy 1s underpinned by focusmg on a number of performance 1nd1cators The key md1cators that the 
Board u!Jhses to assess Group performance are set out below S1m1lar md1cators are used to review performance m 
each of the Group's busmesses 

Financial KPls 

Underlying EPS* (pence) 

Organic revenue growth (%) 

Underlying operating profit* (£m) 

Non-financial KPls 

Health and Safety (lost-time injury 
rate per 1,000 employees) 

Description 

The underlying earnings per share (EPS) 
expressed 1n pence per share 

Description 

The Group's organic revenue growth is 
calculated by taking the increase in 2011 
revenue over 2010 proforma revenue, at 
constant exchange rates 

Description 

The underlying earnings before interest 
and tax 

Underlying operating profit' for FY2009 has 
been restated to show the finance elements 
of the IAS 19 pensron cost 1n the finance 
income and expense lines There 1s no 
impact on reported proht before tax from 
this restatement 

Description 

The lost-nme 1n1ury rate 1s calculated using 
the total number of work related lost-time 
1nc1dents xl,000 divided by the average 
number of employees 1n that year The 
2009 figures exclude Australia 

Comment 

EPS provides shareholders with a measure 
of the earnmgs generated by the business 
after deducting tax and interest EPS 
performance also determines the level of 
payout for certain of the Group's long-term 
incentive plans 

Comment 

Organic revenue growth demonstrates 
the Group's capab1hty to expand its core 
operations w1th1n its chosen markets before 
the effect of acqu1s1tlons, disposals and 
currency translation impacts 

Comment 

Underlying operating profit 1s used by the 
Group for mternat performance analysis as 
a measure of operating profltab1hty that 1s 
tracked over time 

Comment 

Health and Safety performance 1s monitored 
to dnve continual improvement 1n 
m1n1m1smg the nsk to employees 

Defmlnons of underlying measures of performance are in the glossary on page 107 Underlying finanaal measures are presented, as the Board believes these provide a better 
representation of the Group's long term performance trend 

'The gearing ratio Is net debt to adjusted EBITDA and the defimtion 1s fn the glossary on page 107 
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Underlying operating margin• (%) 

Underlying operating 
cash conversion• (%) 

Geanng ratio' (x) 

Employee engagement score 
(UK only on a scale of G-1,000) 

Descnption 

The Group's calculation of underlying 
operating margin· 1s consistent with prior 
years Underlying operating margin 1s 
calculated by taking the earnings before 
tax and interest as a percentage of revenue 

Description 

The ratio of our net cash flow from 
operations (excludrng reorgan1sat1ons), 
less outflows on the purchase of 1ntang1ble 
assets, and property, plant and equipment 
to underlying operating profit' excluding the 
share of post-tax results of equity accounted 
Joint ventures and associates 

Description 

The Group's gearing ranot is calculated as 
net debt d1v1ded by EBITDA, as calculated m 

accordance wnh the terms of the Group's 
credit fac1ht1es, and 1s comfortably w1th1n 
our banking covenant hm1t of 3 Sx 

Description 

A measure of employee engagement 
on a scale of 0-1,000, based on the Best 
Companies Employee Survey Through 
this channel, Q1net1Q employees share 
their views of working at QmetlQ under 
the headings of management, leadership, 

my company, personal growth, my team, 
g1vmg back to the community, fair deal 
and well-being 

Comment 

Underlying operating margin· can be used 
to show the underlying profitab1hty of the 
revenues delivered by the Group It can 
also be used to compare the Group's 
performance with that of our peers, 
providing the definition of underlying 
operating profit 1s consistent 

Comment 

Provides a measure of the Group's ab1hty 
to generate cash from normal operations 
and gives an indication of its ab1hty to pay 
d1vrdends, service its debt and to make 
discretionary investments 

Comment 

Net debt to EBITDA provides a 
measure of the strength of the 
Group's balance sheet 

Comment 

The survey forms part of The Sunday Times 
Best Companies to Work For, an annual 
survey run rn The Sunday Times newspaper 
that ranks UK employers based on their 
employees' feedback and allows companson 
between Q1net1Q and other UK companies 
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Business review 

Risks and uncertainties 
The understanding and effective management of the risks that face QinetiQ is 
fundamental to its success and 1s an integral part of managing the business. 

The 1dentJficanon, assessment, mitigation and reporting of nsks 
are processes earned out at a Group, business and project level 
and are included as part of the business performance review 
process Risks are assessed according to the llkehhood of the 
event's occurrence and its impact, both from a flnanc1al and 
non-financial standpornt The Group Risk Register includes an 
analysis of the potential exposures and seventy of each nsk (as a 
function of the hkehhood and impact of the risk}, the assumptions 
underlying each nsk and the m1nganng actions required to 
manage the risk 

The Group Risk Register 1s reviewed by the Executive Team on 
a monthly basis and considers 

the authority, resources and coord1nanon of those involved 1n 
the 1dent1ficanon, assessment and management of s1gn1hcant 
risks faced by the organisation, 

the response to the s1gn1hcant nsks which have been 1dent1hed 
by management and others, 

the monitoring of reports from Group management, and 

the maintenance of a control environment directed towards the 
proper management of risk 

A change In demand 
from reduced mlhtary 
operations 1n Iraq 
and Afghanistan 

A change 1n either US 
or UK Government 
spending on defence 
and securrty 

The nsk register 1s reviewed by the Board and, 1n add1tlon, the nsk 
owners present an update of current status and minganng actions 
by rotation throughout the year 

Potential impact 

Current plans of both US and UK Governments 
are to reduce involvement m Afghanistan rn the 
com1ng years A s1gn1flcant shift 1n pohcy by either 
the Adm1n1stratJon 1n the US or the Government 
1n the UK, which results rn a s1gn1flcant reduction 
m the number of forces personnel present 1n Iraq 
and Afghanistan, may have a matenally adverse 
impact on the Group's flnanc1al performance 

The Strategic Defence and Secunty Review m the 
UK, and the financial burden on both UK and US 
Government budgets from the recent economic 
downturn, will lead to reduced spending m the 
markets in which the Group operates In particular 
the UK 1s reducrng its defence budget by 8% 1n 
real terms by FY2015 and, add1t1onally, seeking to 
remove s1gn1hcant over-heating 1n its equipment 
programme Any reduction m Government 
defence and security spending 1n either the UK 
or the US could have an adverse impact on the 
Group's financial performance 

M1tlgatJon 

Q1net1Q has capitalised on increased UK and US 
Government spending on technology 1n support 
of operations m Iraq and Afghanistan Notably, 
QmetlQ has experienced strong demand for 
Unmanned Ground Vehicles and surv1vab1llty 
products across the duration of both campaigns 
However, the focus on operational support 1n 
defence, on both sides of the Atlantic, has given 
rise to a dechne rn defence expenditure 1n other 
areas, such as services to improve procurement 
efficiency and innovative research The Group 
mitigates this by marnta1ning a market focus 
and compennve pos1t1on1ng rn ad1acent 
markets, 1nclud1ng defence services (wh1eh 
are not directly conf11ct-related), aerospace, 
security and 1ntell1gence, prov1d1ng a degree 
of portfolio d1vers1hcanon 

The Group 1s focused on a range of markets 1n 
defence, security and 1ntell1gence, prov1d1ng a 
degree of portfolio dtvers1hcatJon The Group will 
continue to review trends 1n defence, aerospace 
and secunty expenditure 1n order to ahgn the 
business with those trends The UK Government 1s 
investing an additional £650m 1n cyber capab1l1ty 
which offers some opportunity to the Group 
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Changing in the timing 
of contracts 

Funding of the defined 
benefit pension scheme 

Policies or attitudes 
may change towards 
Organisational Conflicts 
of Interest (OCI) 

Tax liab1hbes may 
change as a result 
of changes In tax 
leg1slabon 

F1xed-pnce contracts 

H1ghly-compennve 
marketplace 

Potential impact 

The amounts payable under some Government 
contracts can be s1gn1flcant and the nm mg of 
rece1v1ng orders could have a material impact 
on the Group's performance 1n a given 
repornng penod 

The Group operates a defined benefit pension 
scheme 1n the UK Presently there 1s a deficit 
between the projected habrhty of the scheme 
and the value of the assets held by the scheme 
The size of the deficit may be materially affected 
by a number of factors, 1nclud1ng 1nflanon, 
investment returns, changes m interest rates 
and improvements m hfe expectancy An increase 
1n the deficit may require the Group to increase 
the cash contnbunons to the scheme which 
would reduce the Group's available cash for 
other purposes 

The Group provides services to defence customers 
that meet their needs as part of the defence 

supply chain and also as technical advisor through 
its consultancy services The future growth of 
the business could be compromised should the 
current attitudes to pol1c1es adopted by our key 
customers change 

Q1net'IQ 1s hable to pay tax 1n the countnes 1n 
which 1t operates, principally 10 the UK and the US 
Changes 1n the tax leg1slat'lon 1n these countrres 
could have an adverse impact on the level of tax 
paid on the profits generated by the Group 

Some of the Group's revenue 1s derived from 
contracts which have a fixed pnce There 1s a rrsk 
that the costs required for delivery of a contract 
could be higher than those agreed 1n the contract 
due to the performance of new or developed 
products, operanonal overruns or external 
factors, such as inflation Any s1gmficant increase 
1n costs which cannot be passed on to a customer 
may reduce the profitability of a contract or even 
result rn a contract becoming loss-making 

The aerospace, defence and security markets 
overall are highly compennve The Group's 
financial performance may be adversely affected 

should 1t not be able to compete 1n the markets 
1n which 1t aims to operate 

Mitigation 

The contract and orders prpehne 1s regularly 
reviewed by senior operat'lonal management 

The performance of the pension scheme 1s 
reviewed regularly by Group management 1n 
conjuncnon with the scheme's independent 
trustees External actuarral and investment advice 
1s also taken on a regular basis to ensure that the 
scheme 1s managed 1n the best interests of both 
the Group and the scheme's members The most 
recent triennial funding vatuanon of the scheme, 
as at 30 June 2008, resulted m a deficit of 
£111 3m The Group and trustees have agreed a 
ten-year recovery penod to make up this deficit 
The next funding valuat'lon of the scheme 1s at 
30 June 2011 

The Group takes proacnve steps to manage any 
potennal OCI and to maintain its ab1hty to provide 
independent advice through its consulnng and 
systems engmeerrng acnv1nes In the UK, a formal 
compliance regime operates with the MOD to 
monitor and assess potennal OCI as part of the 
sales acceptance process 

External advrce and consultanon 1s sought on 
potennal changes 1n tax leg1slanon 1n both the 
UK and the US This enables us to plan for and 
m1ngate potennal changes 1n leg1slanon 

The nature of much of the services provided 
under such fixed-price arrangements 1s often 
for a defined amount of effort or resource rather 
than firm deliverables and, as such, the nsk of cost 
escalanon 1s mitigated The Group ensures that 
rts fixed-pnce bids and projects are reviewed for 
early detection and management of issues which 
may result 1n cost overrun 

Q1nenQseeks to focus on areas w1thm these markets 
10 wh1ch its deep customer understanding, domain 
knowledge, technical expernse and platform 
independence provrde a strong propos1t'lon and 
a s1gn1ftcant advantage m compennve b1dd1ng 
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Business review 
Risks and uncertamtres contrnued 

Risk 

Inherent risks from 
trading In a global 
marketplace 

A mat•rlal element 
of the Group's revenue 
and operating profit 
1s derived from 
one contract 

Failure to comply with 
laws and regulatlons, 
particularrv trading 
restrictions and 
export controls 

Failure of information 
technology systems 
and breaches of 
data secunty 

Potent:lal impact 

QinetrQ operates 1nternatronally The nsks 
associated with having a large geographical 
footprint may include regulatron and 
admm1stratron changes, changes in taxation 
pohcy, pohtrcal 1nstab1hty, c1v1J unrest, and cultural 
and terms of reference differences leadmg to lack 
of common understanding with customers Any 
such events could disrupt some of the Group's 
operations and have a material impact on the 
Group's future financial performance 

The Long-Term Partnering Agreement (LTPA) 
1s a 25-year contract to provide a variety of 
evaluatron, testrng and tra1nmg services to the 
MOD The orrg1nal contract was srgned 1n 2003 
The LTPA operates under five-year periods with 
specific programmes, targets and performance 
measures set for each period On 3 March 
2008, the Group signed up to a second five-year 
pertod of the LTPA with the MOD The first break 
point 1s 1n 2013 In the current year, the LTPA 
directly contributed 11% of the Group's revenue 
and supported a further 6% through tasking 
services using LTPA managed fac1l1tres The loss, 
cancellatron or term matron ofth1s contract would 
have a material, adverse impact on the Group's 
future reported performance 

The Group operates ma highly-regulated 
env1ronment and the maJonty of its revenues 
are generated from sales w1th1n the UK and the 
US The Group 1s sub1ect to numerous demesne 
and mternatronal laws, 1nclud1ng import and 
export controls, finane1al and fiscal laws, health 
and safety, environmental, money laundenng, 
antr-bnbery, etc Failure to comply with partrcular 
regulatrons could result 1n a combmatron of 
fines, penaltres, c1v1I or cnm1nal prosecutron, 
and suspension or debarment from Government 
contracts, as well as reputatronal damage 
to the QmetrQ brand Any one of these 
could have a matenal impact on the Group's 
flnane1al performance 

The Group operates 1n a highly-regulated 
1nformatron technology environment The data 
held by Q1netrQ 1s hrghly confidentral and needs 
to be totally secure A failure of systems could 
impact contract delivery leading to a loss 1n 
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M1t:lgat:lon 

Whrle the core actrvrtres of the Group are confined 
to the UK and the US, the Group continues to 
explore potentral chent relatronsh1ps across the 
globe These new relationships are assessed 
for thelf inherent nsks usmg our lnternatronal 
Business Opportunity Management process 
before bemg formally entered into 

The Group continues to achieve customer 
performance and satrsfactron levels, and 
s1gn1flcantly exceeded the agreed m1n1mum 
performance ratrng of 80% 1n 2010/2011 

The Group has procedures and, where 
appropnate, training tn place to ensure that 1t 
meets all current regulatrons local management 
continuously monrt:ors local laws and regulatrons, 
and policies are m place for the appointment 
of advisors to support business development 
Professronal advice 1s sought when engaging 1n 
new terntones to ensure that the Group complies 
with local and mternatronal regulatrons and 
requirements tn the US, the Group undertakes 
work that 1s deemed to be of importance to US 
natronal security, and arrangements are 1n place 
to insulate these actrv1tres from undue forergn 
influence as a result of foreign ownersh 1p The 
Group has procedures 1n place to ensure that 
these arrangements remain effectrve and to 
respond to any changes that mrght occur 1n US 
attitudes to foreign ownership of such actrv1tres 
The terms of reference of the Comphance 
Committee have been expanded to review the 
effectrveness of the compliance rrsk frameworks 

The rnformanon systems are designed with 
consideration to single points of failure and 
the removal of nsk through minor and ma1or 
system failures The business ma1nta1ns business 
continuity plans covering both geography e g sites 



Risk 

Failure of Information 
technology systems 
and breaches of 
data security 
continued 

Exchange rate 
movement 

Raising external 
funding and volatiUty 
1n interest rates 

Reahsabon of value 
from intellectual 
property may 
be delayed 

Acqu1s1tlon of 

businesses 

Potential impact 

customersansfacnon A breach of data security 
could impact our customer's operanons and 
have a s1gn1hcant reputanonal impact, as well as 
the poss1b1hty of exclusion from some types of 
Government contracts with a detrimental impact 
on the Group's financial performance 

The Group 1s exposed to volatility 1n exchange 
rates due to the tnternanonal nature of rts 
operations, this includes a translational impact 
on the key financial statements as a result of the 
Group reporting its financial results m sterling 
The Group has hm1ted transaction exposure as 
its revenues and related costs are often borne 
1n the same currency, pnnc1pally US dollars 
or sterling 

The Group rehes on the proper functioning of 
the credit markets which could have an impact 
on both the ava1lab1hty and associated costs of 
1inanc1ng The Group 1s exposed to interest rate 
nsk derived mainly from long-term indebtedness 
and related to borrowings which have been issued 
at floating interest rates 

The funded research and development work 
that the Group undertakes for defence and other 
customers creates intellectual property that the 
Group retains and can utlhsefor commercial 
apphcatlons The uncertainty that exists over new 
technologres and markets may result in delays, 
failure to reahse value from intellectual property, 
or the need for a higher level of investment for 
the opportunity to be realised The additional 
investment requirements may have to be funded 
from the Group's own capital resources wh1ch 
may have an adverse impact on the Group's 
financial performance 

The Group has the ab1l1ty to acquire other 
businesses and companies These acqu1s1t1ons 
may not perform 1n hne with expectations, 
thereby having a detrimental impact on the 
Group's financial performance 

Mitigation 

and business units as well as technical capability 
of staff These plans cover a range of scenarios 
which include loss of access to information 
technology systems The plans are tested at 
appropriate intervals Data security 1s assured 
through a multi-layered approach, providing a 
hardened environment 1nclud1ng robust physical 
security arrangements, data res1l1ence strategies 
the apphcatlon of security technologies as well as 
comprehensive internal and external testing of 
potential vulnerab1htles In addition the systems 
are monitored and managed on a 24x7 basis 

The Group actively hedges all s1gn1hcant 
transactional foreign exchange exposure as 
descnbed 1n the notes to the financial statements 
and has adopted hedge accounting The Group's 
objective 1s to reduce medium-term volatlhty to 
cash flow, margins and earnings The Group 
protects its balance sheets and reserves from 
adverse foreign exchange movements by financing 
acqu1s1tlons m North America with US dollar­
denommated borrowings, partially mitigating the 
risk as US dollar earnings are used to servrce and 
repay US dollar-denominated debt 

The Group maintains a prudent level of committed 
funding fac1htles a new hve-year multi-currency 
fac1l1ty totalling £275m was srgned 1n February 
2011 provided by its relationshrp banks The 
Group also uses hxed-rate debt instruments 
issued to US private placement investors with 
maturity dates up to 2019 

The Group invests in the development of 
intellectual property only where 1t belreves 
there 1s a realistic market opportunity for the 
technology The performance of intellectual 
property realisation programmes 1s monitored 
to increase support for successful prospects and 
reduce expenditure where realisation appears 
less likely The Group uses external experts 
and financial backers as partners 1n a variety of 
structures to enhance the performance of certain 
intellectual property reahsatlon projects 

The nsks are mitigated through the due d1hgence 
and internal approvals processes In addition, the 
usual contractual protections are included 1n the 
purchase agreements srgned with the vendors 
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Business review 

Corporate responsibility review 

Performance overview 

Progress 1n the year 
./ ISO 14001 for UK sites maintained, following audits 

./ 7% reducnon 1n C02 emissions achieved in the UK 

./ UK waste recycling at 72% 

./ Progress on delivery of UK conservanon management plans 

./ Achieved MOD sustainable procurement target 

./ UK RIDDOR" rates reduced (169, down from 3 69) 

./ Acnon plans put 1n place followrng employee 
engagement survey 

Future goals 
Reducnon m reportable UK 1nc1dents to zero by 2014 

10% reducnon in UK carbon em1ss1ons by 2012 

Attainment of ISO 18001 in the UK by 2013 

Connnueto improve waste management 1n the UK 

Connnue to work proacnvely with customers and suppliers 
on sustainable procurement issues 

Use of the employee engagement survey to 
make improvements 

A responsible and sustainable business 
Leadership and management 
With a wide network of domain experts across the UK, Australia and 
the US, corporate respons1b1!1ty (CR) 1s embedded 1n the business, 
overseen by the Head of CR The CR Committee, compns1ng the 
QinenQ Execunve Team, connnues to review and support the CR 
strategy and pro1ects 

The Group Business Ethics Polley provides a framework for how 
the Group operates However, regional differences m stakeholder 
requirements and law, require pnonnes to be fine-tuned locally 
QinenQ responds promptly to changing leg1slanon by adapnng local 
pohc1es, such as health and safety, environment, business ethics 
and equahty 

Business ethics 
Progress on the Business Ethics programme 1s now reported 
quarterly to the Compliance Committee The Group 1s committed 
to the highest standards of ethical conduct and, 1n the forthcoming 
year, a Group-wide Code of Conduct will replace separate UK and 
US documents All employees are required to complete regular 
training in business ethics More in-depth tra1n1ng 1s provided for 
employees who are involved 1n 1nternanonal business Q1nenQ 
engages with third parnes, such as TRACE to conduct due d1hgence 
associated with engaging representanves overseas All employees 
have access to an independent wh1stle-blow1ng line 

RIOOOR (Reporting oflniuries Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995) 
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Sustainable procurement 
An important part of developing a sustainable and responsible 
business 1s managing how and what we buy to ensure best value 
for money, taking into account environmental and soc10-econom1c 
issues In the UK, Q1nenQ 1s a signatory to the MO D's Sustainable 
Procurement Charter and an acnve member of the MOD-Industry 
Sustainable Procurement Working Group QmenQ has been acnve 
1n raising employee awareness of sustainable procurement through 
trarn1ng, employee campaigns and leadership team briefings and 
through the corporate 1nducnon for UK employees 

Engaging our people 
Employee communications 
Our people play a crucial role m enabhngthe Group to achieve 
its goals, parncularly m real1s1ng the s1gn1flcant change embarked 
upon w1th1n the Group Engaging employees begins with keeping 
our people informed, through a range of channels The UK Q1nenQ 
Employee Forum connnues to provide a way by which employee 
engagement 1s enhanced The 'My Contnbunon' programme g1Ves 
employees a forum to voice ideas for business improvements and 
convert them quickly into projects that benefit the Company's 
bottom hne 

Once again the UK and Austrahan business took part 1n the Best 
Companies Survey, g1v1ng employees an opportunity to share 
their views on working 1n Q1nenQ A 77 5% response rate was 
achieved alongw1th a higher score than in 2010 Employee 
engagement has been a key part of Q1net1Q North America's 
(QNA) programme of bnng1ng many separate companies together 
into one business and an engagement survey 1s also undertaken 

People development 
The Group 1s an equal opportunines employer, upholds the 
principles of the UK Employment Service's 'Two Ticks' symbol 
and 1s accredited by Investors in People 

Q1nenQ connnues to support the development and employab1l1ty 
of our people, from apprennces and graduates to our current 
and future leaders The Personal Success Plan (PSP), Q1nenQ's 
performance management process, was introduced last year 
1n the UK and Australia and has been successfully rolled out 
and embedded It 1s a key mechanism for the 1dennficanon of top 
talent, as well as addressing any employee performance issues 

Employee wellbeing 
UK and Australian employees have access to an Employee Wellbeing 
Programme prov1d1ng 1nformanon and support on financial, legal 
and family matters and counselling UK employees also have 
a benefits package through 'QinenQ Currency' ONA provides 
an excellent package of healthcare benefits for employees, an 
Employee Assistance Programme and a purchase discount scheme 



Safe and sustainable delivery 
Safety 1s a priority of the business A review of our UK Health, Safety 

and Environment (HS&E) prov1s1on during 2010 h1ghl1ghted the 

need to further develop our HS&E and Assurance management to 

improve leadership and focus In August 2010, a Director of HS&E 

was appointed and two lead roles for occupational safety and for 

environment and sustainab1l1ty were created They head up a new 

and 1nv1gorated HS&E function aligned with the business and with 

a strategy focused on developing a strong HS&E and Assurance 

culture and competencies 

Group health 
and safety data 2007 

UK' n/a 
QNA1 n/a 
Austraha1 n/a 
Q1nenQ Group1 n/a 
'Lostnme Incidents per 1 OOOemployees 
1 Total for ONA and UK only 

Environmental focus 
UK carbon management 

2008 2009 2010 2011 

7 61 4 66 5 32 4 73 

1 57 1 09 212 185 

n/a n/a 3 88 3 95 

5 072 3 00' 3 78 3 28 

The UK Carbon Management Group promotes energy efficiency 

and awareness, sets strategy and plans and monitors targets It 1s 

supported by a new network of Energy Champions across UK sites, 

and the low-carbon message 1s reinforced during 'Environment 

Week', the annual employee awareness campaign We report 

annually to the Carbon Disclosure Project and will be parnc1panng 

in the UK Government's Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy 

Efflcrency Scheme Gaining the Carbon Trust Standard demonstrates 
our commitment to energy efficiency 

UK carbon 
management data 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 

UK gas use (GWH) 69 6 68 6 66 8 64 7 63 0 

UK 011 use (GWH) 22 5 214 21 7 20 6 203 

UK electnc1ty use (GWH) 136 9 113 6 102 7 99 3 94 2 

Total C02 from 92 4 79 3 73 2 707 67 6 
energy use1 

Total C0 2 from n/a n/a 26 0 19 8 16 6 
transport1 

1 C01 em1ss1ons are catrulated usmg the de fr a 2010 greenhouse gas conversion factors 
These factors change regularly, so to show actual reductions, the same factors have 
been used for all years Consequently, there are some differences from the data reported 
last year 

Environmental management and conservation 
The UK business continues to mamta1n ISO 140012004 
cernflcanon, confirming evidence of effective controls as part 

of Company Environmental Management Systems, which cover 

a broad range of acnv1nes The Australian business has also 

established a small group responsible for developing environmental 

1n1nanves A responsible and proactive approach 1s taken to the 

stewardship of the many Sites of Special Sc1ennflc Interest (SSSI) 

that are managed tn the UK Conservation management plans in 

place where required 

Waste 
As part of Q1net1Q UK's waste-management programme, data 

collection has been extended to the majority of QmenQs1tes 

and those managed on behalf of the MOD In QNA, recycling 

programmes operate across much of the business 

UK waste-management 
data1 2007 2008 2009 2010 

General waste to landfill 2,472 1,911 1,924 1,230 
(tonnes) 

2011 

926 

Recycled waste (tonnes) 1,338 1,533 1,802 2,641 2,355 

Percentage recycled 35% 45% 48% 68% 72% 
waste 

'In previous years only data for maior sites was reported This year reporting 1s for all sites 
where QlnetlQ has control of the waste Add1tlonal waste streams are now Incorporated, 
1ndudingoperat1onal waste 

Making a positive contnbutlon to the community 
Science for society 

In 2010, two UK employees v1s1ted Laos as part of QinenQ's 

unexploded ordnance (UXO) Science for Society Programme, 

which has been runnrngfor six years The team uses its expertise 

to support local capability building to reduce the threat of UXO 

Recently our QNA business provided specral1st unmanned vehicle 

equipment and associated training to ard in Japan's Fukushima 

recovery efforts This enabled response teams to accomplish cntlcal 

and complex recovery tasks while rema1n1ng a safe distance from 

hazardous debris and other dangerous conditions 

Education outreach 

For the fourth year running, QmetlQ UK collected an Award from 

STEM NET, a UK national body leading all Science, Technology, 

Eng1neenng and Maths (STEM) educational outreach Student 

placements are provided through 'Year 1n Industry' as well as 

sponsorship of degrees 

Chanty and community programmes 

Employees across the Group undertook a range of volunteering 

acnv1nes 1n the community Total chantable g1v1ng from the 

business across the Group was £196,900 (see page 45) 
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Governance 

Board 
of Directors 

For more mformatJon go to 
www QmetlQ com 
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Appointment to Board 

Mark Elliott 
Non-executive 
Chalrman- 62 

Appomted Non-executive Chairman m March 2010, 
Non-executive Director between June 2009 and 
February 2010 

Committee Memberships 

Member of the RemunerahonComm1ttee, 
Compliance Committee and Nommahons 
Committee 

Expernse 

Mark was previously General Manager of IBM 
Europe, Middle East and Afnca and sat on IBM's 
Worldwide Manage~nt Council Mari( c.unently 
serves as a Non-executive Director on the boards 
of Reed Elsevier Group pie (m respect of which he 
1s also Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), 
Reed Elsevier NV and G4S pie The Board considers 
that Mark's extensive expenence m the technology 
services sector, both m the US and Europe, coupled 
with his exposure to a vanety of mdustry sectors on 
the boards of FTSE listed comparnes, 1s a valuable 
asset to the Group 1n terms of leadership and 
addressing the strategic issues affecting the Group 

Apporntment to Board 

David Mellors 
Chlefflnanclal 
Officer-42 

Appomted Chief Financial Officer m August 2008 

Committee Membershrps 
Member of the Security Committee 

Expertise 

David was previously deputy Chief Rnanc1al Officer 
of Logica pie David has also held the po5'tion of 
Chief Rnancial Officer of Log1ca's mtemahonal 
d1V1S1on cover mg operations m North Amen ca, 
Australia, the Middle East and Asia and, pnor to 
that, he was the Group Financial Controller Earlier 
expenence mcludedvarious other roles with CMG 
pie, Rio Tinto pie and Pnce Waterhouse David IS a 
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
m England & Wales 

Appointment to Board 

Leo Quinn 
Chief Executive 
~cer-54 

Appomted Chief Executive Officer m 
November 2009 

Committee Memberships 
Member of the Compliance Committee, 
Nominations Committee and Security Committee 

Expernse 
Leo was Chief ExecuhVe Officer of De la Rue pie 
between 2005 and 2009 Before that he was Ouef 
Operating Officer of Invensys pie's Production 
Management DMS1on Pnor to that Orne, he spent 
16years with Honeywell Inc, 1n a \lanetv of sen\Of 
management roles m the USA, Europe, the Middle 
East and Afnca Leo was formerly a Non-executive 
Director of Tomkins pie 

Apporntment to Board 

Sir David lees 
Deputy Chairman 
and Senior 
Independent 
Non·execubve 
Director - 74 

Appointed Deputy Chairman and SID m August 2005 

Committee Memberships 
Chairman of the Comphance Committee and 
Nominations Committee, Member of the Audit 
Committee and Se runty Committee 

Expertise 
Str David 1s currently Chairman of the Court of the 
Bank of England, he has also been a member of 
the UK Panel on Takeovers and Mergerssmce June 
2001 Sir David J01ned GKN pie m 1970and had 
held the position of Group Rnance Director, Ch1ef 
Execunve and Executive Chairman before becoming 
Non-execubve Chairman m 1997 until his retirement 
1n May 2004 Other notable rolesmclude bemga 
member of the National Defent.e lndustnes Counc.11 
between 199S and 2004 Cha1rman of Courtaulds 
pie from 1996 to 1998, a Non-execunve Director of 
the Bank of England between 1991and1999, and 
Cha11man of Tate & Lyle pie from 1999 until 2009 
From 2001 to 2006, he was Non-executive Joint 
Deputy Chairman of Brambles Industries pie and 
Bramble Industries l.Jm1ted Sir David IS a Fellow of 
the Institute of dicntered Accountants m Engtand & 
Wales The Board considers that Sir David's detailed 
understanding of corporate governance and the City 
and its institutions, and his mdustnal experience, 
s1grnftcantlyenhance the operation of the Board 



Appointment to Board 

Cohn Balmer 
Non-executive 
Director- 64 

Appointed Non-executive Director in February 2003. 

Committee Memberships 

Chairman of the Secunty Committee, Member of the 
Comphance Committee, Nommahons Committee 
and Remunerahon Committee 

Expertise 

Cohn served as Managing Director of the Cab met 
Office from 2003 unhl his rehrement m 2006 
Previously, he was Finance Director of the MOD, 
with respons1b1hty for QmehQ's pnvatlsahon and 
the subsequent investment by car1yle as part of the 
PPP Transachon Calm has extensive experience 
across the MOD and has been a member of the 
Foreign and Commonwealth Office's Audit and 
Risk Committee He 1s currently on the Board of the 
Royal Mint, chamng its Audit Committee The Board 
considers that Colin's extensive knowledge of the 
development of QinehQ throughout its pubhc­
private partnership, and his m-depth understanding 
of the working of Government parhcularly the UK 
MOD, provides the Board with a unique 1ns1ght 
into the issues facing Government m debvenng 
its procurement ob1echves and partnering with 
industry suppliers 

Appointment to Board 

Admiral Sir James 
Burnell-Nugent 
Non-executive 
Director- 61 

Appointed Non-executive Director rn Apnl 2010 

Committee Memberships 

Member of the Compliance Committee, 
Remunerahon Committee and Secunty Committee 

Expertise 

Sir James commanded the aircraft earner HMS 
Invincible and three other ships and submannes 
during a 37-year career m the Royal Navy which 
culminated Ill his appointment as Commander-m­
Chtef Fleet In between operahonal duties he served 
m several appointments 1n the MOD and gamed 
cross-Whitehall expenence whtle on secondment 
to HM Treasury The Board consrders that Sir James' 
expertise in the Government contracting domain, 
parhcularly with the UK MOD and HM Treasury, 
1s highly benefiaal m the context of QJnetlQ's 
GO\'ernment sourced opera hons 

Appointment to Board 

Noreen Doyle 
Non-execubve 
Director-62 

Appointed Non-execunve Director m October 2005 

Committee Memberships 

Cha1rman of the Remuneration Committee, 
Member of the Audit Committee 

Expertise 

Noreen sits on the Board of Credit Suisse Group 
(Zunch) and 1s a Non-executive Director of Newmont 
M1mng Corporahon (Derwer) where she rs chair 
of the Audit Committee, and Rexam pie where 
she rs chair of the Rnance Committee Pnor to her 
appomtment m 2001 as First Vice President of the 
European Bank for Reconstruchon and Development 
(EBRO), Noreen was head of R.tsk Management 
Previously Noreen had a distinguished career at 
Bankers Trust Company(now Deutsche Bank) m 
corporate hnanceand leveraged financing, with 
a concentration moil, gas and m1mng The Board 
considers that Noreen~-s extensive mternahonal 
business experience, parhcular1y in the areas of 
corporate finance, risk management and banking, 
1s of s1gmhcant benefit to the Board 

Apporntment to Board 

Paul Murray 
Non-executtve 
Director- 49 

Appointed Non-executive Director m October 2010 

Committee Membershrps 

Chairman of the Audit Committee and Member 
of the Compliance Committee 

Expertise 

Paul rs currently a Non-execuhve Director and 
Audit Committee chair at Royal Mail Holdings pie 
He 1s also a Director at Knowledge Peers pie and 
1s a Trustee of Pdothght He was previously Senior 
Independent Director of Taylor Nelson Sofres pie, a 
Non-execuhve Director of Thomson SA and Tangent 
Communicahons pie, and has also been Group 
Finance Director of earl ton Communications pie and 
LAS MO pie The Board considers that Paul brmgs a 
broad range of experience m finance and corporate 
governance from a cros-s sechon of mdustnes, all of 
which leverage technology 

Appointment to Board 

Admiral Edmund 
P G1ambastlanl Jr, 
US Navy (retired) 
Non-executive 
Director-63 

Appointed Non-exeruhVe Director m February 2008 

Committee Memberships 

Member of the Compliance Committee 

Expertise 

Between 2005 and 2007, Ed was the second -
hrghest ranking military officer 1n the United States, 
havmgserved as the seventh Vice Chairman of 
the .k>mt Ouefs of Staff A career nuclear-trained 
submanne officer, Ed's d1shngmshed service has 
also included aSS1gnments as Special Assistant to 
the CIA's Deputy Director for Intelligence, Senior 
Mthtary Assistant to the US Defense Secretary and 
Commander, us Jo mt Forces Command He also 
served as NATO's hrst Supreme Alhed Commander 
Transformation After retirement and unhl October 
2009, he served as the Non-executtve Chairman 
of the Board of Directors for Alerua North America 
Inc He currently IS a Non-execuhve Director of 
the Boemg Company, SRA lnternahonal Inc and 
Monster Worldwrde Inc, and serves in a pro-bona 
capacity on a number of US Government advrsory 
boards and panels The Board considers that Ed's 
extensive knowledge of the US defence and security 
domain sigmhcantly enhances the operation of the 
Board, as QJnehQ conhnues to pursue its strategy 
of developing its US platform m the defence and 
secunty technology sector 

Apporntment 

Jon Messent 
Company Secretary 
and Group General 
Counsel-47 

Appointed as Company Secretary and Group 
General Counsel m January 2011 

Expertise 

Jon JO med QlnehQ from Ch Ion de Group where he 
held a s1m1lar role He has a background m legal 
private prachce as well as company secretarial 
experience 1n other FTSE250 companies 
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Corporate 
governance report 
The Board sees high standards of corporate governance as 
essential to building value 1n our business and to the ongoing 
management of change 

The Board considers that Q1net1Q has promoted strong 
governance throughout the Group by applying the principles 
of the UK F1nanc1al Reporting Council's Combined Code on 
Corporate Governance (the Combined Code) The Board 
considers that Q1net1Q has complied wtth the prov1s1ons of the 
Combined Code throughout the last financial year In 2010 a 
new UK Corporate Governance Code was published This will come 
into effect over the coming f1nanc1al year and bring a number of 
important changes to corporate governance practrce The Board 
welcomes these changes as a pos1t1ve reflection of the evolving 
nature of good business governance The Board 1s 1n the process 
of reviewing the new UK Code and will be taking action to ensure 
that what Qinet1Q does fully reflects its principles and that we 
comply with its prov1s1ons Some steps have already been taken 
to update our practices and policies and these are highlighted 1n 
the next few pages 

The Board - governance, processes and systems 
Board objectives 
Demonstrate the hrghest standards of corporate governance per 
the UK code to 

• ensure the continuing evolution and 1mplementat1on of the 
Group strategy which dehvers value to all stakeholders 
customers, employees and shareholders, 

• develop challenging objectives for the business and monitor 
management performance against those goals, 

• provide a framework of effective controls to assess and manage 
risks, with clear expectations for conduct to the highest 
standards of ethics, 

• provide support and constructive challenges to the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) to promote the Group's success, 

• demonstrate leadership 1n management systems around 
Health, Safety and Environment, and 
manage succession planning for the Board and the Group's 
executive management 
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Compos1t1on of the Board 
The Board currently has nine members the Non-executive 
Chairman, six other Non-executive Directors, and two Executive 
Directors, namely the CEO and the Chief F1nanc1al Officer (CFO), 
with the ob1ect1ve of achieving a balance of Executive and Non­
execut1ve Directors 

Executive and Non-executive Board compos1t1on 
Mark Elliott has been the Non-executive Chairman of Q1net1Q 
since 1 March 2010, having first JOtned the Board as a Non­
execut1ve Director on 1 June 2009 During the year the Board 
welcomed Paul Murray, who 101ned as a Non-executive Director 
on 25 October 2010 The Board would like to express its thanks to 
Nick Luff and David Langstaff, both of whom stepped down during 
the year, for their ded1cat1on and valuable contributions during 
their time of service on the Board 

The Board considers its overall size and compos1t1on to be 
appropriate, having regard 1n particular to the independence 
of character and integrity of all the Directors and the experience 
and skills which they bring to their duties, which prevents 
any 1nd1vrdual or small group from dom1natrng the Board's 
dec1s1on-mak1ng 

The Board considers that the skills and experience of its 1nd1v1dual 
members, partrcularly m the areas of UK/US defence and security, 
the commerc1al1sat1on of 1nnovat1ve technologies, corporate 
finance, mergers and acqu1s1t1ons and nsk management, have 
been fundamental 1n the pursuit of Q1net1Q's strategic 1n1t1at1ves 
(as described 1n the Chief Executive Officer's Review section ofth1s 
Annual Report) 1n the past year In addition, the quoted company 
experience available to members of the Board 1n a variety of 
industry sectors and 1nternat1onal markets has also been 
invaluable to the Group as 1t seeks to consolidate its pos1t1on 
1n its core markets and geographic territories 



Roles and respons1b1hties 
The Board 1s responsible for overseeing the Executive Directors' 
management of the Group's operations and, 1n this capacity, 
determines the Group's strategic and investment pol1c1es The 
Board also monitors the performance of the Group's senior 
management team and organises its business to have regular 
interaction with key members of the Group, including those based 
in North America The Directors are responsible for overseeing the 
management of the business of the Group, and their powers are 
sub1ect to the Articles of Assoc1at1on and any applicable leg1slat1on 
and regulation 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
The roles of Chairman and CEO are separate, with their 
respons1b1t1t1es having been dearly articulated by the Board rn 
wnt1ng The Chairman, Mark Elliott, 1s responsible for the effective 
operation of the Board and ensuring that all Directors are enabled 
and encouraged to play their full part 1n Board act1v1t1es The CEO, 
Leo Quinn, is responsible to the Board for d1rect1ng and promoting 
the profitable operation and development of the Group consistent 
with enhancing Jong-term stakeholder value This tncludes the day­
to-day management of the Group, formulating, communicating 
and executrng Group strategy, and the 1mplementat1on of Board 
pohc1es 

Senior Independent Director 
The Senior Independent Non-executive Director 1s Sir David Lees 
Sir David 1s also Deputy Charrman of the Board and serves as an 
add1t1onal point of contact for shareholders should they feel 
that their concerns are not being addressed through the normal 
channels Sir David 1s available to fellow Non-executive Directors, 
either 1nd1v1dually or collectively, should they wish to discuss 
matters of concern 1n a forum that does not include the Chairman, 
the Executive Directors or the senior management ofQ1net1Q 

Independence of Non-executive Directors 
Of the current Directors of the Company, the Board considers 
Admiral Sir James Burnell-Nugent, Noreen Doyle, Mark Elhott, 
Admiral Edmund P G1ambast1an1, Sir David lees and Paul Murray 
to be independent of Q1net1Q's executive management and free 
from any business or other relat1onsh1ps that could materrally 
interfere with the exercise of their independent Judgement Of the 
remarn1ng Non-executive Directors, the Board considers that Colin 
Balmer 1s not independent for Combined Code purposes, on the 
basis that he was (until MOD sold its entire ordinary shareholding 
m the Company on 9 September 2008) the MOD's nominated 
director Based on the above, the Board considers that over 
half of its members were independent Non-executive Directors 
throughout the last financial year 

Performance of the Board 
In accordance with the Combined Code, Q1net1Q continues each 
year to evaluate the performance of the Board and its Committees 

The Chairman used the core conclusions ans1ng out of the pnor 
year's evaluation exercise as a reference point for a series of 
questions focused on best practice areas of corporate governance 
This was supplemented by meetings held with the Directors at 
which the performance of the Board, its Committees and 1nd1v1dual 
Board members was discussed Sir David Lees, 1n his capacity as the 
Senior Independent Non-executive Director, met with rnd1v1dual 
members of the Board to evaluate the performance of the 
Chairman 

The evaluation process revealed that the operation of the Board 
was conducted 1n an open and transparent manner, with the Board 
possessing an appropriate range of skills which were well matched 
to Q1net1Q's business and having devoted increased attention to 
strategic planning, succession and nsk management 1n the year 

As a result of the evaluation exercise, the Board agreed to mamta1n 
its focus on these key issues 1n the coming year As a separate 
exercise, the Chairman held meetings with the Non-executive 
Directors m the last financial year, without the Executive Directors 
present, 1n order to review both the operation of the Board and to 
appraise the performance of the Executive Directors 

Directors' 1nduct1on, on-going training and 1nformat1on 
All newly-appointed Directors part1c1pate 1n an 1nduct1on 
programme, which 1s tailored to meet their specrf1c needs 1n 
relation to 1nformat1on on the Group Further, a series of v1s1ts to 
Group sites g1v1ng the opportunity to meet senior management, 1s 
provided to new Directors for them to gain a strong understanding 
of the business The rnduct1on programme rncludes an 1nduct1on 
pack, which 1s refreshed to ensure 1t contains the most up-to-date 
rnformat1on available on the Group Training 1s also available to the 
Board on key business issues or developments 1n pohcy, regulation 
or leg1slat1on on an 'as needed' basis The Company provides 
bus1ness-w1de computer based tra1n1ng (CBT) for employees and 
the Board relating to compliance with its business ethics pol1c1es 
and practices 
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All Directors are encouraged to v1s1t Q1net1Q's principal sites and 
to meet a wide cross-section of the employee base During the 
last financial year, the Boa rd held two of its meetings at Qrnet1Q's 
fac1l1ty tn Washington and one of its meetings at Qrnet1Q's 
Farnborough site This provided members of the Board with a 
greater opportunity to experience and understand the operational 
dynamics and technical offerings of the US and UK bus mess at 
first hand 

As part of the corporate planning process, the Board has the 
opportunity to question the Sector Managing Directors and the 
Executive Directors 1n relation to the formulation of the corporate 
plan at Sector level and the impact of these plans on the Group 
strategy as a whole 

The Non-executive Directors also have an opportunity to meet 
with other employees w1th1n the Group (including other members 
of the senior management team) at luncht1me/even1ng events, 
which are scheduled to cornctde with Board meetrngs 

Each of the Directors has access to the services of the Company 
Secretary, and there 1s also an agreed procedure for the Directors 
to seek independent advice at the Company's expense 

Re-election of Directors 
Rules concerning the appointment and replacement of Directors 
of the Company are contained in the Articles of Assoc1at1on and 
changes to these articles must be submitted to shareholders for 
approval According to the Articles of Assoc1at1on, all Directors 
are sub1ect to election by shareholders at the first Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) following their appointment, and to re-election 
thereafter at intervals of no more than three years However, 1n 
line with best practice reflected m the new UK Governance Code, 

the Company requires each serving member of the Board to be put 
forward for election or re-election on an annual basis at each AGM 

Board meetings and attendance 
The Board has regular scheduled meetings Nine scheduled Board 
meetings were held 1n the last frnanc1al year Members of the 
Board were also 1nv1ted to attend a dinner on the occasion of each 
scheduled Board meetrng, to assist rn the process of relat1onsh1p 
building and to ensure that key strategic 1n1t1at1ves were 
thoroughly discussed 

The following table shows the number of meetings of the Board 
and its committees held dunngthe last f1nanc1al year, and the 
attendance by ind1v1dual Directors 

Attendance at meetings of Board and its Committees -Apnl 2010 to March 2011 

Members 

Colin Balmer 

Admrral Sir James Burnell-Nugent1 

Noreen Doyle 

Mark Ellrott 

Admiral Edmund P G1ambast1an1 

David Langstaff 

Sir David lees 

Nick Luff' 

David Mellors 

Paul Murray4 

LeoQumn 

1 
Admiral Sir James Burnell-Nugent was appointed to the Board on 28 April 2010 

2 
David Langstaff restgned from the Board on 18 Apnl 2011 

l Nick Luff resigned from the Board on 31 December 2010 
'Paul Murray was appointed to the Board on 25 October 2010 

Matters reserved to the Board 
The Board operates through a comprehensive set of processes, 
which defme the schedule of matters to be considered by the 
Board and its Committees during the annual business cycle, the 
level of delegated authorities (both financial and non-f1nanc1al) 
available to both Executive Directors and other layers of 
management w1th1n the business, and Qmet1Q's Business 
Ethics, Risk Management, and Health, Safety and Environmental 

processes The Board devotes one entire meeting each year to 
consider strategy and planning issues which have an impact on 
the Group, from which the five-year corporate plan 1s generated, 
and 1t 1s also regularly kept up to date on strategic issues 
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Committee 

Board Audit Remuneration Comphance 

9/9 7/7 5/5 

9/9 6/6 5/5 
7/9 5/5 7/7 
9/9 7/7 5/5 

8/9 5/5 

9/9 5/5 7/7 
9/9 5/5 5/5 

6/6 4/4 3/4 

9/9 
5/5 2/2 

9/9 5/5 

throughout the year The Board also has a clearly articulated set 
of matters which are spec1frcally reserved to 1t for cons1derat1on, 
which include revrew1ng the annual budgets, ra1s1ng indebtedness, 
granting security over Group assets, approving Group strategy and 
the corporate plan, approval of the annual and interim report and 
accounts, approval of s1gn1f1cant investment, bid, acqu1s1t1on and 
divestment transactions, approval of Human Resources policies 
(rnclud1ng pensron arrangements), reviewing material llt1gat1on and 
monitoring the overall system of internal controls, 1ncludrng risk 
management 



Operation of the Board 
The Board receives wntten reports from the CEO and CFO each 
month, together with a separate report on investor relations, 
which 1s prepared 1n consultation with Qmet1Q's brokers, and 
a report produced by the Company Secretary on key legal and 
regulatory issues affecting the Group The Board also considers 
reports from the Chairs of the Committees of the Board at the 
next scheduled Board meeting following the date on which each 
Committee meeting was held 

The CEO's monthly report addresses the key strategic in1t1at1ves 
which have had an impact on the Group since the previous 
meeting of the Board, and focuses, 1n particular, on the progress 
of each of the Sectors Other key areas of focus include health, 
safety and environmental matters, employee and organ1sat1onal 
issues, corporate respons1b11ity, the status of key account 
management/customer relat1onsh1p 1n1t1at1ves, the p1pel1ne of 
potential bids, acqu1s1t1ons, disposals and investments, and the 
post-acqu1srt1on performance of recently acquired businesses 

The Board also receives updates from the CEO's key functional 
reports on an 'as needed' basis, on issues such as Human 
Resources, Treasury, Corporate Respons1b1hty, Real Estate, 
Secunty, Trade Controls and Pensions Key issues considered by 
the Board 1n the past year included succession planning, which 
culminated 1n some changes to Board membership, strategy 
(m partrcular the effective operation of the UK Services, US 
Services and Global Products busmesses) and the Company's 
ongoing improvement to business processes 1n response to 
the key f1ndrngs of the Haddon-Cave report 

Conflicts of Interest 
The Company requires Directors to disclose proposed outside 
business interests before they are entered into This enables pnor 
assessment of any conflict, or potential conflict, of interest and any 
impact on time commitment An annual review of all external 
rnterests 1s earned out by the Board 

Directors' responsib11lties 
Statements explam1ng the Directors' respons1b1ht1es for preparing 
the Group's financial statements and the auditor's respons1b1ht1es 
for reporting on those statements are set out on pages 48 and 49 

Other Directors' information 
Details of Executive Directors' service contracts and the Non­
execut1ve Directors' letters of appointment are set out 1n the 
Report of the Remuneration Committee Copies of Directors' 
service contracts and letters of appointment will be available 
for 1nspectron at the Company's AGM 

Other Management Committees 
Respons1b1hty for the day-to-day management of the Group's 
act1v1t1es, with the exception of Qmet1Q's North American 
operations (which are managed through the Proxy Board, as 
described m the section below headed 'Management and control 
of US subs1d1anes'), 1s conducted through the Q1net1Q Executive 
Team (QET) The QET comprises the Group CEO, Group CFO, 
Functronal Directors and the Managing Directors of each of the 

three UK business Sectors The QET meets on a monthly basis, 
and receives weekly updates on key operational issues by way 
of pre-scheduled conference calls The act1v1t1es of the QET are 
supplemented by the Proxy Board and the Executive Management 
Team 1n QNA A Global Products Steering Committee was formed 
1n the year to accelerate the development of the Global Products 
business, its products, and its explo1tat1on of Q1net1Q's intellectual 
property 

Board Committees 
The Board has established five principal committees the Audit 
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nom1nat1on:s 
Committee, the Compliance Committee and the Security 
Committee Each operates w1th1n written terms of reference 
approved by the Board, details of which are set out 1n the Investor 
Relations section of Q1net1Q's website (www Qinet1Q com) 
Each Chairman of a Board Committee reports on the key issues 
discussed, and dec1s1ons taken, at the next meeting of the Board 
following the Committee meeting 1n question Details of each of 
these Committees are summarised below Details of each 
Committee members' attendance at Committee meetings 
are set out 1n the table on page 30 

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee 1s chaired by Paul Murray The Board 
considers him to have recent and relevant financral experience, 
given his former roles as Group Fmance Director of Carlton 
Communications pie and LASMO pie, and through his current role 
as Audit Committee Chairman at Royal Mall Holdings pie The 
Committee 1s made up of three Non-executive Directors (four until 
the res1gnat1on of David Langstaff as a Director of the company on 
18 April 2011), all of whom the Board considers to be independent 
The Audit Committee monitors the Group's 1ntegnty 1n fmanc1al 
reporting and reviews the effectiveness of the risk management 
framework The other members are Noreen Doyle and Sir David 
Lees The members bnng extensive experience of corporate 
management 1n senior executrve pos1t1ons to the Company 

The Audit Committee meets as necessary and at least four 
times a year During the f1nane1al year ended 31 March 2011, 
the Committee met on five occasions The external auditor has 
the right to request that a meeting of the Audit Committee be 
convened Dunng the past financial year, the Committee met 
with Q1net1Q's external auditor on two separate occasions, 
without Executrve Directors present, to discuss the audit process 
The Committee also met with the Group Internal Audit Manager 
on the same basis 

The CEO, CFO, Group F1nanc1al Controller, Group Internal Audit 
Manager, the QNA Internal Audit Manager and a representative of 
the external auditor, normally attend Audit Committee meetmgs, 
except where not appropnate 

This year the Committee's particular focus was on QNA risks, 
issues and m1t1gatmg actions, and on the development of a more 
robust review process for the business's self-assessment and 
cert1f1cation exercise 
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Cons1derat1on of the audit process for the full-year and 1ntenm 
results was the principal areas of focus for the Audit Committee 
The Committee also assessed the effectiveness of the Internal 
Audit function and adequacy of resourcing levels As part of its 
review of internal controls, the Committee focused 1n particular 
on those matters whrch had failed to achieve at least a 
'satisfactory' audit ratmg 1n the year, and the management plans 
to address the issues raised by the Internal Audit function 

In the context of the Group's North American business, the 
Committee undertook two in-depth revrews of the internal 
controls environment across QNA, whrch included contract 
admin1stratron, cost accounting and b1lhng The Committee also 
reviewed the act1v1t1es of the tax, insurance and treasury functions 
rn detail, as well as overseeing the level of KPMG's audit fees 
The Committee confirms its view that 1t has received suff1c1ent, 
rehable and timely 1nformatron from management 1n the last 
financial year to enable 1t to fulfil rts respons1b1ht1es 

In order to safeguard auditor independence and ob1ect1v1ty, the 
Committee ensures that any other advisory and/or consulting 
services provrded by the external auditor do not conflict with their 
statutory audit respons1b1l1t1es and are conducted through entirely 
separate working teams, such advisory and/or consulting services 
generally only cover regulatory reporting, tax and mergers and 
acqu1s1t1ons work Any non-audit servrces conducted by the auditor 
require the consent of the CFO or the Chairman of the Aud rt 
Committee before bemg 1n1t1ated, with any such services 
exceeding £50,000 1n value requiring the consent of the Audit 
Committee as a whole In the last financral year, the non-audit 
act1vrty conducted by KPMG, on behalf of Q1net1Q, which exceeded 
this £50,000 threshold, related to the prov1s1on of support to the 
US Servrces busrness in relation to the acqu1s1t1on of Cyve11Jance 
Inc 1n the previous year The Committee concluded that this 
service did not create any conflict of interest that might 
compromise the independence of KPMG audit work 

It 1s also Q1net1Q's polrcy that no KPMG employee may be 
appointed into a senior pos1t1on within the Q1net1Q Group without 
the prior approval of the CFO The cost and nature of non-audit 
work undertaken by the auditor was reviewed by the Committee 
on several occasions during the last finanC1al year This process 
enables the Committee to take corrective action 1f 1t beheves that 
there 1s a risk of the auditor's independence being undermined 
through the award of such work 

KPMG has been the Company's auditor since 2003 The members 
of the Audit Committee have declared themselves satisfied with 
the performance of KPMG as the Company's auditor in the last 
frnanc1al year A rotation of KPMG's lead audit partner was last 
undertaken during 2008 It 1s ant1c1pated that he will continue 1n 
this role for a maximum term of five years 

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee 1s chaired by Noreen Doyle 
The Committee sets remuneration and 1ncent1ves for Executive 
Directors, approves and monitors remuneration and incentives 
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for the Group The other Commrt:tee members are Colin Balmer, 
Admiral Sir James Burnell-Nugent and Mark Elhott The Committee 
meets as necessary although normally not less than three times a 
year During the financial year ended 31 March 2011, the 
Remuneration Committee met on seven occasions Although not 
members of the Committee, the CEO, the HR Director and the 
Group Reward Director normally attended meetings to provide 
1nformat1on and advice to the Committee 

Durrng the year, the Committee received advice from its appointed 
independent advisors, Towers Watson, and from Kepler Associates 
Towers Watson provided other consulting services durrng the year 
to Q1net1Q but did not provide advice on executive remuneration 
matters other than to the Committee Market data was provided 
by Towers Watson and Hewitt New Bridge Street who also 
provided advice to ass 1st the Committee to determine whether 
performance targets had been met 

No employee ofQ1net1Q 1s permitted to part1c1pate 1n d1scuss1ons 
about their own remuneration 

The Committee has reviewed the changes in the new UK 
Governance Code relating to the remuneration and rewards of 
the Company's Executive Directors and senior management As 
a result the Committee has taken steps to update its processes 
to ensure that 

• the level of reward given to the Executive Directors and senior 
management 1s stretching and designed to promote the long­
term success of the company, and 

• remuneration 1ncent1ves remain consistent with the Company's 
rrsk management pol1c1es and systems 

Executive Directors are not present when their own remuneration 
is being discussed Further 1nformat1on on the act1v1t1es of the 
Remuneration Committee dunng the last f1nanc1al year are set out 
1n the Report of the Remuneration Committee on pages 36 to 44 

Nominations Committee 
The Nom1nat1ons Comm1ttee 1s chaired by Sir David Lees 
The Committee ensures that the composition of the Board and 
Committees has the optimum balance of skills, knowledge and 
experience The other Committee members are Colin Balmer, 
Mark Elliott and Leo Quinn, and David Langstaff until his departure 
The Committee meets as necessary and when called by its Chair 
Dunng the f1nanc1al year ended 31 March 2011, the Committee 
met and consulted informally on a number of occasions around 
Board meetings, as required 

The pnnc1pal focus of the Committee's act1v1t1es durrng the 
f1nanc1al year ended 31 March 2011 was to review Q1net1Q's 
succession planning processes at both the Executive and Non­
execut1ve Director levels 

The Committee also oversaw the appointment of one new Non­
execut1ve Director, which culminated in the appointment of Paul 
Murray 1n October 2010 



Compliance Committee 
The Comphance Committee 1s chaired by Sir Davrd Lees The 
Committee's pnmary purpose 1s to monitor adherence to the MOD 
Compliance Regime In add1t1on, 1t keeps a watching bnef over 
those areas of risk where the principal impact 1s not frnanc1al, 
1ndud1ng secunty, trade controls, ethics and health, safety and 
environment The other Committee members are Cohn Balmer, 
Admiral Sir James Burnell·Nugent, Mark Elhott, Admiral Edmund 
P G1ambast1am Jr, Paul Murray and Leo Qurnn The Committee 
meets as necessary although normally not less than four times 
a year Dunng the frnancial year ended 31 March 2011, the 
Compliance Committee met on four occasions This financial 
year the Committee has focused on ethics, the QNA Proxy Regime, 
Health, Safety and the Environment, Trade Controls, Security and 
tnals 1nvolvmg human subjects that fall w1th1n the scope of the 
Helsmk1 Protocol In addition, the Committee 1s prov1dmg oversight 
for 12 project areas estabhshed to address the recommendations 
of the Sir Robert Nelson Report completed as a result of the 
Haddon·Cave Revrew These projects rnclude specific act1v1t1es 
relating to aerospace assurances and safety work 1n add1t1on to the 
governance of advice services, general projects seeking to s1mphfy 
Qmet1Q's Competency and Assurance Frameworks and the 
processes of Q1net1Q's Business Management System 

The Committee continues to monitor the Comphance Regime, 
which 1s designed to give MOD customers confidence that Q1net1Q 
1s able to provide impartial advice during any compet1t1ve 
evaluatron of a procurement where Q1net1Q wishes to operate on 
both the 'buy' and the 'supply' sides Q1net1Q 1s requrred by rts 
Articles of Assoc1at1on to implement a Compliance Regime, which 
was estabhshed on its creation out of The Defence Evaluation and 
Research Agency (DERA) Central to this Regime 1s the requirement 
for Qmet1Q to seek perm1ss1on from the MOD prior to prov1d1ng 
commercial defence services to others where there 1s potential 
for a conflict of interest with the services that Q1net1Q provides 
to the MOD 

In des1gn1ng the Compliance Regime, the MOD and QmetiQ 
sought to achieve a balance between meeting the needs of the 
procurement customers w1th1n the MOD (pr1nc1pally Defence 
Equipment and Support) and the need to allow Q1net1Q flex1b1hty 
to exploit research into the supply chain and pursue its planned 
commercial act1v1t1es, without compromising the defence or 
secunty interests of the UK The Compliance Regime 1s largely 
self·pohc1ng, 1n that 1t 1s apphed by Q1net1Q 1n respect of its 
act1v1t1es wrthout extensive 1ntervent1on or oversight by the MOD 
Smee the rnception of the Comphance Regime, over 97% of the 
requests to the MOD to allow Qrnet1Q to operate on the supply 
side of the commercial defence market have been approved 
Oversight of the operation of the Regime 1s provided by the 
Compliance Committee 

The MOD reviews the operation and effectiveness of the 
Compliance Regime, through its nght to have an observer 
at the Compliance Committee meetings 

The Board nominates two senror executives to act as Compliance 
Implementation Director and Compliance Audit Director It 
receives a bi-annual report on the compliance areas that 1t 
monitors from the Internal Audit function In respect of the 
Comphance Regime, the Committee receives a report from the 
Company's Compliance Implementation Director which describes 
the permissions which have been sought and granted since the last 
meeting of the Committee, and the status of projects where the 
potential conflicts of interest are being managed The Committee 
also receives, from the Compliance Audit Director, a report on the 
effectiveness of the controls that are 1n place to ensure that the 
Regime 1s operated correctly The Committee 1s the forum that 
would address any issues arising out of Qmet1Q's failure to comply 
with the requirements of the Regime The Committee reviews the 
systems that support the Compliance Regime and those that may 
have an impact on it, directing changes, 1f appropriate A 
computer·based tram mg package continues to be used to ensure 
that all relevant employees have a satisfactory knowledge of the 
operatron of the Regime For key roles, competence 1s 
demonstrated by passing an annual mandatory test 

During the year, a total of eight new perm1ss1ons were sought from 
the MOD under the Compliance Regime, where potential conflicts 
of interest were 1dent1f1ed by Q1net1Q Of these eight requests, 
seven were approved and one remained outstanding at the end 
of March 2011 At the end of the year, 12 firewalls were 1n place 
Smee vesting m 2001, a total of 130 firewalls have operated with 
118 now closed A f1rewall 1s a series of rules and procedures 
governing wntten and oral commun1cat1on between employees 
contnbuting to products in an MOD compet1t1on with industry 
(outside the wall) and employees assess mg those products for 
MOD (1ns1de the wall) No breaches of the MOD Compliance 
Regime were noted during the year This year, the Committee 
has continued to have oversight, through quarterly reporting, 
on Health, Safety and Environment, Trade Controls, Ethics and 
Securrty from the heads of those functions w1th1n the business 
A summary of the key focus and act1v1t1es of the Health, Safety 
and Environment and Ethics functions 1s set out rn the Corporate 
Respons1b1hty Review on page 24 

Secunty Committee 
The Security Committee 1s chaired by Colin Balmer The other 
Committee members are Admiral Sir James Burnell-Nugent, 
Sir David Lees, David Mellors, Paul Murray and Leo Quinn The 
Committee was estabhshed 1n June 2009 to enable UK nationals on 
the Board to consider matters of a UK national secunty d1mens1on 
which have an impact on Q1net1Q's UK business 

Risk Management and Internal controls 
The Board 1s ultimately responsible for the Group's system of 
internal control and for rev1ew1ng its effectiveness rn safeguarding 
shareholders' interests and the Company's assets Such a system 1s 
designed to manage and m1t1gate, rather than eltmrnate the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against matenal 
misstatement or loss Qmet1Q managers are responsible for the 
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1dent1ficat1on and evaluation of s1gn1f1cant nsks apphcable to their 
areas of business, together with the design and operation of 
suitable internal controls to ensure effective m1trgat1on These 
nsks, which are related to the achievement of business ob1ect1ves, 
are assessed on a continual basis and may be associated wtth a 
vanety of mternal and external events, 1nclud1ng control 
breakdowns, competition, d 1srupt1on, regulatory requirements 
and natural and other catastrophes The Board and the Audit 
Committee regularly review s1gn1f1cant nsks to the busmess 

An annual process of h1erarch1cal self-cert1f1cat1on has been 
established w1th1n the organ1sat1on which provides a documented 
and aud1table trail of accountability for the operation of the system 
of mternal control This self-cert1ficat1on process 1s informed by a 
rigorous and structured self-assessment that addresses all the 
guidance cited 1n the Combined Code and compliance with 
Company poltcy The process provides for successive assurances 
to be given at 1ncreas1ng1y higher levels of management and, 
finally, to the Board The process IS informed by the Internal 
Audit function, which also provides a degree of assurance as 
to the operation and vahd1ty of the system of internal control 

The centrally provided internal audit programme 1s pnont1sed 
accordmg to nsks 1dent1fied by the Company and 1s integrated 
across all business and functional dimensions, thereby reducing 
issues of overlap or gaps 1n coverage These nsks are 1dent1f1ed 
dynamically and the Board 1s involved m this process as well as 
the QET and the QNA Executive Team 

The Audit Committee reviews, on behalf of the Board, the nsk 
management process and the system of internal control necessary 
to manage nsks and presents its f1ndmgs to the Board Internal 
Audit independently reviews the nsk rdent1ficat1on and control 
processes implemented by management and reports to the 
Audit Committee Where areas for improvement 1n the system 
of mternal control are 1dent1f1ed, the Board considers the 
recommendations made by the QET, the QNA Executive Team, 
the Audit Committee and the Compliance Committee 

The Audit Committee also reviews the assurance process, ensuring 
that an appropriate mix of techniques 1s used to obtam the level 
of assurance required by the Board It presents its findings to the 
Board on a regular basis The Board reviewed the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control that was rn operation dunng the 
fmanc1al year ended 31 March 2011 The Board also routinely 
challenges the management to ensure that the systems of internal 
control are constantly 1mprovmg to mamtam their cont1numg 
effectiveness 
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Q1net1Q has in place internal procedures which are designed 
to comply with mternat1onal best practice 1n relation to the 
prevention of corruption During this year Q1net1Q has undertaken 
s1gn1f1cant act1v1ty to review and update its business processes 
relating to its ethics and anti-corruption pohc1es and procedures, 
particularly 1n response to the new UK Bribery Act This activity 
has included 

• cont1nu1ng to provide computer based tra1nmg for all 
employees, 

• providing more 1n depth tra1n1ng on business ethics and nsk 
management best practice for employees who are involved 
1n overseas business, and 

• developing a new Group-wide Code of Conduct dealing with 
ethical best practice and compliance with the regulatory 
environments w1thm which the Company operates 

Compltance with ant1-corrupt1on leg1slat1on 1s further fac1htated 
by the engagement of independent, internationally recognised 
organ1sat1ons, such as TRACE, who conduct ant1-corrupt1on due 
d1l1gence reviews of all third-party agents overseas 

Going concern 
The Group's act1v1t1es, combined with the factors that are likely to 
affect its future development and performance, are set out 1n the 
CEO's Review on pages 4 to 11 The CFO's Review on pages 12 to 
17 sets out details on the financial pos1t1on of the Group, the cash 
flows, committed borrowing fac1ht1es, l1qu1d1ty and the Group's 
policies and processes for managing both its capital and financial 
nsks Note 28 to the f1nanc1al statements also provides details of 
the Group's hedging act1v1t1es, financial instruments and its 
exposure to l1qu1d1ty and credit nsk 

The market cond1t1ons 1n which the Group operates have been, 
and are expected to contrnue to be, challenging as spending from 
the Group's key customers 1n its primary markets 1n the UK and US 
remains under pressure Despite these challenges, the Directors 
believe that the Group is well pos1t1oned to manage its overall 
business risks successfully 

After making the appropriate enquiries, 1nclud1ng a review of the 
latest two-year budget for cash flow and results, the Directors have 
a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue 1n operational existence for the foreseeable future 

Consequently, the Annual Report and Accounts have been 
prepared on a going concern basis 



Communication with shareholders 
The Company attaches s1gn1f1cant importance to the effectiveness 
of its commun1catrons with shareholders During the last f1nanc1al 
year, the Company has ma1ntarned regular dialogue with 
mst1tut1onal shareholders and the f1nanc1al community, which 
has included presentations of the full-year and interim results, 
mcludmg investor 'road shows' held 1n the UK and US and regular 
meetings with maJor shareholders and industry analysts In 
add1tron, each member of the Board attended the Company's 
AGM m July 2010 and Interim Results and were available to take 
questions The Chairman, the Senior Independent Director and 
Non-executive Directors make themselves available to meet with 
shareholders as required All shareholders and potential 
shareholders can gain access to the Annual Report, presentations 
to rnvestors and other s1gn1f1cant rnformat1on about Q1net1Q on 
the Company's website, www Q1net1Q com 

Holders of ordrnary shares may attend the Company's AGM at 
which the Company highlights key business developments dunng 
the year and at whrch shareholders have an opportunity to ask 
questions The Chairs of the Audit, Remuneration, Nom1nat1ons, 
Compliance and Security Committees are available at that meeting 
to answer any questions on the work of the Committees The 
Company confirms that 1t will send the AGM Notice and relevant 
documentation to all shareholders at least 20 working days before 
the date of the AGM 

For those shareholders who have elected to receive 
commun1cat1ons electronically, notrce 1s given of the ava1lab1llty 
of documents on the Investor Relations Section of the Group's 
website All shareholders will be entitled to vote on the resolutions 
put to the AGM and, to ensure that all votes are counted, a poll 
will be taken on all the resolutrons m the Notice of Meeting The 
results of the votes on the resolutions will be published on the 
Group's website 

Respons1b1hty for ma1nta1n1ng regular commun1cat1or.s with 
shareholders rests with the Executive Team, led by the CEO, 
assisted by an investor relations function which reports to the CFO 
The Board 1s rnformed on a regular basrs of key shareholder issues, 
mclud1ng share price performance, the compos1t1on of the 
shareholder register and City expectations 

Durrng the coming year the Company will be looking to continue 
to improve the quality of its engcigement with shareholders and 
explore with investors any add1t1onal practical means by which 1t 
can give effect to the requirements of the Stewardship Code and 
the new UK Corporate Governance Code 

Management and control of US subsidiaries 
Q1net1Q's principal US subs1d1anes are currently required by the 
US National Industrial Security Program to maintain fac1hty security 
clearances and to be insulated from foreign ownership, control 
or rnfluence To comply with these requirements, Qrnet1Q North 
Amenca, Inc (QNA) (formerly known as Q1net1Q North America 
Operations, LLC) a wholly-owned subs1d1ary of Q1net1Q in the US 
and the holdrng company for the substantive part of Q1net1Q's 
North Amencan operations, and the US DoD, have entered into a 
proxy agreement that regulates the ownership, management and 
operation of these companies Pursuant to this proxy agreement, 
Qrnet1Q has appointed four US citizens (Peter Manno, Riley 
Mixson, John Curner and Vince V1tto) holding requ1s1te US secunty 
clearances as proxy holders to exercise the votrng rrghts of QNA's 
shares rn the US subs1d1anes The proxy holders are also appointed 
as directors of the relevant US subs1d1anes and, 1n add1t1on to their 
powers as directors, have power under the proxy arrangements to 
exercise all prerogatives of share ownership of QNA The proxy 
holders have a f1duc1ary duty to, and agree to perform their role 1n 
the best interests of shareholders, and consistent with the national 
security interests of the US 

Q1net1Q pie does not have any representation on the boards of the 
subsrdranes covered by the proxy agreement and does not have 
the right to attend board meetings Q1net1Q pie may not remove 
the proxy holders except for acts of gross negligence or wilful 
misconduct or for breach of the proxy agreement (with the 
consent of the US Defense Securrty Service) 

In terms of the power to govern, the proxy agreement vests certain 
powers solely with the proxy holders and certain powers solely 
with Q1net1Q For example, Q1net1Q can, at its sole d1scret1on, 
direct the proxy holders to 

• sell or dispose, many manner, capital assets or the business 
ofQNA, 

• pledge, mortgage or enc.umber assets of QNA for purposes 
other than obta1n1ng working capital or funds for capital 
improvements, 

• merge, consolrdate, reorganise or dissolve QNA, and 

• file or make any pet1t1on under the federal bankruptcy laws 
or s1m1lar law or statute of any state or any foreign country 

The proxy holders cannot carry out any of the above actions 
without the express approval of Q1net1Q Unhke m1nonty interest 
holders with protective veto nghts, Q1net1Q can unilaterally require 
the above to be earned out and these are therefore consrdered 
s1gn1ficant part1c1pat1ve features In add1t1on, Q1net1Q can require 
the payment of d1v1dends, and the pay down of parent company 
loans, from QNA 
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Remuneration report 

The key purpose of the Remuneration 
Committee is to ensure that the 
remuneration structure supports the 
Company's strategy and that we are able 
to attract, retain and motivate the highest 
calibre executives while rewarding the 
creation of long-term sustainable value. 
Noreen Doyle 
Chair, Remuneration Committee 

Introduction 
I am pleased to present the Remuneration Committee's report 
on Directors' remuneration for the year to 31 March 2011 

The pnmary objectives of our remuneratron pohcy remain 
unchanged 

• attracting and retaining top talent 

• mcent1v1s1ng key executives and managers 

• driving superior performance 1n both the short and long term 

• alignment with the interests of shareholders 

During the year, the Committee, with its advisors, developed 
a new long-term incentive plan, the Value Sharing Plan (VSP) This 
was approved by Shareholders at a General Meeting tn July 2010 
The VSP resulted from the Committee's review of Executive 
Remuneration and increases the alignment of Executives' interests 
and those of shareholders The environment for the Company 
continues to be challenging and we will maintain our focus on 
prov1d1ng Executive Remuneration programmes appropriate 
to the Company's strategy 

Following a market based review of executive salanes and 
rncent1ve plans, a salary increase has been approved for the 
Group Chief Finance Officer (CFO) 1n July 2011 for the first time 
1n three years This increase will bnng closer ahgnment to the 
market med tan The Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) proposed 
that he should not be consrdered for a base salary increase 

To improve market competitiveness for the senior executives, 
the on-target and maximum annual bonus opportun1t1es for the 
CEO and CFO will be increased to 50% and 125% of base salary, 
respectively, with a corresponding increase from 30% to 40% 
for mandatory bonus deferral of any bonus awarded 

Noreen Doyle 
Chair, Remuneration Committee 
27 May 2011 
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Report of the Remuneration Committee 
The following Report of the Remuneration Committee has been 
approved by the Board for subm1ss1on to shareholders 

The Report covers the remuneration of Directors and includes 
specific disclosures relating to their compensation, shares and 
other interests The report also describes the share-based 
incentive plans available to Executive Directors and to other 
employees This report has been prepared and, where 
appropriate, audited, 1n accordance with the requirements of the 
large and Med1um-s1zed Com pan res and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 and the FSA listing Rules 

Membership 
The following Non-executive Directors were members of the 
Remuneration Comm rttee during 2010/2011 

• Noreen Doyle (Chair, Remuneration Committee) 

• Mark Elliott (Group Chairman) 
• Cohn Balmer 

• David Langstaff 

• Admiral Sir James Burnell-Nugent (from 28 Aprrl 2010) 

• Sir David Lees (until 28 April 2010) 

The full Terms of Reference of the Committee can be found on the 
Q1net1Q website (www Qinet1Q com) Copies are also available 
on request 

Governance 
The Committee 1s chaired by Noreen Doyle and all its members are 
Non-executive Directors In the f1nanc1at year 2010/2011, 
the Committee met seven times 

During the year, the Committee received advrce from its 
appointed independent advisors, Towers Watson, and from Kepler 
Associates Towers Watson provided other consulting services 
during the year to Qrnet1Q but did not provide advice on executive 
remuneration matters other than to the Committee Market data 
was provrded by Towers Watson and Hewitt New Bridge Street 
who also advised on whether performance targets had been met 

The Group Chief Executive (CEO), Group HR Director and 
Group Reward Director also provided 1nformat1on and advice 
to the Committee 



Act1v1t1es 
During 2010/2011 the Committee meetings covered a number 
of topics 1nclud1ng 

Apnl 

May 

July 

• Executive Directors 2010/2011 bonuses 

• 2010/2011 performance targets 
• Executive Directors salary reviews 

• Directors' remuneration report 

• Executive team salary reviews and 

2010/11 bonuses 
• Value Shanng Plan 

• Value Shanng Plan, Performance Share Plan 

and Restricted Stock Unit awards 
November • Executive team Total Compensation 

• Update on pay trends 

• Executive team shareholdings 
February • Executive Incentive Structure 

• Remuneration Committee programme 

for the year 

• UK pension arrangements 

Directors' remuneration policy 
The Committee aims to maintain a remuneration policy, consistent 
with the Company's business strategy and ob1ect1ves, which 

• 
• 

attracts, retains and motivates 1nd1v1duals of high cahbre, 

1s responsive to both Company and personal 

performance, and 

• compet1t1ve w1th1n relevant employment markets 

The remuneration pohcy 1s built on the following phJ!osophy 

• 

• 

remuneration packages are structured to support business 

strategy and conform to current best practice, 

appropnate rewards are grven for meeting spec1f1c target 

ob1ect1ves set at the beginning of each year, 

incremental compensation 1s achieved for atta1n1ng stretch 

performance targets, 

Base salary 
Annual salary 

Leo Quinn 
David Mellors 

2010/2011 2009/2010 
£580,000 £580,000 
£300,000 £300,000 

Executive Directors' base salaries are reviewed annually as are 
those for all other employees There were no increases 1n salaries 
for the Executive Directors in 2010/2011 while the ma1onty of 
employees w1th1n Q1net1Q received salary increases 

External remuneration consultants provide data on salary levels 1n 
the markets m which Qinet1Q operates For companson purposes 
company type, sector and size 1n terms of both market 
cap1tahsat1on and turnover 

Based on this market review, a salary increase of £70,000 pa 
(23 3%) has been approved for the CFO for the coming year, 
effective 1 July 2011, to bnng the CFO salary to market median, 
reflecting also personal performance, potential and compettt1ve 
factors The Group CEO proposed that he should not be 
considered for a base salary increase 

Benefits 
Benefits may include a pension or contnbut1on 1n lieu, car 
allowance, health insurance, hfe insurance and membership of 
the Group's employee Share Incentive Plan which is open to all 
UK employees 

The Group's pohcy LS to offer all UK employees membership in the 
Q1net1Q Pension Scheme, as described 1n note 39 to the financial 
statements Executives whose benefits are likely to exceed the 
lifetime Allowance may opt out of the Q1net1Q Pension Plan In 
such cases, the ind1v1dual will be paid a supplement 1n lieu of 

pension contr1butrons 

In 2010/2011, Leo Qurnn received contnbut1ons of 25% of base 
salary in lieu of a pension David Mellors 1s a member of the 
Company's DC pension scheme and the Company contributes 
20% of base salary In hne with leg1slat1ve changes, for 2011/2012, 
contributions for David Mellors will be restructured to comply with 
the new annual allowance of £50,000 and the difference paid as 

ob1ect1ves are measured on metncs designed to be consistent cash rn heu of pension 

• 
with sustainable long-term business performance, and 

to monitor pay and employment cond1t1ons elsewhere 1n 

the Group 

The total remuneration levels of the Executive Directors are 
reviewed annually by the Committee, taking into account 

• 

• 

performance of the executJVe against specific targets, 

compet1t1ve market practice and remuneration levels, and 

the general economic environment 

Annual bonus 
2010/2011 

On target Maximum Actual bonus 
%ofsala~ ~ayment ~yment earned 

LeoQumn 40% 100% 100% 
David Mellors 40% 100% 100% 

Executive Directors part1c1pate in an annual bonus plan which 
1s non-pensionable Bonuses are hnked to Group performance 
targets for underlying operating profit,· underlying operating 
cash flow," and underlying EPS The resulting annual cash bonus 
also takes into account performance against personal objectives 
The 2010/2011 bonus potential and awards are laid out above, 
expressed as a percentage of salary 

DefirMt10ns of under¥Jng measures of performance are 1n the glossary on page 107 
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Remuneration report continued 

Annual bonus continued 
During 2010/2011, financtal targets were srgn1ficantly exceeded, 
resulting in excellent cash flow and cost reduction, enabling 
substantial net debt reduction and early re-f1nancmg of the credit 
facility Annual bonuses have been earned as 1nd1cated on page 
37 and 1n the Directors' Remuneration table later 1n this report 

After its revrew of executive salary and incentive plans, the 
Committee agreed that, for 2011/2012, the on-target and 
maximum bonus opportun1t1es will be increased to 50% and 
125% of base salary, respectively, to bring closer alignment 
to the compet1t1ve market 

Part of all annual cash bonuses earned are deferred and paid 
in shares, as descnbed below 

Deferred Annual Bonus (DAB) Plan 
The Deferred Annual Bonus Plan ahgns the mterests of executives 
with shareholders and aids retention of key md1v1duals by ensuring 
that executives are mcent1v1sed to take part of their annual bonus 
awards in shares rather than cash 

Executive Directors have a mandatory deferral of 30% of any 
bonus earned and may voluntanly defer up to 50% of their bonus 
into Qinet1Q shares Any deferred bonus will be matched based on 
EPS performance up to a maximum match of 100% of the deferred 
element After its review of executive salary and incentive plans, 
for 2011/2012, the mandatory deferral will be increased to 40% 
of any bonus earned with a voluntary deferral up to 60%, to 
complement the changes outlined above in the annual bonus 
target opportun1t1es 

In order for the matching shares to vest, EPS growth, measured 
over three years, must exceed defined targets EPS must grow by 
at least 22 5% over three years for any matching shares to vest, 
at which pornt deferred shares will be matched with one share for 
every four deferred Vestrng increases pro rata to EPS growth up 
to a maximum match of one share for every one deferred 1f EPS 
growth of 52% 1s achreved over three years, as illustrated below 

Awards are 1n the form of matching shares delivered after three 
years, subject to the achievement of the EPS-based performance 
cond1t1ons 
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Where an ind1v1dual part1c1pates 1n the DAB and also receives 
an award under the Performance Share Plan (PSP), they will not 
receive share awards which, 1n aggregate, exceed 150% of base 
salary for any one year 

Long-term incentives for Executive Directors 
The Objective of Q1net1Q's long-term mcent1ve programmes 
for Executive Directors 1s to ahgn their rewards with returns 
to shareholders by a focus on 1ncreas1ng shareholder value over 
the medium to long term 

In add1t1on to the DAB plan, Executive Directors are el1g1ble for 
long-term 1ncent1ves which have taken two forms the Value 
Sharing Plan (VSP) and the Performance Share Plan (PSP) An 
Executive Director who 1s granted an award under the VSP may 
not also be granted an award under the PSP for the same granting 
year and vrce versa 

These are the pnnc1pal means for long-term 1ncent1v1sat1on 
of the ExecutJYe Directors and the direct reports of the CEO 
The Committee considered various performance cond1t1ons and 
determined that the cnterta set out below were approprtate to 
1ncent1v1se the long-term creatron of share holder value for 
2010/2011 

Value Sharing Plan (VSP) 
The Value Sharing Plan was approved by shareholders 1n July 2010 
It rs an annual, long-term incentive plan designed to reinforce 
Q1net1Q's strategy of focusing on shareholder value creation 

Leo Quinn, David Mellors and a hm1ted number of senior 
executives part1c1pate in the VSP, which rewards executives with 
a pre-determ1ned number of shares for every £lm of value 
created over and above three-year performance hurdles 

On 29 July 2010 Leo Quinn was granted an award under which 
he will be entitled to receive 2,000 Qmet1Q Group shares for 
each £1m of add1t1onal shareholder value (ASV) created (above a 
hurdle) 1n respect of the performance pertod beg1nn1ng on 1 Apnl 
2010 On the same date David Mellors was granted an award 
under which he will be entitled to receive 1,000 Q1net1Q Group 
shares for each flm of additional shareholder value created 1n 
respect of the same performance penod 



For VSP awards made m 2010/2011, add1t1onal value created 1s 
measured 1n two ways 

Total shareholder return (TSR) - 30% of the award will depend 

on Q1net1Q's TSR out-performance of the FTSE 250 index 

(excluding Investment Trusts) Part1c1pants will be entitled to a 

vesting of shares under the TSR Element only 1f the Committee 

1s sat1sf1ed that this IS jUSt1f1ed by the underlying f1nanc1al 

performance of the Company over the performance penod 

Example 
Q1net1Q's average market cap1ta//sat1on over the three months to 
31 March 2010 was £906m 

Assume that Qmet1Q's TSR over the penod was 30%, the TSRfor the 
FTSE250 Index 1s 20% and the executive receives 1,000 shores per Elm 
ASV 

Add1t1onal shareholder value based on TSR 1s therefore 
Q1net1Q TSR out-performance of 10% (= 30% - 20%) 
mult1pJ/ed by Qlnet1Q market cap1tal1sot1on of £906m 
equals ASV based on TSR of £90 6m {=10% x £906m} 

In this example the executive would therefore receIVe 27,180 shares 
based on TSR 

(= £90 6m x 1,000 shares per Elm x 30% of award based on TSR) 

• Profit Before Tax {Pan - the remam1ng 70% of each award will 

be determined by growth above the cost of equity of 8 5% a 

year, adjusted by the d1v1dend yield 

Example 
Q1net1Q's average market cap1tallsat1on over the three months to 
31 Morch 2010 was £906m 

Group ad1usted PBTfor the financwl year ending 31 March 2010 was 
£882m 

Market cap1tal1sat1on as a (fixed) multiple of PBT for 2010 VSP awards 1s 
therefore 10 27 (= £906m/£88 2m} 

Assume Group adjusted PBT for the financial yea rending 31March2013 
1s £115m, and d1v1dends to shareholders over the three-year penod 
amount to fBOm (1ncludmg interest rolled up at 8 5% po) 

Add1t1onaJ shareholder value based on PBT 1s therefore 
PBT m FY 2013 of f115m mult1pfled by the fixed multiple of 10 27 

equals a value of £1,18lm (= fllSm x 10 27) 

plus fBOm (rolled-up d1v1dends) equals £1,261m (= £1,lBlm +£8Dm) 

less cost of eqwty hurdle of £1,157m (:= £906m x (1+8 5%)3) 
equals ASV for PBT element of award of £104m (= £1,261m - £1,157m) 

In this example the executive would therefore receive 72,BOOshores 
bosedon PBT 

(= £104 Om x 1,000 shares per Elm x 70% of award based on PBT) 

For 2011/2012, reflecting the changed defence environment and 
following the good work by the executive team, the Remuneration 
Committee decided that VSP awards should be subject to an equal 
we1ght1ng of the two performance 1nd1cators to 50% TSR and 50% 
PBT This comb1nat1on provides a balanced approach between the 
internal measure (PBT) and the external measure (TSR) and 
provides an appropriate balance between shareholder and senior 
management line of sight The award quotient for Leo Quinn and 
David Mellors has been reduced to 1,800 and 900 shares 
respectively to complement the annual bonus adjustments, 
outlined opposite 

Performance Share Plan (PSP) 
There were no awards of performance shares under the PSP to 
Executive Directors 1n 2010/2011, although awards remain 
outstanding from pnor years 

PSP awards are contingent on meeting pre-determined 
performance cntena lnd1v1dual part1c1pants' award levels are 
determined by the Committee annually based on these cr1tena 
and, with due cons1derat1on of business and personal 
performance 

Executive Directors are ehg1ble to receive awards with a value 
of up to 100% of base salary per annum and other executives 
up to 75% of base salary per annum Awards are earned based 
on an equal we1ght1ng of relative total shareholder return 
(TSR) performance and absolute underlying earnings per share 
(EPS) growth 

The EPS performance cntenon for the PSP awards that were made 
1n 2009/2010 and earlier years was the same as that applied to the 
DAB (outlined above) 

TSR performance for the purposes of PSP awards made m 
2009/2010 and earher years 1s measured against the constituents 
of the following comparator group of companies 

Babcock International pie 
BAE Systems pie 
BBA Av1at1on pie 
Bodycote 
International pie 
Capita Group pie 
Chemnng Group pie 
Cobham pie 
Cookson Group pie 
GKN pie 
Halma pie 
Hampson lndustnes PLC 
IMI pie 

Invensys pie 
log1ca pie 
Meggitt pie 
The Morgan Crucible 
Company pie 
Rolls-Royce pie 
Serco pie 
Senior pie 

Tomkins pie 
Ultra Electronics pie 
V1ctrex Group pie 
WS Atkins pie 
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Corporate governance 
Remuneration report continued 

Performance Share Plan (PSP) continued 

The TSR element 1s earned only 1f relatwe performance 1s at least 
at median against this comparator group over a three-year 
performance penod, calculated by an independent third party 

The graph below illustrates the TSR performance cond1t1on 

Directors' terms and cond1t1ons 

Personal shareholding policy 

The Committee believes that a meaningful way to align Executives' 
interests with those of shareholders 1s for the Executives to build 
up and retain a personal holding 1n Q1net1Q shares 

The CEO and CFO are required to hold shares 1n Q1net1Q with a 
value equivalent to one times their base salary 1n Qmet1Q shares 

David Mellors, who 101ned on 20 August 2008, has been given four 
years to build up such a shareholding Leo Quinn has already met 
the Committee's guideline on m1n1mum shareholding 
requirement 

Direct reports of the CEO are required to hold the equivalent 
of 50% of their base salary 1n Q1net1Q shares These can be 
accumulated over a four year penod following appointment 

Service agreements for the Executive and the Non-executive Directors are reviewed annually and amended as appropriate 

Executives 
Leo Quinn 
David Mellors 
Non-executives 
Mark Elliott (Group Chairman) 
Sir David lees 
Cohn Balmer 
Noreen Doyfe 
Admiral Ed G1ambast1arn 
Admiral Sir James Burnell-Nugent11 

Paul Murrayb 

David Langstaff 
Former Director 
Nick Luff" 
•Admiral Sir James Burnell-Nugent was appointed to the Board on 10 April 2010 
t>Paul Murray was appointed to the Board on 25 October 2010 
<David Langstaff resigned from the Board on 18 Apnl 2011 
d Nick luff resigned from the Board on 31 December 2010 

Notice to be given 

12 months 
12 months 

Date of most recent 
service agreement Date of apeomtment 

28 October 2009 November 2009 
20May2008 August 2008 

10 February 2010 June 2009 
20 January 2006 August 2005 
20 January 2006 February 2003 

16 February 2006 October 2005 
31 January 2008 February 2008 

lOApnl 2010 Apnl 2010 
25 October 2010 October 2010 

4 August 2009 September 2009 

16 February 2006 June 2004 

Qmet1Q's policy 1s that Executive Directors should have service agreements with a rolhng term prov1d1ng for a maximum of one year's 
notice Consequently, no Executive Director has a contractual notice period 1n excess of 12 months In the event of early term1nat1on, 
this ensures that compensation ts restricted to a maximum of 12 months' basic salary and benefits The Committee will generally 
consider m1t1gat1on to reduce the compensation payable to a departing Executive Director 
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Non-executive Directors' terms, cond1t1ons and fees 
The Group Chairman reviews the fees of the Non-executive 
Directors, other than his own, and makes recommendations to 
the Board Non-executive Drrectors receive add1t1onal fees as 
agreed by the Board for chairing Board committees to take 
account of the add1t1onal respons1b1l1t1es of the role The 

Chairman's fees are reviewed by the Senior Independent Non­
execut1ve Director who makes recommendatrons to the Board 

The level of fees paid by UK organ1sat1ons of a s1m1lar size and 
complexity to Qmet1Q 1s considered 1n setting the 
remuneration policy for Non-executive Drrectors The fees are 
neither performance related nor pensionable Non-executive 
Directors are not ehg1ble to part1c1pate 1n bonus, profit sharrng 
or employee share schemes 

A revrew of Non-executive Director's fees was earned out in 
July 2010, using an independent market survey, which resulted 
m no changes being made to the ex1st1ng fee structures as 
shown below 

Non-executive Chairman 
Basic fee for UK Non-executive Director 

Basic fee for US resident Non-executive Director 
Addrt1onal fee for chairing a Committee 
Additional fee to Deputy Charrman/Semor 
Independent Non-executrve Director 

2010/2011 Fees 

£225,000 
£40,000 

US$100,000 
or £50,CXXJ 

£7,000 
£10,000 

As the Group Chairman 1s a US resident, the Board has agreed 
an accommodation allowance of £75,000 per annum 

Excluding the Group Chairman, an add1t1onal fee of US$4,000 rs 
payable to US-resrdent Non-executive Directors when they 
attend Board Meetings tn the UK Wrth effect from 29 July 
2010, to align UK Non-executive Directors, UK resident Non­
execut1ve Directors, are paid an add1t1onal fee of £2,500 for 
attending meetings held 1n the US 

Non-executive Drrectors' letters of appointment are renewed 
on a rolling 12 month basis subject to reappointment at the 
Annual General Meeting There are no prov1s1ons for 
compensation on early termrnatron 

Management of share based rewards 
The Committee also oversees arrangements for share-based 
reward in respect of managers and the wider workforce 

Employee plans 
The Share Incentive Plan 1s operated 1n the UK and Australia 1n 
the form of a share purchase award with match1ng company 
contribution to encourage employee ownership and 
engagement in the business 

Executive plans 
In add1t1on to the VSP and PSP, the Company operates the 
following executive share plans 

• Q1net1Q Share Option Scheme (QSOS) - no awards were 

made durrng the year under QSOS but prov1s1on exists 

for annual awards up to a face value of 300% of salary 

• Stock Award Plan - Restricted Stock Units (RSU)- RSU 

awards are used rn Q1net1Q North Amenca to retain and 

motivate senior managers The RSU awards vest m four 

equal tranches over a four-year period Vesting of half 

of the award JS subject to time-based vesting cntena and 

vesting of the other half 1s subject to performance cntena 

ltnked to organic profit growth as follows 

% Organic operatmg income 
growth achieved 

<5% 
5%-12 5% 
>12 5%-15% 

% RSU award vesting 

0% 
Between 25%-100% (linear) 
100%-125% (linear) 

Awards are granted based on business performance, balanced 
with the need to attract, retarn and motivate h1gh-cal1bre 
employees Executive Directors do not part1c1pate 1n the two 
plans shown 

D1lut1on limits 
In accordance with ABI gu1deltnes, no more than 10% of the 
Company's issued share capital wrll be used under all of the 
Company's share schemes during a ten year period The 
d1lut1on as at 31 March 2011 was s1gn1ficantly below this 
10% level, and below 5% 1n respect of executive schemes In 
add1t1on, the Board intends to continue to satisfy a proportion 
of awards with purchased shares held 1n an employee benefit 
trust 

Performance graph 
The graph below shows the Company's TSR over the perrod 
from flotation to 31 March 2011 compared to the FTSE 250 
and FTSE 350 Aerospace & Defence 1nd1ces over the same 
period Q1net1Q 1s a constituent of both 1ndrces 
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Corporate governance 
Remuneration report continued 

Audited mformatmn 

Directors' remuneration 
The rnformat1on about Directors' remuneration and Directors' interests on pages 42 to 44 has been audited 

The table below shows the aggregate remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2011 

Payment 1n 
Sala!]'./fees· Bonusb Other benefrtsc heu of pension 

Executives 
LeoQumn £580,000 £580,000 £22,156 £145,000 
David Mellors £300,000 £300,000 £17,800 
Non-executives 
Mark Elhot (Group Chairman) £225,000 £75,000 
Sir David Lees £64,CX>O 
Noreen Doyle £52,000 
Cohn Balmer £45,000 
Paul Murrayd £17,436 
Admiral Ed G1ambastlan1 £79,652 
Admiral Sir James Burnell-Nugent £41,931 
David Langstaff £65,538 
Former Directors 
Sir John Chisholm 
Peter Fellner 
Graham Lavee £100,000 
Nick Luff £35,250 
Total £1,605,807 £880,000 £114,956 £145,000 

•Before C1dJustments to basic pay for salary sC1cr1frce pensions 
bThefigure shown for bonus IS pC11d m both C<'lsh and shares under the DAB 
'Includes car allowance <'Ind health insurance benefits for executives and accommodation allowance for Group Cha1rman 
'Paul Murray was appointed to the Board on 25 October 2010 

Total Total 
2011 2010 

£1,327,156 £886,564 
£617,800 £318,085 

£300,000 £72,271 
£64,000 £64,000 
£52,000 £44,667 
£45,000 £40,000 
£17,436 
£79,652 £62,880 
£41,931 
£65,538 £42,643 

£209,716 
£16,028 

£100,000 £948,805 
£35,250 £47,000 

£2,745,763 £2,752,659 

"Graham love agreed to provide services to the Company on a consultancy basis to ensure a smooth trans1t1on on the DTR project, forwh1ch he received a final payment 
of £100,000 m May 2010 

Pensions 
Contnbutrons to the Defined Contr1but1on section of the Qmet1Q Pensron Scheme were as follows 

Executive Directors 
Davrd Mellors 

Leo Quinn received contnbutrons of 25% of base salary 1n lieu of a pension 
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Interests of Executive Directors under long-term incentive share plans 
Market 

Number at Exercised Number at pnceon 
1Apnl Granted /vested Lapsed 31 March date of Earliest vest latest 

Grant date 2010 m:i:ear 1r'l:tear 1n :i:ear 2011 ~nt date vest date 
Leo Quinn 
Matching award TSR" 16/12/09 362,844 362,844 16Sp" 28/10/13 28/10/13 
Matching award EPSc 16/12/09 362,845 362,845 165pa 28/10/13 28/10/13 
PSP Mrrror TSR' 16/12/09 210,450 210,450 16Sp"' 28/10/13 28/10/13 
PSP Mirror EPS' 16/12/09 210,450 210,450 165pa 28/10/13 28/10/13 
VSPTSR 29/07/10 271,800 271,800 29/07/13 29/07/13 
VSPTSR 29/07/10 271,800 271,800 29/07/14 29/07/14 
VSP PBT 29/07/10 634,200 634,200 29/07/13 29/07/13 
VSP PBT 29/07/10 634,200 634,200 29/07/14 29/07/14 
Davtd Mellors 
PSPTSR 21/08/08 75,567 75,567 217 Bp' 21/08/11 21/08/11 
P5P EPS 21/08/08 75,567 75,567 217 Sp' 21/08/11 21/08/11 
PSPTSR 04/08/09 100,000 100,000 1350p 04/08/12 04/08/12 
PSP EPS 04/08/09 100,000 100,000 1350p 04/08/12 04/08/12 
DAB Match 01/07/09 6,859 6,859 144 7p 01/07/12 01/07/12 
VSPTSR 29/07/10 135,900 135,900 29/07/13 29/07/13 
VSPTSR 29/07/10 135,900 135,900 29/07/14 29/07/14 
VSPPBT 29/07/10 317,100 317,100 - 29/07/13 29/07/13 
VSP PBT 29/07/10 317,100 317,100 - 29/07/14 29/07/14 

1,504,582 2, 718,IXXJ - 4,222,582 

a Shares awarded to the CEO in 2009 were based on an average market price of 138p representmg the average price over the ten days before io1n1ng 
bShares awarded to the CFO in 2008 were based on a market price of 198 Sp, as at 7 August 2008 
'On appointment the CEO was granted a mirror PSP award, subject to the same EPS and TSR performance condtt1ons as above In add1t1on, the CEO invested c £1m 1n Qmet1Q 
shares, for which he received an add1t1onal matching PSP award, subject to the same EPS and TSR performance cond1t1ons 

The interests m the table above are sub1ect to the performance cond1t1ons descnbed 1n note 34 The pnce of a Q1net1Q share at 
31 March 2011was121 7p The highest and lowest prices of a Q1net1Q share dunng the year ended 31 March 2011were139 6p 
and 96 Op respectively 

Executive Directors' interest in the All-Employee Share Incentive Plan {SIP) 
Partnership 

Interest as at shares Interest as at 
lApnl acquired 31 March 

2010 dunn ear 
LeoQwnn 1,146 
David Mellors 1,075 1,238 

The SIP 1s HMRC approved and under the plan rules, matching shares are not awarded until the three year time cond1t1on has been 
sat1sf1ed Therefore these shares are not included 1n the above table 

2011 

1,146 
2,313 

QlnetlQ Group pie Annual Report and Accounts 2011 43 



Corporate governance 
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Interests of Directors in office as at 31 March 2011 (including shares held under SIP and DAB) 

Executtves 

LeoQumn 
David Mellors 

Non-executives 
Mark Elhott (Group Chairman) 
Sir David Lees 

Calm Balmer 

Noreen Doyte 

Admiral Ed G1ambast1an1 
Admiral Sir James Burnell-Nugenta 
Paul Murrayb 
Former Directors 
David Langstaff 
Nick Luff" 
•Admiral Sir James Burnell Nugent was appointed to the Board on 10 ApnJ 2010 
"Paul Murray was appomted to the Board on 25 October 2010 
'David Langstaff resigned from the Board on 18 Apnl 2011 
d Nick luff resigned from the Board on 31 December 2010 
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Numberlp Number lp 
ordinary ordinary 

shares held at shares held at 
27 May 2011 31 March 2011 

654,563 654,285 
26,213 25,934 

125,000 125,000 
100,000 100,000 

7,662 7,662 
24,662 24,662 

5,232 5,232 
11,419 11,419 
56,077 56,077 

52,000 

Numberlp 
ordinary 

shares held at 
lApnl 2010 

602,757 
24,284 

100,000 
83,000 

17,000 

12,000 
70,000 



Other statutory information 

Principal act1v1ty 
Q1net1Q Group pie 1s a public l1m1ted company, hsted on the 

London Stock Exchange and incorporated 1n England and Wales 
with registered number 4586941 

Q1net1Q Group pie is the parent company of a Group whose 
principal act1v1t1es during the year were the supply of technical 
support, tra1nrng, test and evaluation, and know-how to customers 
1n the global defence, aerospace and security markets Customers 
include government organ1sat1ons, such as the UK MOD and the 
US OoD and a range of other government and commerc1al 
customers globally 

Research and development 
One of the Group's principal business streams 1s the prov1s1on 
of funded research and development (R&D) for customers The 
Group also invests 1n the commerc1allsat1on of prom1s1ng 
technologies across all areas of business 

The maJorrty of R&D-related expenditure 1s incurred on behalf of 
customers as part of spec1f1c funded research contracts R&D costs 
are included 1n the income statement and R&D income 1s reflected 
wrthm revenue In the financial year, the Group recorded £395 Om 
(2010 £425 Gm) of total R&D-related expenditure, of which 
£382 Om was customer-funded work (2010 £418 3m) 

In the year to 31 March 2011, £13 Om (2010 £7 3m) of internally 
funded R&D was charged to the income statement £0 3m 
(2010 £0 6m) of late-stage development costs was cap1talrsed 
and £2 2m (2010 £3 Om) of cap1tahsed development costs was 
amortised 1n the year 

Polley and practice on payment of suppliers 
The po hey of the Group 1s to agree terms of payment prror to 
commencing trade with a supplier and to abide by those terms 
based on the timely subm1ss1on of satisfactory 1nvo1ces In the 
financial year to 31 March 2011 the Group has implemented a 
pohcy of agreeing payment terms of not less than 60 days with 
suppliers, except in exceptronal circumstances At 31 March 2011, 
the trade creditors of the Group represented 24 days of annual 
purchases (2010 28 days) 

Political and charitable contnbutlons 
Q1net1Q does not make poht1cal donations to partres as that term 
would be commonly recognised The legal def1n1t1on of that term 
1s, however, quite broad and may have the effect of coverrng a 
number of normal business act1v1t1es that would not commonly be 
perceived to be poht1cal donations, such as sponsorship of events 

These may include leg1t1mate 1nteract1ons 1n making MPs and 
others 1n the pohttcal world aware of key industry issues and 
matters affecting Qmet1Q, which make an important contrrbutron 
to their understanding of Q1net1Q, the markets 1n which 1t operates 
and their constituents work During the last financial year this 
expenditure amounted to no more than £15,000 (2010 £15,000) 

Charrtable donations durrng the year across the Group amounted 
to £196,900 (2010 £114,100) 

Share capital 
As at 31 March 2011 the Company had allotted and fully paid 
up share capital of 660,476,373 ordinary shares of lp each wrth 
an aggregate nominal value of £6 6m (including shares held by 
employee share trusts) and one Special Share with an aggregate 
nominal value of £1 

Details of the shares issued during the financial year are shown 
1n note 33 on page 92 

The nghts of ordinary shareholders are set out 1n the Articles of 
Association The holders of ordinary shares are entttled to receive 
the Company's reports and accounts, to attend and speak at 
General Meetings of the Company, to exercise voting rrghts in 
person or by appo1nt1ng a proxy and to receive a d1v1dend where 
declared or paid out of profits available for such a purpose 

The Special Share 1s held by HM Government through the 
Secretary of State for Defence and 1t confers certain rrghts under 
the Articles of Assoc1at1on which are detailed 1n note 33 on page 
92 These include the rrght to require certain persons with a 
materral interest 1n Q1net1Q to dispose of some or all of th err 
ordinary shares on the grounds of national securrty or conflict of 
interest The Special Share may only be held by and transferred to 
HM Government At any time the Special Shareholder may require 
Q1net1Q to redeem the share at par and tf wound up the Special 
Shareholder would be entitled to be repaid capital before other 
shareholders Any varratton of the rights attaching to the Special 
Share requrres the written approval of the MOD 
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Other statutory mformat1on contmued 

Change of control - significant agreements 
The following s1gn1frcant agreements contain prov1s1ons ent1tlmg 
the counter parties to require prror approval, exercise term1nat1on, 
alteration or other similar rrghts 1n the event of a change of control 
of the Company or 1f the Company no longer remains a UK 
company 

• The Combined Aerral Target Service contract 1s a 20-year 
contract awarded to Qmet1Q by MOD on 14 December 2006 
The terms ofth1s contract require Q1net1Q Limited to remain a 
UK company which 1s incorporated under the laws of any part 
of the UK or an overseas company registered 1n the UK and that 
at least SO% of the Board of Directors are UK nationals The 
terms also contain change of control cond1t1ons and restricted 
share transfer cond1t1ons which require prror approval from HM 
Government 1f there 1s a material change 1n the ownership of 
Q1net1Q ltm1ted's share capital, unless the change relates to 
shares listed on a regulated market, with material defined as 
being 10% or more of the share capital Add1t1onally, there are 
restnctrons on transfers of shares to persons from countries 
appearing on the restrrcted list as issued by HM Government 

• The Long-Term Partnering Agreement (LTPA) rs a 25-year 
contract which Qinet1Q limited signed on 28 February 2003 
to provide test, evaluation and training services to the MOD 
This contract contains cond1t1ons where the pnor approval of 
HM Government 1s required tf the contractor, Q1net1Q Limited, 
ceases to be a subs1drary of the Q1net1Q Group, except where 
such change in control is permitted under the Shareholders 
Agreement to which MOD 1s a party 

The Company IS party to a multi-currency Revolving Credit Fac1llty, 
with a US$250m tranche and a £118m tranche, provided by the 
Group's six global relat1onsh1p banks and expiring 4 February 2016 
Under the terms of the facility, 1f there 1s a change of control of 
the Company, any lender may request by not less than 60 days' 
notice to the Company, that its commitment be cancelled and all 
outstanding amounts be repaid to that lender at the expiry of such 
notice period 

On 6 December 2006, Q1net1Q US Holdings, Inc, formerly known 
as Qinet1Q North America, Inc (as Borrower) and the Company (as 
Guarantor) entered mto a Note Purchase Agreement to issue 
US$13Sm 5 44% Senror Notes due 6 December 2013 and US$125m 
5 50% Senior Notes due 6 December 2016 Under the terms of the 
agreement, 1f either (1) the MOD ceases to retain 1n its capacity as 
Special Shareholder its Special Shareholders Rights, or (2) there 1s 
a change of control of the Company, and (3) 1n either case where 
there has been a rating downgrade, or where there are no rated 
securities (unless a rating of at least investment grade 1s not 
obtained within 90 days of the change of control), the Notes must 
be offered for prepayment by the Company w1th1n 21 days of the 
change of control The prepayment date would be no later than 45 
days after the offer of prepayment by the Company 
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On S February 2009, Qmet1Q US Holdings, Inc, formerly known 
as Qinet1Q North Amenca, Inc (as Borrower) and the Company 
(as Guarantor) entered into a Note Purchase Agreement to issue 
US$62m 7 13% Senior Notes due 5 February 2016 and US$238m 
7 62% Senior Notes due 5 February 2019 Under the terms of the 
agreement, 1f either (1) the MOD ceases to retain in its capacity 
as Special Shareholder its Special Shareholders Rights, or (2) there 
1s a change of control of the Company, the Notes must be offered 
for prepayment w1th1n 21 days of the change of control The 
prepayment date would be no later than 45 days after the offer 
of prepayment by the Company 

Maior shareholders 
At 26 May 2011, being the latest practicable date prror to the 
issuance ofth1s report, the Group had been notified of the 
following shareholdings 1n accordance with the Vote Holder 
and Issuer Not1f1cat1on Rules, which form part of the FSA's 
UK Disclosure Rules and Transparency Rules 

Artisan Partners 
Ruane, Cunniff & Goldfarb, Inc 
F1del1ty International Ltd 
Frdehty Management and Research Company 
Schroders 
Investec 

Allotment/purchase of own shares 

13% 
11% 

5% 
5% 
5% 
5% 

At the Company's AGM held 1n July 2010, the shareholders 
passed resolutions which authorised the Directors to allot 
relevant securities up to an aggregate nominal value of 
£4,403,174 (£2,201,S87 pursuant only to a rrghts issue), to 
d1sapply pre-emption nghts (up to 5% of the issued ordinary 
share capital} and for the Company to purchase ordinary shares 
(up to 10% of its ordinary share capital) Equivalent resolutions 
wdl be laid before the 2011 AGM 

During the year, the Company provided funding to the trustees 
of its employee share schemes to make market purchases of 
the Company's ordinary shares to cover future obl1gat1ons under 
outstanding share-option and other share-based awards Further 
details are disclosed 1n note 34 on page 93 



Restnct1ons on transfer of shares 
As outlined m note 33 on page 92, the Special Share confers 
certain nghts under the Company's Articles of Assoc1at1on to 
require certain persons with an 1nterest 1n Q1net1Q's shares 
which exceed certain prescribed thresholds to dispose of some 
or all of their ordinary shares on grounds of national security or 
conflict of interest 

Articles of Assoc1at1on 
Save 1n the respect of any variation to the nghts attaching to 
the Special Share, the Company has not adopted any special 
rules relating to the amendment of the Company's Articles of 
Assoc1atron other than as provided under UK corporate law 

Employee Share Scheme 
Equ1n1t1 Share Plan Trustees L1mtted acts as trustee rn respect of 

all ordinary shares held by employees under the Q1net1Q Group 
pie Share Incentive Plan ('the Plan') Equrn1t1 Share Plan Trustees 
l1m1ted will send a Form of D1rect1on to all employees holding 
shares under the Plan, and will vote on all resolutions proposed 
at general meetings 1n accordance with the 1nstruct1ons received 
In circumstances where ordinary shares are held by the corporate 
sponsored nominee service, Equ1n1t1 Corporate Nominees l1m1ted 
will send a Proxy Form to all shareholders utilising such corporate 
nominee service, and will vote on all resolutions proposed at 
general meetings in accordance with the 1nstruct1ons received 

Auditor 
KPMG Audit pie has expressed its w11/1ngness to continue rn office 
as auditor and a resolut[on to reappoint them wit/ be proposed at 
the Annual General Meeting 

Statement of disclosure of information to auditor 
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this 
Directors' report have confirmed that, so far as the Directors 
are aware, there 1s no relevant audit 1nformat1on of which the 
Company's audrtor 1s unaware, and the Directors have taken all 
the steps they reasonably ought to have taken as Directors to 
make themselves aware of any relevant audit 1nformat1on and to 
establrsh that the Company's auditor 1s aware of that 1nformat1on 

Annual General Meeting 
The Company's Annual General Meeting will be held on Tuesday, 2 
August 2011at1 OOpm, at The Aud1tonum, JP Morgan Cazenave, 
20 Moorgate, London EC2R 6DA Details of the business to be 
proposed and voted upon at the meeting 1s contarned rn the 
Notice of the Annual General Meeting which 1s sent to all 
shareholders and also published on the Company's website 
(www Q1netiQ com) 

By order of the Board 

Jon Messent 
Company Secretary 

Cody Technology Park 
lvely Road 
Farnborough 
Hampshire GU14 OLX 

27 May 2011 
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Corporate governance 

Statement of Directors' responsibilities 
m respect of the Annual Report and financial statements 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and 

the Group and parent company f1nanc1al statements 1n accordance 
with applrcable law and regulations 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare group and parent 
company f1nanc1al statements for each financial year Under that 
law they are required to prepare the Group frnanc1al statements rn 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law 
and have elected to prepare the parent company financial 
statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and 
applrcable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) 

Under company law the Directors must not approve the f1nanc1al 
statements unless they are sat1sf1ed that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent company and 
of their profit or loss for that penod In preparing each of the 
Group and parent company f1nanc1al statements, the Drrectors 
are required to 

• select su 1table accounting pol1c1es and then apply them 
consistently, 

• make Judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent, 

• for the Group fmanc1al statements, state whether they have 
been prepared rn accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU 

• for the parent company financial statements, state whether 
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained 
rn the pa rent company financial statements, and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless 1t 1s 1nappropnate to presume that the Group and the 
parent company will continue 1n business 

The Drrectors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are suffrc1ent to show and explain the parent 
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial pos1t1on of the parent company and enable 
them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006 They have general respons1b1hty for taking 
such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets 
of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
1rregulant1es 
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Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are 

also responsible for preparing a Directors' report, Directors' 
remuneration report and corporate governance statement 
that comply with that law and those regulations 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and 1ntegnty 
of the corporate and f1nanc1al information included on the 
Company's website leg1slat1on m the UK governing the 
preparation and d1ssem1nat1on offmancial statements may 
differ from leg1slat1on mother 1unsd1ct1ons 

Respons1b1llty statement of the Directors m respect 
of the Annual Report 
We, the Directors of the Company, confirm that to the best 
of our knowledge 

• the f1nanc1al statements of the Group have been prepared 
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, and for the 
Company under UK GAAP, 1n accordance with applicable 
United Kingdom law and give a true and fair view of the assets, 
l1ab1lit1es, financial pos1t1on and profit or loss of the Group, and 

• the Directors' Report includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the bus mess and the pos1t1on of the Group, 

together with a descrtption of the principal nsks and 
uncertainties that face the Group 

By order of the Board 

Mark Elliott 
Chairman 
27 May2011 

Leo Qurnn 
Chief Executive Officer 

""'"') 
David Mellors 
Chief F1nanc1al Officer 
27 May 2011 



Independent auditor's report to the 
members of QinetiQ Group pie 
We have audited the f1nanc1al statements of Qmet1Q Group pie 

for the year ended 31 March 2011 set out on pages 50 to 105 
The financial reporting framework that has been apphed m the 
preparation of the Group f1nancral statements 1s appltcable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 
adopted by the EU The f1nanc1al reporting framework that has 
been applied 1n the preparation of the parent company financial 
statements 1s applicable law and UK Accounting Standards 
(UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) 

This report IS made solely to the company's members, as a body, 
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the company's members those matters we are required 
to state to them 1n an audrtor's report and for no other purpose 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume respons1b1hty to anyone other than the company and the 
company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed 

Respective respons1b1ht1es of Directors and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Directors' respons1b1ht1es statement 
set out on page 48, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view Our respons1b1hty 1s to audit, 
and express an op1n1on on, the f1nancral statements 1n accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing 
{UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors 

Scope of the audit of the fmanc1al statements 
A descnpt1on of the scope of an audit of financial statements 
1s provided on the APB's website at 
www frc org uk/apb/scope/pnvate cfm 

Oprn1on on financial statements 
In our opinion 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of 
the Group's and of the parent company's affairs as at 31 March 
2011 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended, 

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared 
1n accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, 

• the parent company f1nanc1al statements have been properly 
prepared 1n accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practices, and 

• the financial statements have been prepared 1n accordance 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and, 
as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation 

Oprn1on on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006 
In our op1n1on 
• the part of the Directors' remuneration report to be audited 

has been properly prepared m accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006, and 

• the 1nformat1on given 1n the Directors' report for the f1nancral 
year for which the financial statements are prepared 1s 

consistent with the f1nanc1al statements 

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception 
We have nothing to report 1n respect of the following 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you 
1f, 1n our opinion 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent 
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not v1s1ted by us, or 

• the parent company financial statements and the part of 
the Directors' remuneration report to be audited are not 
in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or 

• certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration spec1f1ed by 
law are not made, or 

• we have not received all the rnformat1on and explanations 
we require for our audit 

Under the listing Rules we are required to review 

the Directors' statement, set out on page 34, 1n relation to 
going concern, 

• the part of the corporate governance statement on pages 
28 to 35 relating to the Company's compliance with the nine 
prov1s1ons of the June 2008 Combined Code spec1f1ed for our 
review, and 

• certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board 

a:ors·~::\·:~ ~/ 
M1keMaloney _' ... ~=z__) 
Senior Statutory Auditor 

/ 

for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Pie, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
15 Canada Square 
London 
E14 SGL 

27 May 2011 
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Consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 31 March 

2011 2010 

Before Before 
aCQUlSll:IOn Acquis1t1on acqu1s1t1on Acqws1t1on 

amortrsatton amortisation amort1sat1on amort1sat1on 
and specific andspecrfic and specific and specific 

non-recurring non-recurrmg non-recurring non-recurring 
all fi~ures m £ mrlhon note items items Total items items Total 

Revenue 
'· 3 

1,702 6 1,702 6 1,625 4 1,625 4 

Operating costs excludmg 
deprec1at1on and amort1sat1on (1,516 4) (58 5) (1,574 9) (1.465 8) (42 1) (1,507 9) 

Share of post-tax profit of equity 
accounted 101nt ventures and 
associates 16 02 02 02 02 
Other income 2 41 41 69 69 

EBITOA (earnings before Interest, 
tax, def!reclatlon and amort1sat1on) 1905 (58 5) 132 0 166 7 (42 1) 124 6 

Deprec1at1on and 1mpa1rment of 
property, plant and equrpment 3, 14 (33 6) (59) (39 5) (35 1) (24 O) (59 1) 
Amort1sat1on and impairment of 

1ntans1ble assets 11, 12 (115) (26 3) (37 8) (113) (79 5) (90 8) 

Graue oeeratlng erofit/(loss) 3 145 4 (90 7) 54 7 1203 (145 6) (25 3) 

Gam/(loss) on business comb1nat1ons 
and divestments and unreahsed 
impairment of investments 5 27 27 (6 2) (6 2) 
Fmance mcome 6 70 4 70 4 48 1 48 1 
Finance expense 6 (101 2) (101 2) (82 7) (82 7) 

Proflt/(loss) before tax 4 1146 (88 0) 26 6 85 7 (151 8) (66 1) 

Taxation (expense)/lncome 7 (218) 02 (21 6) (12 9) 15 7 28 

Prol1t/(loss) for the year attributable 
to egu1ty shareholders 92 8 (87 8) 50 72 8 (136 1) (63 3) 

Earnings per share 

Basic 10 0 8p (9 7)p 
Drluted 10 0 8p (9 7)p 

Speafic non-recurring items include amounts relating to restructurmg charges, pension curtailment gams, contingent payments on acqumt1on treated as remuneration net 
1nventorywnte-offs 1n respect of cap1tallsed OTR-programme bid costs, 1mpa1rment of property, plant and equipment 1mpa1rment ofmtang1ble assets,ga1n/(loss) on business 
combinations and divestments unrealised 1mpa1rments of rnvestments, and tax thereon See note4 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 March 

all figures m £ million 

Proflt/(loss) for the year 

Other comprehensive 1ncome/(expense) 

Effective portion of change m fair value of net investment hedges 

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations 

Movement 1n fair value of hedging derivatives 

Reclasslficat1on of hedging derivatives to the rncome statement 

Movement 1n deferred tax on hedging denvat1ves 

Fair value movement on available for sale investments 

Actuanal loss recognised m defined benefit pension schemes 

Increase 1n deferred tax asset due to actuarial movement 1n pension deficit 

Other comprehensive 1ncome/(expense) for the year, net of tax 

Total comprehensive 1ncome/(expense) for the year attributable to equity holders 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 March 

Issued caprtal 
share redemption Share Hedge Translation 

all figures an£ m1ll1on capital reserve premium reserve reserve 

At 1 April 2010 66 39 9 147 6 (12 1) 54 4 

Total comprehensive 
mcome/(expense) for the year (11) (19 4) 

Transfers 13 4 (13 4) 

Purchase of own shares 

Share-based e:a~ments 

At 31 March 2011 66 39 9 147 6 02 21 6 

At 1 Apnl 2009 66 399 147 6 (16 7) 56 5 
Total comprehenstve 

mcome/(expense) for the year 46 (2 1) 

Drvrdends paid 

Purchase of own shares 

Share-based e:a~ments 

At 31 March 2010 66 39 9 147 6 (12 1) 544 

Retained 
earnings 

237 2 

16 

(O 6) 

33 

2415 

3687 

(104 9) 

(31 6) 

(O 8) 

58 

237 2 

2011 2010 

50 (63 3) 

28 7 

(19 4) (30 8) 

(0 4) (O 2) 

41 66 

(48) (18) 

17 

(4 7) (60 2) 

13 16 9 

(23 9) (391) 

(18 9) (1024) 

Non-
controlling Total 

Total interest eqwty 

473 6 01 473 7 

(18 9) (18 9) 

(O 6) (06) 

33 33 

4574 01 457 5 

602 6 01 602 7 

(102 4) (1024) 

(31 6) (316) 

(08) (08) 

58 58 

473 6 01 473 7 
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Consolidated balance sheet 
as at 31 March 

all figures m £ m1\hon 

Non-current assets 
Goodw11J 

Intangible assets 

Property, plant and equipment 

Other f1nanc1al assets 
Equity accounted investments 

Other investments 

Deferred tax asset 

Current assets 
lnventones 
Other fmanc1al assets 
Trade and other receNables 

Investments 
Assets class1f1ed as held for sale 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Total assets 

Current l1ab1htles 
Trade and other payables 

Current tax 
Prov1s1ons 

Other financial l1ab1ht1es 

Non-current habihtres 

Retirement benefit obl1gat~on 

Deferred tax hab1l1ty 

Prov1s1ons 

Other f1nanc1al l1ab1ht1es 

Other payables 

Total hab1ht1es 

Net assets 

Capital and reserves 

Ordmary shares 

Capital redemptron reserve 

Share premium account 

Hedging and translation reserve 

Retamed earnings 

Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the parent company 

Non-controlling mterest 

Total shareholders' funds 

Note 

11 

12 

14 

15 

16 

17 

25 

18 

15 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

26 

39 

25 
24 

27 

23 

33 

2011 

5211 

103 2 

2609 

82 

11 

48 

33 8 

9331 

45 4 

30 

389 5 

23 
75 

102 5 

550 2 

1,483 3 

(465 6) 

(4 2) 

(20 4) 

(97 2) 

(587 4) 

(124 6) 

(12 6) 

(277 4) 
(23 8) 

(438 4) 

(1,025 8) 

457 5 

66 

399 
147 6 

218 

2415 

4574 

01 

457 5 
1 Goodwill and deferred tax Hab11it1es have been restated to reflect fair value changes m respect of an acquisition in the year ended 31 March 2010 (see note 13) 

The f1nanc1al statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 27 May 2011 and were signed 
on its behalf by 

Mark Elhott 
Chairman 

Leo Quinn 
Chief Executive Officer 
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David Mellors 
Chief F1nanc1al Officer 

2010 
{Restated)1 

577 8 

141 7 

285 5 

100 

09 

48 

28 7 

1,049 4 

798 

78 

4238 

23 

51 

639 

582 7 

1,632 1 

(396 4) 

(7 5) 

(161) 

(8 9) 

(428 9) 

(147 3) 

(8 9) 

(7 9) 

(530 2) 

(35 2) 

(729 5) 

(1,158 4) 

4737 

66 

399 
147 6 

42 3 

237 2 

473 6 

01 

473 7 



Consolidated cash flow statement 
for the year ended 31 March 

all fiB:ures in £ m1lhon note 2011 2010 

Net cash inflow from operations before restructuring costs 29 287 6 204 6 

Net cash outflow relat1nS: to UK restructuring (318) (35 4) 

Cash inflow from operations 255 8 169.2 

Tax (pa1d)/rece1ved (42 9) 15 

Interest received 03 04 

Interest aid (28 9) (36 8) 

Net cash Inflow from o~eratiniz act1v1t1es 184 3 134.3 

Purchases of mtang1ble assets (2 4) (6 2) 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (19 7) (24 1) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 03 

Costs from sale of property, plant and equipment (0 7) 

Eq1..uty accounted investments and other investment funding (11) 

Purchase of subs1d1ary undertakings (16 3) (463) 

Net cash acquired with subs1d1ary undertakings 05 07 

Proceeds from sale of interests 1n subsrd1ary undertakins:s 38 2 211 

Net cash lnflow/(outflow) from Investing activities 06 (56 6) 

Repayment of bank borrowmgs (1441) (232 1) 

Proceeds from bank borrowings 49 

Payment of bank loan arrangement fees (2 4) 

Settlement of forward contracts designated as net mvestment hedges (14 3) 

Purchase of own shares (O 6) (08) 

D1v1dends paid to shareholders (31 6) 

Capital element of fmance lease rental payments (2 8) (28) 

Cae1tal element of finance lease rental rece1~ts 30 30 

Net cash outflow from financing act1v1t1es (142 0) {278 6) 

lncrease/(decrease) 1n cash and cash equivalents 30 42 9 (200 9) 

Effect of forergn exchange changes on cash and cash equivalents (14) (O 5) 

Cash and cash egu1valents at begmn1ns; of :rear 607 262 1 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 102 2 607 

Cash and cash equivalents 22 102 5 63 9 

Overdrafts 31 (03) (3 2) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 102 2 607 
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Reconciliation of movement in net debt 
for the year ended 31 March 

all figures m f m1ll1on 

lncrease/(decrease) 1n cash and cash equivalents 1n the year 

Cash flows from repayment of bank loans and other financial instruments 
Change 1n net debt resulting from cash flows 
Other non-cash movements 1nclud1ng foreign exchange 

Movement 1n net debt 1n the year 

Net debt at beginning of year 

Net debt at end of the year 
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note 

30 

31 

31 

31 

31 

2011 2010 

42 9 (2009) 

1414 246 2 

184.3 45 3 

12 2 35 2 

196 5 805 

(457 4) (537 9) 

(260 9) (457 4) 



Notes to the financial statements 

1 S1grnf1cant accounting poilc1es 
Accounting pohcres 

With the exceptron of the accounting policy 1n respect of business comb1nat1ons (see below), the following accounting pol1c1es have 
been applied consrstently to all periods presented m dealing with items which are considered matenal m relation to the Group's f1nanc1al 
statements The Group separately presents acqu1s1t1on amort1satron and spec1f1c non-recurnng items in the income statement which, 
in the Judgement of the Directors, need to be disclosed separately by virtue of their size and incidence in order for the reader to obtain 
a proper understanding of the f1nanc1al 1nformat1on Spec1f1c non-recurring items include amounts relating to restructuring costs, 
pension curtailment gains, contingent payments on acqu1s1t1on treated as remuneration, net inventory wnte-offs 1n respect of 
capttaltsed DTR-programme bid costs, tmpairment of property, plant and equipment, 1mpa1rment of intangible assets, ga1n/{loss) 
on business comb1nat1ons and divestments, unrealised impairments of investments, and tax thereon 

Basis of preparation 
The Group's f1nanc1al statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors 1n accordance with International Frnanc1al 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ('Adopted IFRS') and the Companies Act 2006 apphcable to companies reporting under IFRS 
The Company has elected to prepare its parent company f1nanc1al statements in accordance with UK GAAP, these are presented on 
pages 103-105 The financial statements have been prepared under the h1stoncal cost convention, as mod1f1ed by the revaluation of 
available-for-sale frnanc1al assets, and other relevant f1nanc1al assets and hab1ht1es Non-current assets held for sale are held at the lower 
of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell The Group's reporting currency 1s sterling and unless otherwrse stated the f1nanc1al 
statements are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand 

Basis of consohdat1on 
The consolrdated f1nanc1at statements comprise the f1nanc1al statements of the Company and its subs1d1ary undertakings up to 31 March 
2011 The purchase method of accounting has been adopted Those subsrd1ary undertakings acquired or disposed rn the penod are 
included tn the consolidated income statement from the date control is obtained to the date that control is lost (usually on acqu1s1tron 
and disposal respectrvely) A subs1d1ary 1s an entity over which the Group has the power to govern financial and operating pol1c1es 1n 
order to obtarn benefits Potential voting rrghts that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when determ1n1ng control 

An associate IS an undertaking over which the Group exercises s1gn1f1cant influence, usually from 20%-50% of the equity voting nghts, 
over financial and operating policy A JO Int venture 1s an undertak1 ng over which the Group exercises Joint control Associates and JOtnt 
ventures are accounted for using the equity method from the date of acqu1s1t1on up to the date of disposal The Group's investments in 
associates and J01nt ventures are held at cost 1nclud1ng goodwtll on acqu1s1t1on and any post-acqu1s1tron changes 1n the Group's share of 
the net assets of the associate less any impairment to the recoverable amount Where an associate or JO Int venture has net hab1l1t1es, full 
prov1s1on 1s made for the Group's share of hab1ht1es where there 1s a constructive or legal obl1gat1on to provide add1t1onal funding to the 
associate or 101nt venture 

The fmanc1a/ statements of subs1d1anes, Joint ventures and associates are adjusted where necessary to ensure compliance with Group 
accounting pol1c1es 

On consohdat1on, all intra-Group income, expenses and balances are ehmmated 

Revenue 

Revenue represents the value of work performed for customers, and 1s measured net of value added and other sales taxes on the 
following bases 

Service contracts 
The Group's servrce contract arrangements are accounted for under tAS 18 Revenue Revenue 1s recognised once the Grau p has obtained 
the nght to cons1derat1on 1n exchange for its performance This 1s typically when title passes or contractually agreed-upon milestones 
are reached and accepted by the customer No profit 1s recognised on contracts until the outcome of the contract can be reliably 
estimated Profit 1s calculated by reference to rehable estimates of contract revenue and forecast costs after making suitable allowances 
for technical and other nsks related to performance milestones yet to be achieved When 1t 1s probable that total contract costs will 
exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss IS recognised 1mmed1ately as an expense The Group generally does not undertake 
construction contracts 

Goods sold 

Sales of goods are recognised 1n the income statement on delivery of the product or when the s1gn1ficant nsks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred to the customer and revenue and costs can be reliably measured 

Royalties and intellectual property 
Royalty revenue 1s recognised over the penod to which the royalty relates Intellectual property revenue can be attnbuted to either 
perpetual licences or lrm1ted licences L1m1ted licences are granted for a spec1fred time penod and revenue 1s recognised over the penod 
of the licence Perpetual licences are granted for unhm1ted time frames and are recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the customer 
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F1nanc1al statements 
Notes to the financial statements continued 

1 S1gnlf1cant accounting pohc1es continued 
Segmental information 
Segmental information 1s presented according to the Group's management structure and markets in which the Group operates 
A simplified structure has been implemented with effect from 1 Apnl 2010 compr1s1ng three d1v1s1ons US Services, UK Services and 
Global Products This enables greater clarity around markets and customers ahgn1ng the Group's capab1l1t1es rn order to leverage existing 
strengths and address weaknesses systematically The comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2010 have been restated 
to reflect the reorganised structure adopted at the start of the current f1nanc1al year The segments previously reported were Europe, 
Middle East and Australasia (EMEA), Qinet1Q North America (QNA) and Ventures 

Segmental results represent the contr1but1on of the different segments to the profit of the Group Corporate expenses are allocated 
to the corresponding segments Unallocated items comprise mainly profit on disposal of non-current assets, business divestments 
and unrealised impairment of investments, f1nanc1ng costs and taxation Ehm1nat1ons represent inter-company trading between the 
different segments 

Segmental assets and hab1ht1es information 1s not regularly provided to the chief operatrng dec1s1on maker 

Research and development expenditure 
Research and development costs incurred on behalf of a customer as part of a spec1f1c project are directly chargeable to the customer 
on whose behalf the work 1s undertaken Internally funded development expenditure 1s cap1tal1sed 1n the balance sheet where there 
1s a clearly defined project, the expenditures are separately 1dent1f1able, the proiect 1s technically and commercially feasible, all costs 
are recoverable by future revenue and the resources are committed to complete the project Such cap1tal1sed costs are amortised over 
the forecast period of sales resulting from the development All other research and development costs are expensed to the income 
statement 10 the penod 1n which they are incurred If the research phase cannot be clearly d1st1ngu1shed from the development phase, 
the respective project-related costs are treated as 1f they were incurred rn the research phase only and expensed 

F1nanc1ng 
F1nanc1ng represents the financial expense on borrowings accounted for using the effective rate method and the financial income earned 
on funds invested Exchange differences on f1nanc1al assets and l1ab1!1t1es and the income or expense from interest hedging instruments 
that are recognised 1n the income statement are rncluded within interest income and expense rn frnanc1ng 

Taxation 
The taxation charge rs based on the taxable profit for the year and takes into account taxation deferred because of temporary 
differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes Current tax and deferred tax are charged 
or credited to the income statement, except where they relate to items charged or credited to equity 1n which case the relevant tax 
1s charged or credited to equity Deferred taxation 1s the tax attributable to the temporary differences that appear when taxation 
authont1es recognise and measure assets and hab1ht1es with rules that differ from those of the consolidated financial statements 
The amount of deferred tax provided 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets 
and hab1ht1es, using rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date 

Any change 1n the tax rates are recognised 1n the income statement unless related to items directly recognised 1n equity Deferred tax 
l1abll1t1es are recognised on all taxable temporary differences exclud mg non-deductible goodwill Deferred tax assets are recognised on 
all deductible temporary differences provided that 1t 1s probable that future taxable income will be available against which the asset can 
be ut1l1sed Deferred tax assets and hab1ht1es are only offset where there 1s a legally enforceable right to offset and there 1s an 1ntent1on 
to settle balances on a net basis 

Business comb1nat1ons 
Business comb1nat1ons are accounted for as follows 

Business comb1nat1ons on or after 1 Apnl 2010 (IFRS 3, Business Comb1nat1ons) 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acqu1s1t1on method as at the acqu1s1t1on date, which 1s the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group The Group measures goodwill as the acqu1s1t1on-date fair value of the cons1derat1on transferred, 1nclud1ng the 
amount of any non-controlling interest 1n the acqu1ree, less the net of the acqu1s1t1on-date fa tr values of the 1dent1f1able assets acquired 
and hab1ht1es assumed, including contingent liab1ht1es as required by IFRS 3 

Cons1deratron transferred includes the fair values of assets transferred, ltab1llt1es incurred by the Group to the previous owners of the 
acqu1ree, equtty rnterests issued by the Group to the previous owners of the acquiree, equity interests issued by the Group, contingent 
cons1derat1on and share based payment awards of the acqu1ree that are replaced 1n the business comb1nat1on Any contingent 
consrderat1on payable 1s recognised at fair value at the acqu1s1t1on date Subsequent changes to the fair value of contingent 
cons1derat1on that 1s not class1f1ed as equity are recognised 1n the consolidated income statement If a business combination relates 
in the term1nat1on of pre-existing relat1onsh1ps between the Group and the acquiree, then the lower of the term1nat1on amount, as 
contained rn the agreement, and the value of the off-market element, 1s deducted from the consideration transferred and recognised 
m other expenses 
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Transaction costs that the Group incurs 1n connection with a business comb1nat1on, such as finder's fees, legal fees, due diligence fees, 
and other professional fees and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred 

Non-controlling interests are measured at either the non-controlling interest's proportion of the net fair value of the 1dent1fiable assets, 
hab1/it1es and contingent hab1ht1es recognised or at fair value The method used 1s determined on an acqu1s1t1on-by-acqu1s1t1on basis 

Business comb1nat1ons pnor to 1 Apnl 2010 (IFRS 3i Business Combinations (2004)) 
The purchase method of accounting 1s used to account for the acqu1s1t1on of subs1d1anes by the Group The cost of the acqu1s1t1on 1s 
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and hab1lit1es incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, 
plus costs directly attributable to the acqu1s1t1on Identifiable assets acquired, and llab1ilt1es and contingent llab1llt1es assumed 1n a 
business combination are measured 1n1t1ally at their fair values at the acqu1s1t1on date The excess of cost of acqu1s1t1on over the fair 
value of the Group's share of the 1dent1fiable net assets acquired 1s recognised as goodwill Previously held 1dent1f1able assets, l1ab1l1t1es 
and contingent l1ab1ht1es of the acquired entity are revalued to their fair value at the date of acqu1s1t1on, being the date at which the 
Group achreves control of the acqu1ree The movement 1n fair value 1s taken to the asset revaluation reserve 

Upon in1t1al acqu1s1t1on of a non-controlling interest, the interest of minority shareholders 1s measured at the minority's proportion 
of the net fair value of the 1dent1f1able assets, hab1ht1es and contingent l!ab1ht1es recognised 

Goodwill 
Goodwill on acqu1s1t1ons of subs1d1anes 1s included 1n intangible assets Goodwill on acqu1s1t1ons of 101nt ventures and associates 1s 
included 1n the carrying value of equity accounted investments Goodw1ll 1s tested annually for impairment and earned at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill related to the 
entity sold 

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets arising from business combrnat1ons are recognised at fair value and are amortised over their expected useful hves, 
typically between 0-9 years Internally generated intangible assets are recorded at cost, including labour, directly attributable costs 
and any third-party expenses Purchased 1ntang1ble assets are recognised at cost less amortisation Intangible assets are amortised 
over their respective useful lives on a straight hne basis as follows 

Intellectual property rights 
Development costs 

Other 

Property, plant and equipment 

2-8 years 

Useful economic hfe or unrt of production method subject to a mm1mum amort1sat1on 
of no less than straight ltne method over economic hfe of 1-4 years 

1-9 years 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less deprec1at1on Freehold land 1s not depreciated Other tangible non-current 
assets are deprecrated on a straight line basis over their useful economic hves to their estimated residual value as follows 

Freehold buildings 

Leasehold land and buildings 

Plant and machinery 

Fixtures and fittings 

Computers 

Motor vehicles 

20-25 years 

Shorter of useful economic life and the penod of the lease 

3-10 years 

5-10 years 

3-S years 

3-5 years 

Assets under construction are rnduded 1n property, plant and equipment on the basis of expenditure incurred at the balance sheet 
date In the case of assets constructed by the Group, the value includes the cost of own work completed, 1nclud1ng directly attributable 
costs and interest 

The useful lives, deprecrat1on methods and residual values applied to property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually, and 1f 
appropriate, ad1usted accordingly 

Impairment of tangible, goodwill, 1ntang1ble and held for sale assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there 1s an md1cat1on that an asset may be impaired If the carrying amount of any 
asset exceeds ns recoverable amount an impairment loss 1s recognised 1mmed1ately in the income statement In add1t1on, goodw1ll 1s 
tested for 1mpa1rment annually irrespective of any 1nd1cation of impairment If the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the 
respective asset or the assets 1n the cash generating unit are written down to their recoverable amounts The recoverable amount of an 
asset or a cash generating unit 1s the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 1n use The value in use 1s the present value of 
the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash generating unit calculated using an appropriate pre~tax discount rate 
Impairment losses are expensed to the income statement 
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F1nanc1al statements 
Notes to the fmanc1al statements continued 

1 S1gnif1cant accounting policies continued 
Investments 1n debt and equity securities 

Investments held by the Group are class1f1ed as either a current asset or as a non-current asset and those class1f1ed as available 
for sale are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised directly 1n equity, except for impairment losses 
When these investments are de-recognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly 1n equity 1s recognised 1n the 
rncome statement 

The fair value of quoted f1nanc1al mstruments 1s their btd price at the balance sheet date The fair value of unquoted equity investments 
are held at fair value based upon the price of the most recent investment by the Group or a third party, 1f available, or derived from the 
present value of forecast future cash flows 

lnventones 
Inventory and work-in-progress are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Work-in-progress and manufactured f1n1shed 
goods are valued at production cost Production cost includes direct production costs and an appropriate proportion of productron 
overheads A prov1s1on 1s established when the net reahsable value of any inventory item 1s lower than its cost 

Bid costs 

Costs mcurred 1n b1dd1ng for work are normally expensed as mcurred In the case of large multi-year government contracts the b1dd1ng 
process typrcally involves a compet1t1ve bid process to determme a preferred bidder and then a further period to reach fmanc1al dose 
with the customer In these cases, the costs incurred after announcement of the Group ach1evmg preferred bidder status are deferred to 
the balance sheet w1thm work-in-progress From the pomt f1nanc1al close 1s reached, the costs are amortised over the life of the contract 
If an opportunity for which the Group was awarded preferred bidder status fails to reach financial close, the costs deferred to that pomt 
will be expensed m the income statement immediately, when 1t becomes likely that f1nanc1al close will not be achieved 

Trade and other receivables 
Trade and other receivables are stated net of provisions for doubtful debts Amounts recoverable on contracts are mcluded in trade and 
other receivables and represent revenue recognised m excess of amounts 1nvorced Payments received on account are included 1n trade 
and other payables and represent amounts mvo1ced 1n excess of revenue recognised 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash at bank and short-term deposits that are readily convertible into cash In the cash flow 
statement overdraft balances are included 1n cash and equivalents 

Current and non-current hab1ht1es 
Current f1ab1l1t1es rnclude amounts due w1th1n the normal operating cycle of the Group Interest-bearing current and non-current 
hab1lrt1es are recognised at fair value and then stated at amortised cost with any difference between the cost and redemption value 
bemg recognised m the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest rate basis Costs associated with 
the arrangement of bank fac1l1tres or the issue of loans are held net of the associated hab1hty presented in the balance sheet Cap1tal1sed 
issue costs are released over the estimated life of the fac1hty or instrument to wh1eh they relate using the effective interest rate method 
If 1t becomes clear that the facility or instrument will be redeemed early, the amort1sat1on of the issue costs will be accelerated 

Prov1s1ons 

A prov1s1on is recognised 1n the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event 
which can be reliably estimated, and 1t 1s probable that an outflow of economtc benefits will be required to settle the obl1gat1on Where 
appropriate, prov rs tons are determ 1ned by drscount1ng the expected cash flows at the Group's weighted average cost of capital 

Financial instruments 
F1nanetal assets and fmanc1al liab1ht1es are recognised on the Group's balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument The derecogn1t1on of a financial instrument takes place when the Group no longer controls the contractual 
nghts that comprise the f1nanc1al instrument, when the instrument expires or 1s sold, term mated or exercised 

Derivative f1nanc1al instruments 

Denvat1ve financial instruments are 1n1t1a1ly recognised and thereafter held at fair value, being the market value for quoted instruments 
or valuation based on models and discounted cash flow calculations for unlisted instruments 

Fair value hedging 

Changes in the fair value of denvat1ves designated as fair value hedges of currency nsk or interest rate nsk are recognised 1n the income 
statement The hedged item 1s held at fair value with respect to the hedged nsk with any gain or loss recognised in the income 
statement 

Cash flow hedging 

Changes m the fair value of denvat1ves designated as a cash flow hedge that are regarded as highly effective are recognised 1n equity 
The meffect1ve portion 1s recognised 1mmedrately 1n the income statement Where a hedged item results in an asset or a hab1hty, gains 
and losses previously recognised 1n equity are included in the cost of the asset or hab1llty Gains and losses previously recognised 1n 
equity are removed and recognised 1n the income statement at the same time as the hedged transaction 
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Hedging of net investment 1n foreign operations 
Changes rn the farr value of derivatives designated as hedges of the net investment 1n a foreign entity are recognised 1n equity until 
the net investment 1s sold or disposed Any 1neffect1ve portion 1s recognised directly 1n the income statement 

Leased assets 
Leases are class1f1ed as finance leases when substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are held by the lessee Assets held 
under finance leases are cap1tahsed and included in property, plant and equipment at the lower of the present value of m1n1mum lease 
payments and fair value at the 1ncept1on of the lease Assets are then depreciated over the shorter of their useful economic lives or the 
lease term Obligations relating to finance leases, net of finance charges ansrng 1n future periods, are rncluded under f1nanc1al hab1ht1es 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a stra1ght-hne basis over the term of the lease 

Foreign currencies 
Transactions m foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruhng at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and 
hab1ht1es 1n foreign currencies are translated at penod-end rates Any resulting exchange differences are taken to the income statement 
Gains and tosses on designated forward foreign exchange hedging contracts are matched against the foreign exchange movements on 
the underlying transaction 

The 1ndivtdual financial statements of each Group company are presented 1n its functional currency On consohdatton, assets and 
l1ab1l1t1es of overseas subs1d1ar1es associated undertakings and jornt ventures, including any related goodwill, are translated to sterling 
at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date The results and cash flows of overseas subs1d1aries, associated undertakings and 
jornt ventures are translated to sterling usrng the average rates of exchange during the penod Exchange adjustments arising from the 
re-translation of the opening net investment and the results for the period to the period-end rate are taken drrectly to equity and 
reported 1n the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Post-retirement benefits 
The Group provides both defined contribution and defined benefit pension arrangements The hab1l1t1es of the Group arising from 
defined benefit obhgat1ons, and the related current service cost, are determined using the projected unit credit method Valuations for 
accounting purposes are earned out half yearly for the largest plans and on a regular basis for other plans Actuarial advrce 1s provided 
by external consultants For the funded defined benefit plans, the excess or def1c1t of the fair value of plan assets less the present value 
of the defined benefit oblrgat1on are recognised as an asset or a hab1hty respectively 

For defined benefit plans, the actuarral cost charged to the income statement consists of current service cost, interest cost, expected 
return on plan assets and past service cost The finance element of the pension charge 1s shown 1n finance income and expenses, the 
remaining service cost element 1s charged as a component of employee costs 1n the income statement Actuarral gains and losses are 
recognised 1n full 1mmed1ately through the Statement of Comprehensive Income Contributions to def med contnbut1on plans are 
charged to the Income Statement as incurred 

Share-based payments 
The Group operates share-based payment arrangements with employees The farr value of equity-settled awards for share-based 
payments IS determined on grant and expensed straight hne over the period from grant to the date of earliest uncond1t1onal exercise 
The fair value of cash-settled awards for share-based payments 1s determined each perrod end unttl they are exercised or lapse The 
value is expensed straight line over the period from grant to the date of earliest uncond1tronal exercise The charges for both equity 
and cash-settled share-based payments are updated annually for non-market-based vesting cond1t1ons 

Share capital 
Ordinary share capital of the Company 1s recorded as the proceeds received, less issue costs Company shares held by the employee 
benefit trusts are held at the cons1derat1on paid They are class1f1ed as own shares w1th1n equity Any gain or loss on the purchase, 
sale or issue of Company shares 1s recorded 1n equity 

Restatement of pnor periods for f1nalisat1on of fair values ans1ng on acqulslt1ons 
The fair values of the net assets of acquired businesses are finalised w1thtn 12 months of the acqu1s1t1on date All fair value 
adjustments are recorded with effect from the date of acqu1s1t1on and, consequently, may result 1n the restatement of previously 
reported f1nanc1al results 
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Fmancral statements 
Notes to the financial statements contrnued 

1 S1gnlf1cant accounting policies continued 
Recent accounting developments 
The following EU-endorsed new, revised and amended published standards and rnterpretat1ons are effective for accounting periods 
beg1nn1ng on or after 1 April 2010 and have been adopted 

IFRS 3 {revised), Business Combinations and amendments to IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate F1nanc1al Statements The standard 
continues to apply the acqu1s1t1on method to business comb1nat1ons with some s1gn1ficant changes For example, all acqu1srtion.related 
costs are expensed, all payments to purchase a busrness are recorded at fair value at the acqu1s1t1on date, with contingent payments 
subsequently re-measured at fair value through the rncome statement There are also changes to the reportrng of non-controlling 
interest The change has been applied prospectively 

Improvements to IFRSs 2009 The improvements include changes to finance leases and financial instrument disclosures 
These consolidated F1nanc1al Statements have been prepared under the revised disclosure requirements 

The following EU-endorsed amendments, improvements and mterpretat1ons of published standards are effective for accounting 
periods begmnmg on or after 1 April 2010 and have been adopted with no material impact on the Group's frnane1al statements 

• Amendment to IFRS 2, Share-based Payment, 
• Amendment to IAS 32, Financial Instruments Presentation, 

Amendment to IAS 39, Frnanc1al Instruments Recogn1t1on and Measurement, 
• IFRIC 17, D1stnbut1ons of Non-cash Assets to Owners, 
• IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers, and 
• Management Commentary practice statement 

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of the following revised, amended and improved published standards and 1nterpretat1ons, 
which were m issue at the date of authorisation of these F1nanc1al Statements, will have no material impact on the F1nanc1al Statements 
of the Group when they become applicable 1n future periods 

• IAS 24 (revised), Related Party Transactions, 
Amendment to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments Disclosures, subject to EU endorsement, 

• Amendment to IAS 12, Income Taxes, subJect to EU endorsement, 
Amendment to IFRIC 14, IAS 19 -The L1m1t on a Defined Benefit Asset, M1n1mum Fund mg Requirements and their Interaction, and 

• lFRIC 19, Extmgu1shmg Financial L1ab1lit1es with Equity Instruments 

The rm pact of adoptrng the following new and improved published standards when they become effective 1n future periods, but were 
1n issue at the date of authorisation of these F1nanc1al Statements, 1s under assessment 

• IFRS 9, Frnanc1al Instruments, subject to EU endorsement, 
IFRS 10, Consolidated F1nanc1al Statements, 
IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, 

• 1FRS 12, Disclosure of Interests m Other Ent1t1es, 
• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, and 

Improvements to IFRSs 2010 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements 1n applying accounting policies 
The followrng commentary 1s intended to h1ghhght those pohc1es that are critical to the busrness based on the level of management 
Judgement required m their appllcat1on, their complexity and their potential impact on the results and frnancial pos1t1on reported for 
the Group The level of management Judgement required includes assumptions and estimates about future events whrch are uncertain, 
the actual outcome of which may result 1n a materially different outcome from that anticipated 

Revenue and profit recogn1t1on 
The est1mat1on process required to evaluate the potential outcome of contracts and pro1ects requires skill, knowledge and experience 
from a variety of sources w1th1n the business to assess the status of the contract, costs to complete, internal and external labour 
resources required and other factors This process 1s earned out continuously throughout the business to ensure that pro1ect and 
contract assessments reflect the latest status of such work No profit 1s recognised on a contract until the outcome can be reliably 
estimated 

Business comb1nat1ons 
Intangible assets recognised on business comb1nat1ons have been valued using established methods and models to determine estimated 
value and useful economic life, with input, where appropriate, from external valuation consultants Such methods require the use of 
estimates which may produce results that are different from actual future outcomes 

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any rmpairment This process 1s rel rant on the use of estimates of the future 
prof1tab1lity and cash flows of its cash-generating units whrch may differ from the actual results delivered The Group add1t1onally 
reviews whether rdent1fied 1ntang1ble assets have suffered any 1mpa1rment Further details on the sens1t1v1ty of the carrying value 
of goodwill to changes 1n the key assumptions are set out 1n note 11 

60 Qinet1Q Group pie Annual Report and Accounts 2011 



Consohdat1on of US subsidiaries 
As descnbed on page 35, the Group and the US DoD have entered mto a proxy agreement that regulates the ownership, management 
and operation of the Group's 100% owned subs1d1ary, Qinet1Q North America, Inc and its subs1d1anes Having consrdered the terms 
of the proxy agreement, the Directors consider that the Group has control over the operating and f1nanc1al policies of Q1net1Q North 
Amenca and, therefore, consolidates the subsrd1anes 1n the consohdated accounts 

Post-retirement benefits 
The Group's defined benefit pension obligations and net income statement costs are based on key assumptions 1nclud1ng return on 
plan assets, discount rates, mortahty, inflation and future salary and pension increases Management exercise their best Judgement, 
in consultation with actuarial advisors, 1n selecting the values for these assumptions that are the most appropriate to the Group Small 
changes 1n these assumptrons at the balance sheet date, 1nd1v1dually or collectively, may result in s1gn1ficant changes in the size of the 
deficit or the net income statement costs Any change 1n these assumptions would have an impact on the retirement benefit obhgatton 
recognised Further details on these assumptions are set out 1n note 39 

Research and development expenditure 
Internally-funded development expendrture 1s capitalised when cntena are met and 1s written off over the forecast penod of sales 
resulting from the development Management decides upon the adequacy of future demand and potential market for such new 
products in order to 1ust1fy cap1tal1sat1on of internally-funded development expenditure These can be difficult to determine when 
deahng with innovative technologies Actual product sales may differ from these estimates 

Tax 

In determining the Group's prov1s1ons for income tax and deferred tax, 1t rs necessary to assess the hkel1hood and t1m1ng of recovery 
of tax losses created, and to consider transactions 1n a small number of key tax 1unsdrct1ons for which the ultimate tax determ1nat1on 
is uncertain To the extent that the final outcome differs from the tax that has been provided, ad1ustments will be made to income tax 
and deferred tax provisions held 1n the penod the determinatron 1s made 
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Financial statements 
Notes to the financial statements continued 

2 Revenue and other income 
Revenue and other income 1s analysed as follows 

Revenue by category 

Year ended 31 March 
all fl ures m £ million 

Sales of goods 

Services 

Royalties 

Revenue 

Other income 

Other income 1s 1n respect of property rentals and the recovery of other related property costs 

Revenue by customer geographrc location 
Year ended 31 March 
all fi ures m £ m1lhon 

North America 

United Kingdom 

Other 

Total 

Revenue by major customer type 
Year ended 31 March 
all figures m £ milhon 

UK Government 

US Government 

Other 

Total 

Revenue from the UK Government was generated by the UK Services and Global Products operating groups 
Government was generated by the US Services and Global Products operating groups 
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2011 2010 

365 5 1519 

1,330 0 1,467 5 

71 60 

1,702 6 1,625 4 

41 69 

2011 2010 

949 2 825 3 

623 7 7200 

129 7 801 

1,702 6 1,625 4 

2011 2010 

526 5 614 5 
894 3 7541 

2818 256 8 

1,702 6 1,625 4 

Revenue from the US 



3 Segmental analysis 
Business segments 
all figures m £ m11J1on 

US Serv1tes 

UK Services 

Global Products 

Total operating segments 

Operating profit before acqu1s1t1on amortisation and specific 
non-recurring 1tems1 

Restructuring charge 

Pension curtailment gain 

Contingent payments on acqu1s1t1on treated as remuneration 

Net inventory wnte-offs m respect of cap1tahsed DTR-orogramme bid costs 

Non-recurrrng operating costs before amort1sat1on, deprec1at1on 

and impairment 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

Amort1sat1on of rntang1ble assets ans1ng from acqu1s1t1ons 

Impairment of intangible assets 

Operating proflt/(loss) 

Gam/(loss) on busrness divestments and unrealrsed impairment 

of investments 

Net finance expense 

Profit/(loss) before tax 

Taxation (expense)/rncome 

Profit/(loss) for the year 

Year ended 31 March 2011 

Operating 
Revenue profit1 

588 2 44 3 

6116 48 7 

502 8 52 4 

1,702 6 145 4 

1454 

(33 5) 

49 

(6 1) 

(23 8) 

(58 5) 

(5 9) 

(26 3) 

54 7 

27 

(30 8) 

26 6 
(21 6) 

50 

Year ended 31 March 2010 
Operating 

Revenue rofit
1 

6280 52 6 

693 9 59 1 

303 5 86 

1,625 4 120 3 

120 3 

(441) 

20 

(42 1) 

(24 0) 

(261) 

(53 4) 

(25 3) 

(6 2) 

(34 6) 

(661) 

28 

(63 3) 
1 The measure of profit presented to the chief operating decu1on maker 1s operating profit stated before amort1sat1on of mtang1ble assets anstng from acqu1s1t1ons and specific 

non-recurring items Specific non recurrmg items include amounts relatmg to reorganrsat1on costs, pension curtailment gains, contingent payments on acqu1s1t1on treated as 
remuneration, net inventory wnte-offs m respect of capitahsed OTR-programme bid costs impairment of property, plant and equipment, and impairment of tntang1ble assets 

2 The comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2010 have been restated to reflect the reorgamsed structure adopted at the start of the current financial year 
The segments previously reported were Europe, Mrddle East and Australasia (EMEA), Qmet1Q North America (QNAJ and Ventures 

1 There were no internal sales from US Seiv1ces to UK Serv1ces dunng the year 

No measure of segmental assets and hab1l1t1es has been disclosed as this 1nformat1on 1s not regularly provided to the chief operating 

dec1sron maker 
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Financial statements 
Notes to the f1nanc1al statements continued 

3 Segmental analysis continued 
Other 1nformat1on 

Year ended 31 March 2011 

all figures in£ million 

Deprec1at1on of property, plant and equipment 

Amortisation of purchased or internally developed 
1ntang1ble assets 

Year ended 31 March 2010 

all figures in£ m1llron 

Deprec1at1on of property, plant and equipment 

Amortisation of purchased or mternatly developed 
intangible assets 

US Services 

31 

06 

37 

US Services 

29 

07 

36 

UK Services 

25 4 

10 0 

35 4 

UK Services 

27 4 

80 

35 4 

Global 
Products 

5 1 

09 

60 

Global 
Products 

48 

26 

74 

Total 

33 6 

115 

45 1 

Total 

35 1 

11 3 

46 4 

Excludes non-recurnng items not included w1thm the measure of operating profit reported to the chief operating dec1s1on maker 

Non-current assets by geographic location 

all figures 1n £ m11J1on 

Year ended 31 March 2011 

Year ended 31 March 2010 

4 Profit/loss before tax 
The followrng items have been charged 1n arriving at profit/loss before tax 

all figures 1n £ mrll1on 

Fees payable to the auditor 

-Statutory audit 

- Audit of the Company's subsrd1anes pursuant to leg1slat1on 

- Other services relating to taxation 

- Other services 

Total auditor's remuneration 

Deprec1at1on of property, plant and equipment 

-Owned assets before 1mparrment 

- Owned assets impairment 

Foreign exchange loss/(ga1n) 

Research and development expenditure - customer funded contracts 

Research and development expenditure-Group funded 
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North Amenca 

S841 

North America 

672 5 

Europe and 
Australia Total 

349 0 9331 

Europe and 
Austral la Total 

376 9 1,049 4 

2011 2010 

08 10 

01 01 

01 01 

01 04 

11 16 

33 6 351 

59 240 

03 (0 2) 

382 0 418.3 

13 0 73 



The following non-recurrrng items have been charged 1n arnv1ng at profit/loss before tax 

all fiS:ures in £ mtlhon note 2011 2010 

Restructunng costs1 33 5 441 

Pension curtailment gain (4 9) (2 O) 

Contingent payments on acqu1s1t1on treated as remuneration 61 

Net rnventory wnte-offs rn respect of cap1tahsed DTR-erogramme bid costs 23 8 

Non-recurring operating costs before amort1sat1on, depreciation and impairment 58.5 42 1 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 14 59 24 0 

Amort1sat1on of intangible asset ans1ng on acqu1s1t1ons 12 26 3 261 

Impairment of 1ntang1ble asset 12 3 3 

lmeairment of goodwill 11 so 1 

Total goodwill and intangible 1mpa1rment and acqu1s1t1on amort1sat1on 26 3 79 5 

Gain on business divestment 5 (2 1) (5 1) 

Gain rn respect of negative goodwill on acqu1s1t1ons 1n the penod 5 (0 2) 

Gain 1n respect of deferred cons1derat1on on pnor year acqu1srt1ons (0 4) 
Unrealised impairment of investment 5 11 3 

{Galn)/loss on business combinations and divestments and unrealised impairment of 
investment 5 (2 7) 62 

Total non-recurring Items before tax 880 1518 
1 The UK restructurmg programme announced 1n May 2009 was largely completed 1n the last financial year and the cost of the programme was E44 lm A subsequent 24-month 

self help programme was announced m May 2010 to refocus the businesses, to build a more commercial performance-oriented culture and to strengthen the balance sheet 
A charge of E33 Sm has been taken In the current frnanc1al year 1n respect of restructurrng the UK business 
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5 Gain/(loss) on business combinatrons and drvestments and unrealrsed rmparrment of investments 
For the year ended 31 March 
all figures m £ m1lhon 

Gain on business dNestments 

Gain 1n respect of negative goodwill on acqu1s1t1ons 1n the period 

Gain 1n respect of deferred cons1derat1on on prior year acqu1srt1ons 

Unrealised impairment of investments 

2011 

21 

02 

04 

27 

2010 

SI 

(ll 3J 

(6 2J 

The gain on business divestments 1n the year relates to the disposal of S&IS, a non-core security operations and access control business 
within Q1net1Q's US Services operation, to ManTech International Corporation The total cons1derat1on net of disposal costs was £37 2m 
and resulted 1n a garn on disposal of £2 lm Add1t1onal cash receipts 1n the year included fl Om tn respect of prior year divestments 
Total proceeds from sale of interests 1n subs1d1ary undertakings are £38 2m (2010 £21 lm) 

The gain in respect of negative goodwill on acqu1s1t1ons 1n the period relates to the acqu1s1t1on of Sensoptrcs Ltd on 16 December 2010 
as described in note 13 

The gain 1n respect of deferred cons1derat1on on pnor year acqu1s1t1ons 1s the result of cond1t1ons for the deferred cons1derat1on 1n 
respect of the Cyve1llance, Inc acqu1s1t1on not being met 

The pnor year gain on business divestments relates to the disposal of two busrnesses On 30 September 2009 the Group disposed of the 
Underwater Systems business, a d1v1sron of Q1net1Q Lrm1ted, to Atlas Elektron1k UK l1m1ted for a c::ons1derat1on before costs of £23 Sm 
which resulted rn a profit on disposal of £6 9m On 31 July 2009 the Cal1brat1on busrness of the Group, rnclud1ng ASAP Calibration Ltd, 
was sold for proceeds before costs of £0 4m and resulted 1n a loss on disposal of £1 Sm 

The prior year unrealised impairment of investments and associated committed costs relates to a £11 3m charge in respect of the 
impairment 1n the carrying value of investments held for sale 

6 Frnance income and expense 
For the year ended 31 March 
all fr ures tn £ mllhon 

Receivable on bank deposits 

Finance lease income 

Expected return on pension scheme assets 

Finance income 

Amort1sat1on of recap1tal1sat1on fee 1 

Payable on bank loans and overdrafts 

Payable on US dollar prNate placement debt2 

Finance lease expense 

Unwmdmg of discount on financial hab1ht1es 

Interest on pension scheme f1abrht1es 

Finance expense 

Net finance expense 

2011 2010 

06 04 

12 14 

68 6 46 3 

704 481 

(18J (07J 

(5 9J (7 9J 

(32 6J (23 2J 

(1 OJ (l lJ 

(04J (!OJ 

(59 SJ (48 8J 

(101 2) (82 7) 

(30 8) (34 6) 
1 In 2011 the Group refinanced its ex1stmg credit factllty with a new five year revotvmg credit fac1bty The un amortised amount of the fees previously capitalised m respect 

of the pre-ex1stmg faority were written off on term1nat1on of that fac1ilty and charged to Fmance expense 
2 The Group elected to make early repayment of US$135m of US Dollar pnvate placement debt, which was repaid post year end m May 2011 from surplus cash Net interest 

m 2011 was impacted by an accelerated interest charge of ES Bm m respect of the year end obligation to make this early repayment 
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7 Taxation 
2011 2010 

Before 2011 Before 2010 
acqu1srt1on Acqu1S1t1on acqu1s1t1on Acquisrt1on 

amortisation amort1Sat1on amort1satlon amort1.sat1on 
andspecrfic and specific and specific and spec1f1c 

non-recurrrng non-recurnng 2011 non-recurrrng non-recurring 2010 
all f1B_ures in£ mlllron items items Total items items Total 

Analysis of charge 
UK corporation tax 
Overseas corporation tax 

Current year 41 3 (11) 40 2 16 7 (8 8) 79 

Adjustment for pnor year (08) (O 8) 

Current tax expense/(1ncome) 40 5 (11) 394 16 7 (8 8) 79 
Deferred tax (20 2) 09 (19 3) (3 6) (6 9) (10 5) 

Deferred tax impact of change rn rates 25 25 
Deferred tax m respect of enor :rears (1 O) (1 O) (O 2) (O 2) 

Taxation expense/(1ncome) 218 (0 2) 216 12 9 (15 7) (2 8) 

Factors affecting the tax charge In year 

The prmc1pal factors reducrng the Group's 
current year tax charge below the UK 
statutory rate are exp la med below 

Prof1t/(loss) before tax 1146 (88 O) 26 6 85 7 (151 8) (661) 

Tax on profit/(loss) before tax at 28% 
(2010 28%) 32 1 (24 7) 74 24 0 (42 5) (18 5) 
Effect of 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes, 
research and development relief and non-
taxable items (33 4) 22 0 (114) (19 6) 29 4 98 
Ut1llsat1on of previously unrecognised tax 
losses of overseas subs1d1anes (O 3) (0 3) (O 1) (O 1) 

Current tax losses for which no deferred 
tax asset was recognised 17 5 17 5 61 61 
Deferred tax tmpact of change m rates 25 25 
Deferred tax 1n respect of prior years (10) (1 O) (0 2) (O 2) 

Effect of different rates 1n overseas 
junsd1ct1ons 44 25 69 27 (2 6) 01 

Taxation expense/(1ncome) 218 (0 2) 21 6 12 9 (15 7) (2 8) 

The total tax expense m the year to 31 March 20111ncludes a credit of £0 2m (2010 £15 7m) for tax on acqu1s1t1on amort1sat1on and 
specific non-recurring items The rate on this credit 1s low as the majority of items do not attract tax relief 1n the current period 

Factors affecting future tax charges 
The effective tax rate continues to be below the statutory rate 1n the UK, pnmanly as a result of the benefit of research and development 
relief m the UK The effective tax rate 1s expected to remain below the UK statutory rate m the medium term, subject to any future tax 
leg1slat1on changes and the geographical mrx of profits At 31 March 2011, the Group had unused tax losses of £188 7m (2010 £117 lm) 
potentially available for offset against future profits 
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8 D1v1dends 
An analysis of the d1v1dends paid and proposed 1n respect of the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010 1s provided below 

Pence Date paid/ 
per share £m pa ble 

lntenm 2011 

Final 2011 (proposed) 160 10 5 se2t 2011 

Total for the year ended 31March2011 160 105 

lntenm 2010 158 10 4 Feb 2010 

Final 2010 

Total for the year ended 31March2010 1 SS 104 

The Drrectors proposed a final d1v1dend of 1 GOp (2010 nil) The d1v1dend, which 1s subJect to shareholder approval, will be paid on 
2 September 2011 The ex-d1v1dend date 1s 3 August 2011 and the record date 1s 5 August 2011 

9 Analysis of employee costs and numbers 
The largest component of operat1ng expenses 1s employee costs The year-end and average monthly number of persons employed by 
the Group 1ndud1ng Directors analysed by business segment, was 

US Services 

UK Services 

Global Products 

Total 

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows 

all figures m £ m1lt1on 

Wages and salarres 

Social security costs 

Other pension costs 

Cost of share-based payments 

Employee costs before UK restructuring costs 

UK restructuring costs 

Total employee costs 

Year end 31 March 
2011 2010 

Number 

4,500 

5,045 

1,663 

11,208 

Number 

5,369 

5,707 

2,002 

13,078 

note 

34 

Monthly average 
2011 2010 

Number Number 

4,839 5,512 

5,418 5,899 

1,776 2,193 

12,033 13,604 

2010 
2011 (Restated)1 

635 7 659 3 
46 3 521 

47 3 446 

33 58 

732 6 761.8 

33 5 441 

7661 805.9 
1 Prior year employee costs have been restated to include certam elements of employee compensation and benefits that were previously allocated to d1rect costs and 

to other overheads 

The 2011 UK restructuring costs relate to the restructuring of the UK business announced m May 2010 The 2010 restructuring costs 
principally comprise the headcount reduction programme announced 1n May 2009 
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10 Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share 1s calculated by d1v1d1ng the profit attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of 
ordrnary shares rn issue dunng the year The weighted average number of shares used excludes those shares bought by the Group and 
held as own shares (see note 33) For diluted earnings per share the werghted average number of shares 1n issue 1s adjusted to assume 
conversion of all potentrally dilutive ordinary shares arising from unvested share-based awards 1nclud1ng share options Underlying basic 
earnings per share figures are presented below, 1n add1t1on to the basic and diluted earnrngs per share as the directors consider this 
gives a more relevant md1cat1on of underlying business performance and reflects the ad1ustments to basic earnings per share for the 

impact of spec1f1c non-recurring items, amort1sat1on of acquired 1ntang1ble assets and tax thereon 

For the year ended 31 March 

Basic EPS 

Profrt:/(loss) attnbutable to equity shareholders 

Weighted average number of shares 

Basic EPS 

Diluted EPS 

Profrt/(loss) attnbutable to equity shareholders 

Weighted average number of shares 

Effect of d1lutrve secunt1es • 

Diluted number of shares 

Diluted EPS 

Underlying basic EPS 

Prof1t/(loss) attnbutable to equity shareholders 

Reorgan1sat1on costs 

(Gam)/loss on business drvestments, disposals and unrealised impairment 
of investments 

Impairment of property plant and equipment 

Contingent payments on acqu1s1t1on treated as remuneration 

Pension curtailment gain 

Amort1sat1on of 1ntang1ble assets ans1ng from acqu1s1t1ons and impairment 

of 1ntang1ble assets 

Net inventory wrrt:e-offs 1n respect of cap1tahsed DTR-programme 

bid costs 

Tax impact of items above 

Underlying profit after taxation 

Weighted average number of shares 

Underlying basic EPS 

2011 

£m so 
m1!11on 6S46 

pence 08 

fm so 
m1ll1on 6S4 6 

m1ll1on 68 

m1ll1on 6614 

pence 08 

fm so 
£m 33 s 

fm (2 7) 

£m S9 

£m 61 

£m (49) 

£m 26 3 

fm 23 8 

£m (O 2) 

fm 92 8 

m1lhon 6S46 

pence 14 2 

The loss attributable to equity shareholders m the year ended 31 March 2010 resulted m no effect of dilutive securities to the werghted average number of shares 
lfthere had been a profit m the year ended 31 March 2010, the effect of d1lut1ve secunt1eswould have been to increase the diluted number of shares by 4 2m 

2010 

(63 3) 

653 s 
(9 7) 

(63 3) 

6S3 s 

6S3 s 
(9 7) 

(63 3) 

421 

62 

24 0 

79 s 

(lS 7) 

728 

6S3 s 
111 
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11 Goodwill 

all figures m £ mllhon 

Cost 

At lApnl 

Amendment to goodwill for prior year acqu1s1t1on 1 

Acqu1s1t1ons 

Disposals 

Foreign exchange 

At 31 March 

Impairment 

At !April 

Disposals 

Impairment rn year 

Fore1 n exchange 

At31 March 

Net book value at 31 March 

note 2011 

628 0 

13 

(32 0) 

(29 8) 

566 2 

(SO 2) 

35 

16 

(45 1) 

5211 
1 

Goodwill and deferred tax bab1Jit1es have been restated to reflect fa1rvalue changes 1n respect of an acqu1s1t1on in the year ended 31 March 2010 (see note 13) 

2010 
(Restated)1 

639 0 
(1 9) 

19 1 

(28 2) 

6280 

(O 5) 

(50 1) 

04 

(50 2) 

577 8 

Goodwill at 31 March 2011 was allocated across six cash generating units (CGUs) In the year two CG Us m the US Services business 
were amalgamated into one to reflect the way 1n which these businesses are managed and operated 

Goodw1ll 1s attributable to the excess of cons1derat1on over the fair value of net assets acquired and rncludes expected synergies, future 
growth prospects and employee knowledge, expertise and security clearances The Group tests goodwill impairment for each CGU 
annually or more frequently if there are 1nd1cat1ons that goodwill might be 1mpa1red 

Key assumptions 
The value 1n use calculations use discounted future cash flows based on financial plans approved by the Board covering a two year 
period Cash flows for periods beyond this period are extrapolated based on the second year of the two year plan, with a terminal 
growth rate assumption applred 

Terminal growth rates 
The spec1f1c plans for each of the CG Us have been extrapolated using a terminal growth rate of 2 0%-3 0% (2010 1 5%-2 5%) Growth 
rates are formed based on management's estimates whrch take into consideration the long term nature of the industry 1n which the 
CG Us operate and external forecasts as to the likely growth of the industry 1n the longer-term 

01scou nt rates 
The Group's weighted average cost of capital (WACC) was used as a basis in determrn1ng the discount rate to be applled adjusted for 
risks spec1f1c to the geographical location of CG Us as appropriate on a pre-tax basis The pre-tax discount rate applied for US CG Us was 
11 8% (2010 118%-121%) and a range from 111%-19 0% for UK and Australia CG Us (2010 9 3%-16 9%) 
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S1gn1f1cant CGUs 

Sens1t1v1ty analysis shows that both the discount rate and growth rate assumptions are key variables 1mpact1ng on the outcome of the 
recoverable amount 

The US Services CGU has headroom, with current assumptions, of £73 3m If the discount rate assumption was increased by 1% then the 
CG U would require an impairment of £16 2m Sens1t1v1ty analysis shows that an decrease or increase of 1% 1n the terminal growth rate 
could result rn an impairment of £5 Sm or headroom of £190 lm, respectively The carrying value of goodwill for this CGU as at 31 March 
was £369 9m 

The Technology Solutions CGU m the US has s1gn1f1cant headroom An increase 1n either the WACC rate or decrease m the terminal 
growth rate by 1% would not cause the net operatrng assets to exceed their recoverable amount The carrying value of goodwill for this 
CGU as at 31 March was £115 3m 

Within UK Servrces the 1nd1v1dual CGUs have s1gn1f1cant headroom An increase 1n the WACC rate or a decrease 1n the terminal growth 
rate by 1 % would not cause the net operating assets to exceed their recoverable amount The carry mg value of goodwill for these CG Us 
as at 31 March was £27 Gm 

The Technology Solutrons CGU 1n the UK has headroom, under current assumptions, of £43 4m If the discount rate was to increase 
by 1%, or the terminal growth rate decrease by 1%, this would not cause the net operating assets to exceed their recoverable amount 
The carrying value of goodwill for this CGU as at 31 March was £5 Sm 

The Australia CGU has headroom, under current assumptrons, of £1 lm If the discount rate was to increase by 1%, or the terminal 
growth rate decrease by 1%, th rs would not cause the net operating assets to exceed their recoverable amount The carrying value 
of goodwill for this CGU as at 31 March was £2 Sm 

The Drrectors have not 1dent1f1ed any other likely changes 1n other s1gn1ficant assumptions since 31 March 2011 and the srgn1ng of the 
financial statements that would cause the carrying value of the recognised goodwill to exceed rts recoverable amount 
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12 Intangible assets 
Year ended 31 March 2011 

Acquired intangible assets Other 
Customer Intellectual Brand Development intangible 

all figures 1n £ m1ll1on note relat1onsh1e:s property names costs assets Total 

Cost 

At 1 April 2010 160 6 53 5 14 7 13 4 36 l 278 3 

Add1t1ons - internally developed 03 03 
Add1t1ons - purchased 21 21 

Add1t1ons- recognised on acqu1s1t1ons 13 40 40 

Disposals (12) (1 2) 

Disposals - recognised on divestments (6 2) (6 2) 

Transfers 02 01 03 
Foreign exchange (7 1) (2 2) (08) (O 3) (10 4) 

At 31 March 2011 147 3 55 3 13 9 13 9 36 8 267 2 

Amort1sat1on and Impairment 

At 1 Apnl 2010 70 5 34 5 42 73 20 l 136 6 

Amort1sat1on charge for the year 16 2 79 22 22 93 37 8 

Disposals (1 2) (12) 

Disposals- •ecogn1sed on divestments (4 0) (4 0) 
Transfers 13 (1 2) 01 
Foreign exchange (3 2) (15) (0 3) (0 3) (5 3) 

At 31 March 2011 79 5 409 61 10 8 26 7 164 0 

Net book value at 31 March 2011 67 8 144 78 3 1 10 1 103 2 

Year ended 31 March 2010 

Acquired intangible assets Other 
Customer lnte\\ectua\ Brand Oeve\opment 1ntang1b\e 

all figures m £ mrll1on note relat1onsh1ps eroperty names costs assets Total 

Cost 

At l April 2009 159 4 48 7 13 4 109 344 266 8 

Add1t1ons - internally developed 06 06 
Add1t1ons - purchased 56 56 
Add1t1ons- recognised on acqu1s1t1ons 13 72 68 20 16 0 
Disposals (O 2) (4 3) (4 5) 

Disposals - recognised on divestments (O 5) (0 8) (13) 

Transfers 2 l 14 35 
Foreign exchange (6 O) (15) (07) (O 2) (8 4) 

At 31 March 2010 1606 53 5 14 7 134 36 1 278 3 

Amort1sat1on and impairment 

At 1 April 2009 55 9 27 5 2 6 45 12 l 102 6 

Amort1satron charge for the year 160 83 18 30 83 37 4 

Impairment in year 33 33 

Disposals (0 2) (3 1) (3 3) 

Disposals- recognised on divestments (05) (04) (O 9) 

Fore1sn exchange (14) (08) (O 2) (O 1) (2 S) 

At 31 March 2010 70 5 345 42 73 20.1 136.6 

Net book value at 31 March 2010 90.1 19 0 105 61 16 0 141.7 
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13 Business comb1nat1ons 
Acqu1s1t1on of subs1d1aries for the year ended 31 March 2011 
The Group has adopted IFRS 3 (2008) Business Comb1nat1ons and IAS 27 (2008) Consol1dated and separate f1nanc1al statements with 
effect from 1 April 2010 

On 16 December 2010, the Group acquired 100 per cent of the issued share capital of Sensopt1cs L1m1ted from its founder management 
team If the acqu1s1t1on had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenue for the period would have been 
£1,705 Om and the Group profit before tax would have been £27 3m 

Acqu1s1t1ons rn the year to 31 March 2011 
Contnbut1on post-acqu1s1t1on 

Fair value 
Cash Deferred of assets Operating Company acquired 

all figures m £ m1lhon 
Date 

acquired cons1derat1on ' consideration Goodwill acqu1red2 Revenue profit 

Sensopt1cs limited 

Current year acquisitions 

Cons1derat1on 1n respect 
of prior year acqu1s1t1ons3 

Dominion Technology 
Resources, Inc 

Total 

16 December 
2010 28 09 

28 09 

13 5 

16 3 09 
1 

Initial cash cons1derat1on includes price adjustments for working capital and net debt 
2 Fair value of assets acqurred are prov1s1onal 
3 

Cash cons1derat10n paid in the year includes consideration amounts m respect of prior year acqu1S1tmns 

(O 2) 39 07 02 

(0 2) 39 07 02 

(0 2) 39 07 02 

Set out below are the allocations of purchase cons1derat1on, assets and hab1lit1es of the acqu1s1t1on made 1n the year and the adjustments 
required to the book values of the assets and hab1l1t1es rn order to present the net assets of these businesses at fair value and 1n 
accordance with Group accounting pohc1es The fair values remain prov1s1onal, but will be finalised within 12 months of acqu1s1t1on 

Sensoptics L1m1ted 
Acqu1s1t1on 1n the year to 31 March 2011 

Book Fair value Fair value at 
all figures rn £ m11J1on note value adjustment acqwsrt1on 

Intangible assets 12 40 40 
Property, plant and equipment 14 

Trade and other receivables 10 10 
Other current assets 05 05 
Trade and other payables (1 0) (10) 
Cash and cash equ1valents 05 05 
Deferred tax lrab1hty 25 (11) (11) 
Net assets acquired 1.0 29 39 
Goodwill {O 2) 

37 
Cons1derat1on sat1sfred by 

Cash 28 
Deferred cons1deratron 09 
Total cons1derat1on 37 

Sensopt1cs Limited 1s a designer of f1bre-optrc sensrng hardware Sensopt1cs L1m1ted was acquired to combine its technology with 
Q1net1Q's OptaSense• signal processing capab1l1t1es The OptaSense• solution provides cost-effective around-the-clock distributed 
acoustrc monitoring over long distances 

The intangible assets acquired as part of the business comb1nat1on relate to the intellectual property embodied w1th1n the Sensopt1cs 
Limited exrst1ng products and products under development 

Total expected payments are 1n excess of the fair value of net assets acquired However, certain potential payments are linked to 
cont1nu1ng employment assumptions for the retained founder management team, which would be forfeited 1n full should they leave 
within the stipulated perrod Under IFRS 3 (revised) this type of arrangement 1s required to be accounted for as remuneration expense 
as opposed to part of the consrderat1on As a result, the acqu1s1t1on resulted 1n negative goodwill of £0 2m, which was recognised as a 
gain 1n the consohdated income statement within "ga1n/(loss) on business combinations and divestments and unrealised impairment 
of investments" The discounted fair value of the deferred contingent purchase price payments treated as remuneration was £6 lm 
and this was charged to the consolrdated income statement w1th1n operating costs (s1gn1f1cant non-recurring items) Acqu1s1t1on-related 
costs (included w1th1n other operating costs excluding depreciation and amortisation) amount to £0 2m 
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13 Business combinations continued 
Adjustments to goodw1ll 1n respect of prior year acqu1s1t1ons 
Cyve1llance, Inc 
The comparative figures for the balance sheet for the year ended 31 March 2010 have been restated to update the 1n1t1al estimate of 
the fan value of assets acquired with Cyvei!lance, Inc on 1 July 2009 The tax losses acquired at the time have subsequently been valued 
The financial effect of this rs to reduce goodwill and decrease the deferred ta.x hab1hty on the balance sheet by £19m There 1s no impact 
on the Group's reported profit before tax for these periods An add1t1onal column has not been included on the balance sheet to show 
the opening pos1t1on m relation to the restated amounts as the restatement would not have affected the opening pos1t1on 

Acqu1s1t1ons 1n the year to 31 March 2010 
Contnbut1on post-acqu1s1t1on 

Farr value 
Company acquired Date Cash Deferred of assets Operating 
all fi~ures m £ m1ll1on acqurred cons1derat1on1 cons1derat1on2 Goodw1113 acqurred3 Revenue profit 

QNA acqu1s1tions 

C~etllance, Inc 1Julx2009 26 1 04 17 2 9 3 59 09 

Current year acquls1t1ons 26 1 04 17 2 93 59 09 
Deferred cons1derat1on in 
respect of prior year 
acquisitions 

ITS Corporation 62 
Novare Services Pty Ltd 04 
Spectra, Inc 08 
Dominion Technology 
Resources, Inc 12 8 
Total 46 3 04 17 2 93 59 0.9 

~ ln1t1al cash cons1derat1on includes acq1.11s1t1on costs and pnce ad1ustments for working capital and net debt 
The deferred consrderat1on of £0 4m was recogmsed on the acqumt1on of Cyve1Uance, Inc based upon the estimated payment to be made This deferred cons1derat1on 
was credited to the consolidated income statement m the year to 31March2011 as the cond1t1ons for the deferred cons1derat1on were not met 

1 
Goodwill and deferred tax llab11Jt1es have been restated to reflect fair value changes in respect of the acqu1s1t1on of Cyve1llance in the year ended 31 March 2010 

Set out below are the allocations of purchase cons1derat1on, assets and hab1l1t1es of the acqu1s1t1ons made 1n the pnor year and the 
adjustments required to the book values of the assets and hab1ht1es 1n order to present the net assets of these businesses at fair value 
and 1n accordance with Group accounting pohc1es The fair value adjustment 1n respect of deferred tax llab1Jit1es has been restated as 
a result of the tax losses being re-valued 

Cyvelllance, Inc 

Acqu1s1tron rn the year to 31 March 2010 

all figures m £ mlll1on 

Intangible assets 

Property, plant and equipment 

Trade and other receivables 

Other current assets 

Trade and other payables 

Cash .and cash equivalents 

Deferred tax hab1hty 

Other l1ab1l1t1es 

Net assets acquired 

Goodwill 

Cons1derat1on sat1sf1ed by 

Cash 
Deferred cons1derat1on 

Total consideration before costs 

Related costs of acqu1s1t1on 

note 

12 

14 

Book value 

04 

10 

07 

(O 2) 

07 

(49) 

(2 3) 

Fair value 
adjustment 

160 

(44) 

116 

Fair value at 
acqu1srt1on 

160 

04 

10 

07 
(O 2) 

07 
(4 4) 

(49) 

93 

17 2 

265 

25 6 

04 

26 0 

05 

26 5 

The fair value adjustments include £16 Om m relation to the recognition of acquired 1ntang1ble assets less the recogn1t1on of a deferred 
tax hab1hty of £4 4m 1n relation to these 1ntang1ble assets 
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14 Property, plant and equipment 
Year ended 31 March 2011 

Plant, Computers 
Land and machrnery and office Assets under 

all fiEures m £ m1lhon butldtn~ andveh1des ~UtEment construct10n Total 

Cost 

At 1 Apnl 2010 3046 151 7 58 8 12 2 527 3 

Add1t1ons 10 28 33 12 7 19 8 

Dtsposals (1 9) (7 8) (111) (0 2) (21 O) 

Transfers 36 96 {19) (11 6) (O 3) 

Transfer to Assets Held for Sale (09) (5 5) (64) 

Fore1~n exchange (0 6) (07) (09) (2 2) 

At 31 March 2011 305 8 1501 482 131 517 2 

Deprec1at1on 

At 1 Apnl 2010 95 6 107 2 39 0 2418 

Charge for the year 118 15 3 65 33 6 
Impairment 58 12 70 

Impairment reversal (11) (11) 
Disposals (1 5) (7 1) {10 9) (19 5) 

Transfers 01 (O 2) (01) 

Transfer to Assets Held for Sale {40) (40) 

Foreign exchanse (0 4) (O 4) (O 6) (14) 

At 31 March 2011 1103 112 2 33 8 256 3 

Net book value at 31 March 2011 195 5 37 9 144 131 2609 

lmparrment of land and buildings of £5 Sm relates to vacant owned properties where there has been no external tenants following 
vacancies arising tn the year The impairment reversal of £1 lm relates to vacant property where a new tenant has been found Plant, 
machinery and vehicles impairments of £1 2m relates to the 1mparrment of assets which are no longer generating revenue 

Year ended 31 March 2010 
Plant, Computers 

Land and machinery and office Assets under 
all flsures tn £ m1lhon bu1ldm~ and vehicles ~U1E!:ment construction Total 

Cost 

At 1 Apnl 2009 302 2 1366 62 5 24 4 525 7 

Add1t1ons 19 34 34 14 8 23 5 

Acqu1s1t1on of subs1d1anes 01 03 04 

Disposals (3 5) (1 O) (2 2) (4 8) (115) 

Disposals- recognised on divestments (1 7) (2 8) (13) (5 8) 

Transfers 57 15 9 (3 O) (221) (3 5) 

Fore1Rn exchange (0 1) (O 4) (O 9) (O 1) {l 5) 

At 31 March 2010 304 6 151 7 58.8 12 2 527 3 

Deprec1at1on 

At 1 Apnl 2009 645 901 38 7 193 3 

Charge for the year 118 16 7 66 351 

Impairment 207 33 240 

Disposals (3 5) {l 0) (2 2) (6 7) 

DlSposals- recognised on divestments (10) (18) (10) (3 8) 

Transfers 31 (0 1) (3 0) 

Fore1S:n exchange (O 1) (O 1) 

At 31 March 2010 95 6 107 2 390 2418 

Net book value at 31 March 2010 209 0 445 198 12 2 285 5 

Under the terms of the Business Transfer Agreement with the MOD, certain restnct1ons have been placed on freehold land and 
buildings, and certarn plant and machinery related to them These restnct1ons are detailed 1n note 36 
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15 Other financial assets 
As at 31 March 
all fi ures 1n £ mllhon 

Current financial assets 

Denvatsve f1nanc1al instruments 

Net investment m finance lease 

Total current financial assets 

Non-current financial assets 

Net investment in finance lease 

Total non-current financial assets 

Total financial assets 

16 Equity accounted investments 
Year ended 31 March 2011 

all figures m £ m1lhon 

Revenue 

Profit after tax 

Non-current assets 

Current assets 

Current hab1ht1es 

Non-current hab1lrt1es 

Net assets 

Year ended 31 March 2010 

alt figures m £ m11J1on 

Revenue 

Profit after tax 

Non-current assets 

Current assets 

Current l1abrl1t1es 

Non-current l1ab1lrt1es 

Net assets 

2011 

30 

30 

82 

82 

112 

Jomt venture 
and associates 

financial results 

24 9 

05 

15 

78 

93 

(4 7) 

(04) 

(5 1) 

42 

Jomt venture 
and associates 

financial results 

189 

05 

12 

69 

81 

(4 7) 

(O 2) 

(49) 

32 

2010 

48 

30 

78 

100 

100 

17 8 

Group net 
share of Jomt 
ventures and 

associates 

73 

02 

05 

25 

30 

(1 8) 

(O 1) 

(19) 

11 

Group net 
share of JOmt 
ventures and 

associates 

59 

02 

04 

2 1 

25 
(15) 

(O 1) 

(16) 

09 

The unrecognised share of losses of equity accounted investments at 31 March 2011 was fnll (31 March 2010 £n1I) Durmg the year 
ended 31 March 2011, there were sales to 101nt ventures of £n1I (2010 £n1I) and to associates of £n1I (2010 £2 7m) At year end, there 
were outstanding receivables from 1ornt ventures of £nil (2010 £n1I) and £nil {2010 £0 3m) from associates There were no other related 
party transactions between the Group and its JO•nt ventures and associates 1n the year 
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17 Other non-current investments 
all figures 1n f m1ll1on 

Available for sale investments at 1 April 

Impairment charged to income statement 1n year 

Fore1 n exchange 

Available for sale investments at 31 March 

2011 

48 

48 

2010 

15 7 

(10 8) 

(0 1) 

48 

Impairments m the prior year related to four unquoted investments due to a decline m the future growth prospects of the markets 
m which those investments operate 

18 Inventories 
As at 31 March 
all figures m £ m1lhon 2011 2010 

Raw materials 25 6 44 
Work m progress 28 32 8 
Fm1shed goods 17 0 42 6 

45 4 79 8 

The reduction 1n work m progress during the year includes a wnte down of work 1n progress 1n respect of the Defence Tra1n1ng Review 
bid costs cap1tal1sed prior to the MO D's announcement of the cancellation of the programme The write down 1s included 1n Other 
Operating Costs as a Non-recurring item 

19 Trade and other receivables 
As at 31 March 
all fi ures 1n £ m11l1on 

Trade debtors 

Amounts recoverable under contracts 

Other debtors 
Pre a ments 

2011 

189 8 

152 4 

315 
15 8 

389 5 

2010 

2130 

1807 

99 
20 2 

4238 

In determ1n1ng the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group considers any changes rn the credit quahty of the trade receivable from 
the date credit was granted up to the reporting date Credit nsk 1s l1m1ted due to the high percentage of turnover being derived from UK 
and US defence and other government agencies Accordingly, the Directors belteve there 1s no further credit prov1s1on required 1n excess 
of the allowance for doubtful debts As at 31 March 2011, the Group earned a prov1s1on for doubtful debts of £5 Sm (2010 £8 Sm) 

Ageing of past due but not impaired receivables 
all figures m £ m1ll1on 2011 

Up to three months so 1 
Over three months 24 

52 5 

Movements on the Group doubtful debt provision 
all fr ures m £ m1lhon 2011 

At 1 April 88 
Created 20 
Released (41) 
Utilised (09) 

At 31 March 58 

The maximum exposure to credit risk rn relation to trade receivables at the reporting date 1s the fair value of trade receivables 
The Group does not hold any collateral as security 

20 Current asset investments 
As at 31 March 
all fi ures m £ m1Jhon 

Available for sale investment 
2011 

23 

2010 

29 4 

28 

32 2 

2010 

59 

56 
(2 7) 

88 

2010 

2 3 

At 31 March 2011 the Group held a 4 9% shareholding rn pS1v1da limited (31 March 2010 4 9%), a company hsted on NASDAQ and the 
Australian and Frankfurt Stock Exchanges The investment 1s held at fair value of £2 3m (2010 £2 3m) using the closing share price at 
31 March 2011 of A$4 00 per share (31 March 2010 A$4 20 per share) 
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21 Assets class1f1ed as held for sale 
As at 31 March 
all fl ures in £ m1lhon 

Property, plant and equipment 

Total assets held for sale 

Various properties 1n the UK that are surplus to the Group's requtrements are being marketed for sale 

22 Cash and cash equivalents 
As at 31 March 
all figures in£ m11J1on 

Cash 

Cash e u1valents 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

2011 

75 

7.5 

2011 

58 3 
44 2 

102 5 

At 31 March 2011 £4 Sm (31 March 2010 £4 4m) of cash is held by the Group's captive insurance subsrd1ary 1ndudrng £4 Sm 
(2010 £3 6m) which 1s restrrcted 1n its use 

23 Trade and other payables 
As at 31 March 
all fi ures 1n £ m1lhon 2011 
Trade creditors 37 5 
Other tax and social security 34 6 
Other creditors 24 5 
Accruals and deferred income 369 0 

Total current trade and other payables 465 6 
Payments received on account 231 
Other ayables 07 

Total non-current trade and other payables 23 8 
Total trade and other payables 4894 
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2010 

51 
51 

2010 

57 2 

67 

63 9 

2010 

480 

369 
25 2 

2863 

3964 

23 7 

115 

35 2 

4316 



24 Prov1s1ons 
Year ended 31 March 2011 
all fis;ures m £million Restructunns; other1 Total 

At 1 April 2010 96 14 4 24 0 

Created m year 35 5 115 47 0 

Released m year (3 3) (2 2) (5 5) 

Unwind of discount 02 02 

Reclasslficat1on to other balance sheet accounts 11 11 

Utilised in year (318) (2 0) (33 8) 

At 31 March 2011 10 0 23 0 33 0 

Current l1ab1l1ty 10 0 10 4 204 

Non-current l1ab1ltty 12 6 12 6 

At 31March2011 10 0 23 0 33 0 

Year ended 31 March 2010 
all figures m £ mdhon Restructuring Other Total 

At 1 Apnl 2009 09 12 2 13 1 

Created 1n year 44 1 79 52 0 

Released m year (4 1) (4 1) 

Utthsed m :tear (35 4) {16) (370) 

At 31 March 2010 96 144 240 

Current l1ab1l1ty 96 65 161 

Non-current l1ab1J1ty 79 79 

At 31 March 2010 96 14A 24 0 

'Other provmons compnse legal, erw1ronmental, property and other Hab1l1t1es and are expected to be utilised w1th1n the next five years 

The restructuring prov1stons are expected to be utilised w1thm the next year 

25 Deferred tax 
Deferred tax assets and hab1ht1es are only offset where there 1s a legally enforceable nght to offset and there 1s an 1ntent1on to settle 
the balances net 

Movements 1n the deferred tax assets and hab1ht1es are shown below 

Year ended 31 March 2011 
Deferred tax asset 

all fig_ures rn £ m1llron 

At 1 Apnl 2010 

Created through income statement 

Created through equity 

Prior-year adjustment 

Foreign exchange 

Transfer to current tax 

Reclasslf1cat1on from deferred tax l1ab1hty 

Deferred tax 1meact of change 1n rates 
Gross deferred tax asset at 31 March 2011 

Less hab1h!i: available for offset 

Net deferred tax asset at 31 March 2011 

Pens10n 
liabd!!:t, 

412 

(7 6) 

13 

(2 5) 

32A 

Accelerated Short-term 
capital t1mrng 

allowances Hed~n~ differences 

37 35 4 

12 45 

(48) 

(08) 

{19) 

04 

06 

06 01 37 6 

The net deferred tax asset created in the year relating to the pension hab1l1ty includes £1 3m released to equity (2010 £16 9m 
released to equity) 

Total 

803 
(1 9) 

(3 5) 

(08) 

(19) 

04 

06 

(2 5) 

707 

(369) 

338 
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25 Deferred tax continued 
Deferred tax llab1hty 

all figures in £ mlllron 

At 1 April 2010
1 

Acqu1s1t1on 

Created through the rncome statement 

Prior-year adjustment 

Foreign exchange 

Deferred tax impact of change 1n rates 

Transfer to deferred tax asset 

Gross deferred tax hab1hty at 31March2011 

less asset available for offset 

Net deferred tax liab1hty at 31 March 2011 

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 

(14 7) 

17 0 

(1 7) 

01 

(0 1) 

(0 6) 

Amort1sat1on Total 

(45 8) (60 5) 

(11) (11) 

42 212 

35 18 

22 23 

01 

(06) 

(36 9) (36 9) 

369 

1 
Goodwill and deferred tax ltab1l1t1es have been restated to reflect fair value changes 1n respect of an acqu1s1t1on 1n the year ended 31 March 2010 (see note 13) 

At the balance sheet date, the Group had unused tax losses of £188 7m (2010 £117 lm) potentially available for offset against future 
profits No deferred tax asset has been recognised 1n respect of this amount due to uncertarnty over the t1m1ng of its ut1l1sat1on These 
losses can be earned forward 1ndef1n1tely 

Year ended 31 March 2010 
Deferred tax asset 

all figures 1n £ m1lhon 

At 1 April 2009 

Created 

Prior-year adjustment 

Foreign exchange 

Transfer 

Gross deferred tax asset at 31 March 2010 

less hab1l1ty available for offset 

Net deferred tax asset at 31 March 2010 

Deferred tax llab1l1ty 

all figures in£ m11J1on 

At 1 April 2009 
Acqu 1s1t1ons 

Created 

Prior-year adjustment 

Foreign exchange 

Restatement1 

Gross deferred tax liab11Jty at 31March2010 

Less asset available for offset 

Net deferred tax hab1hty at 31 March 2010 

29 4 

118 

412 

Hedging 

66 

(2 9) 

37 

Short-term 
t1m1ng 

differences 

22 0 

64 

13 
(11) 

68 

35 4 

Total 

580 
15 3 
13 

(11) 

68 

80 3 
(516) 

28 7 

Accelerated tax 
deprec1at1on and 

amort1sat ion 

(669) 

(6 3) 

10 2 
(11) 

17 

19 

(60 5) 

516 

(89) 
1 Goodwill and deferred tax 6ab1lrt1es have been restated to reflect fatr value changes m respect of an acqu1s1t1on m the year ended 31 March 2010 (see note 13) 
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26 Other financial hab1ht1es - current 
As at 31 March 
all figures rn £ mllllon 

Bank overdraft 
Deferred f1nanc1ng costs 

US$13Sm 5 44% pnvate placement, maturity date December 2013 (repaid May 2011) 

Finance lease creditor 

Derivative financial instruments 

2011 2010 

03 3 2 

(O 6) (07) 

94 3 

28 28 

04 36 

97 2 89 

Further analysis of the terms and maturity dates for f1nanc1al ltab1llt1es are set out m note 28 In March 2011 the Group gave notice 

to repay the whole US$135m pnvate placement ongmally maturing December 2013 This was repaid 1n May 2011 

27 Other financial ilab1ilt1es - non-current 
As at 31 March 
all figures m £ m11l1on 

Bank loan 
Deferred financrng costs 

US$13Sm 5 44% private placement, maturity date December 2013 (repaid May 2011) 

US$62m 7 13% private placement, repayable February 2016 

US$125m 5 50% private placement, repayable December 2016 

US$238m 7 62% pnvate placement, repayable February 2019 

Fmance lease creditor 

Denvatrve f1nanc1al instruments 

2011 

(1 7) 

(1 7) 

39 6 
78 9 

152 7 

79 

2774 

2010 

143 7 

(09) 

142 8 

904 

419 

83 4 

1610 
97 

10 

530 2 

The bank loan m the pnor year reflected draw·downs under the Revolving Credit Facility which compnsed loans of US$210m and €6m 

as at March 2010 These were repaid 1n the year to 31 March 2011 After the effect of interest rate swaps the loan had an average fixed 
rate of 4 35% 

All the US prtvate placements have been issued as fixed·rate bonds and have not been converted to float1ng·rate Further analysis of 
the terms and matunty dates for f1nanc1al llab11Et1es are set out 1n note 28 
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28 Fmanc1al nsk management 
The Group's 1nternat1onal operations and debt f1nanc1ng expose 1t to f1nancral nsks which include the effects of changes 1n foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates, credit nsks and hqu1d1ty nsks 

Treasury and nsk management policies are set by the Board, setting out specific guidelines on financial nsks and the use of f1nanc1al 
instruments to manage nsk The instruments and techniques used to manage exposures include foreign currency denvat1ves and interest 
rate denvat1ves Group treasury monitors financial risks and compliance with nsk management policies 

A) Fair values of financial instruments 
The fair value hierarchy 1s as follows 

Level 1 Quoted pnces (unadjusted) 1n active markets for rdent1cal assets or hab1ht1es, 

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted pnces including those within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or hab1hty, either directly 
(1 e as prices) or indirectly (1 e denved from prices), and 

Level 3 Inputs for the assets or hab1hty that are not based on observable market data (1 e unobservable inputs) 

The following table presents the Group's assets and hab1ht1es that are measured at fair value at 31 March 2011 

note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Assets 

Current other investments 20 23 
Non-current other investments 17 48 

Liabilities 

Current denvat1ve financial instruments 26 (O 4) 

Total 23 {O 4) 48 

Total 

23 
48 

(0 4) 

67 

For cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and bank and current borrowings, the fair value of the financial instruments 
approximate to their carrying value due to the short maturity perrods of these financial instruments For trade and other receivables, 
allowances are made within the carrying value for credit risk For other financral instruments, the fair value 1s based on market value, 
where available Where market values are not available, the fair values have been calculated by d1scount1ng cash flows to net present 
value using prevailing market-based interest rates translated at the year-end rates, except for unlisted fixed asset investments where 
fair value equals carrying value 
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All financial assets and hab1ht1es have a farr value 1dent1cal to book value at 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 except where 
noted below 

As at 31 March 2011 

Financial asset 
fair value Flnancial 
through hab1lrt1esat Denvat1ves Total 
income Available Loans and amortised used as carrying 

all fis;ures m £ m1ll1on note statement for sale receivables cost heds;es value 

F1nanc1al assets 

Non-current 

Net investment m finance lease 15 82 82 

Equity accounted investments 16 11 11 

Other investments 17 48 48 

Current 

Net investment 1n finance leases 15 30 30 
Trade and other receivables 19 389 5 389 5 
Investments 20 23 23 

Cash and cash equivalents 22 102 5 102 5 

82 503 2 5114 

F1nanc1al hab1ht1es 

Non-current 

Trade and other payables 23 (23 8) (23 8) 

Bank and other borrowings 27 (269 5) (269 5) 

Finance lease 32 (7 9) (7 9) 

Current 

Trade and other payables 23 (465 6) (465 6) 

Denvatrve f1nanc1al instruments 26 (0 4) (04) 

Finance lease 32 (28) (2 8) 

Bank overdraft, finance cost and 
private placement 26 (940) (940) 

(863 6) (0 4) (864 0) 

Total 82 503 2 (863 6) (0 4) (352 6) 

Total 
Fair 

value 

92 

11 

48 

30 

389 5 

23 

102 5 

512 4 

(23 8) 

(298 5) 

(8 6) 

(465 6) 

(0 4) 

(28) 

(940) 

(893 7) 

(381 3) 

For cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and bank and other borrowings, the fa 1r value of the f1nanc1al instruments 
approximate to their carrying value due to the short maturity periods of these financial instruments For trade and other receivables, 
allowances are made w1th1n the carrying value for credit nsk For other f1nanc1al instruments, the farr value 1s based on market value, 
where avarlable Where market values are not available, fair values have been calculated by d1scount1ng cash flows to net present values 
usrng prevailing market-based rnterest rates translated at year-end exchange rates, except for unlisted fixed asset investments where 
a fair value equals book value 
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28 Financial nsk management continued 
A) Fair values of financial instruments continued 

As at 31 March 2010 
Financial asset 

fair value F1nanc1al 
through l1ab1ht1es at Derrvatives Totat Total 
income Available Loans and amortised used as carrymg fair 

all fiB;ures 1n £ mllhon note statement for sale receivables cost hed~es value value 

F1nanc1al assets 

Non-current 

Net rnvestment m finance tease 15 10 0 100 114 

Equity accounted investments 16 09 09 09 

Other investments 17 48 48 48 

Current 

Denvative f1nanc1al instruments 15 48 48 48 

Net investment in finance leases 15 30 30 30 
Trade and other receivables 19 423 8 423 8 423 8 

Investments 20 23 23 23 

Cash and cash equivalents 22 63 9 63 9 63 9 

48 80 500 7 5135 514 9 

F1nanc1al hab1htles 

Non-current 

Trade and other payables 23 (35 2) (35 2) (35 2) 

Derivative f1nanc1al instruments 27 (1 O) (1 O) (1 O) 

Bank and other borrowings 27 (519 5) (519 5) (552 7) 

Finance lease 32 (9 7) (9 7) (10 7) 

Current 

Trade and other payables 23 (3964) (396 4) (3964) 

Denvatrve financial instruments 26 (3 6) (3 6) (3 6) 

Finance lease 32 (2 8) (2 8) (2 8) 

Bank overdraft and finance cost 26 (2 5) (2 5) (2 5) 

(966 1) (4 6) (970 7) (1,004 9) 

Total 48 8.0 500 7 (966 1) (4 6) (457 2) (490 O) 
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B) Interest rate nsk 

The Group operates an interest rate policy designed to opt1m1se interest cost and reduce volatility in reported earnings The Group's 
current policy 1s to require rates to be fixed for 30-80% of the level of borrowings, achieved pnmanly through fixed rate borrowings, 
and also through the use of interest rate swaps Where there are s1gn1f1cant changes in level and or structure of debt, pohcy permits 
borrowrngs to be 100% fixed, with regular Board review of the appropriateness of th ts fixed percentage At 31 March 201199% 
(2010 98%) of the Group's borrowings were at fixed rates with no adjustment for interest rate swaps at 31 March 2011 

F1nanc1al assets/(hab1ht1es) 
As at 31 March 2011 

all figures m £ m1ll1on 

Sterling 

US dollar 

Euro 

Australian dollar 

Other 

As at 31 March 2010 

all figures m £ m1ll1on 

Sterling 

US dollar 

Euro 

Australian dollar 

Fixed or 
capped 

112 

112 

Fixed or 
capped 

13 0 

130 

Financial asset 

Float mg 

808 

15 1 

17 

47 

02 

102 5 

Fmancral asset 

Floating 

56 3 
44 

14 

18 

63 9 

Non-mterest 
bearmg 

48 

23 

71 

Non-interest 
bearing 

10 5 

23 

12 8 

Fixed or 
capped 

(10 7) 

(365 5) 

(376 2) 

Fixed or 
capped 

(12 5) 

(515 2) 

(527 7) 

Financial habihty 

Floating 

(O 3) 

(03) 

F1nanc1al l1ab1l1ty 

Floatmg 

(0 3) 

(O 1) 

(5 2) 

(1 2) 

(6 8) 

Non-interest 
bearing 

(04) 

(0 4) 

Non-interest 
bearing 

(08) 
(3 8) 

(4 6) 

Floating rate f1nanc1al assets attract interest based on the relevant national LIBID equivalent Floating rate f1nanc1al llab1l1t1es bear 
interest at the relevant natronal LIBOR equivalent Trade and other rece1vables/(payables) and deferred finance costs are excluded 
from this analysis 

For the fixed or capped rate finane1al assets and hab1ht1es, the average interest rates (mcludmg the relevant marginal cost of borrowing) 
and the average penod for which the rates are frxed are 

2011 2010 

Weighted Weighted 
Fixed or average Weighted Fixed or average Weighted 
capped mterest rate average years to capped interest rate average years 

£m % matur £m % to matun 

Financial assets 

Sterling 112 134 45 130 134 55 

F1nancral llab1llt1es 

Sterling (10 7) 12 1 45 (12 5) 12 1 55 

US dollar (365 5) 66 52 (515 2) 59 48 

(376 2) 6.7 51 (527 7) 61 48 

Sterling assets and hab1ltt1es consist pnmanly of finance leases wrth the weighted average interest rate reflecting the internal rate 
ofreturnofthoseleases 

Interest rate nsk management 
The Group pnvate placement borrowrngs are fixed rate, whrle the Revolving Credit Facility 1s floating rate and undrawn as at 31 March 
2011 The notional pnnc1pal amount of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 March 2011 was £nrl (31 March 2010 
£138 4m or US$210m) 
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28 Fmanc1al risk management continued 
C) Currency risk 
Transactronal currency exposure 
The Group 1s exposed to foreign currency nsks arising from sales or purchases by businesses 1n currencies other than their functional 
currency It 1s Group pohcy that when such a sale or purchase 1s certain, the net forergn exchange exposure 1s hedged using forward 
foreign exchange contracts Hedge accounting documentation and effectiveness testing are undertaken for all the Group's transactional 
hedge contracts 

The table below shows the Group's currency exposures, being exposures on currency transactions that give nse to net currency gains 
and losses recognised 1n the income statement Such exposures comprise the monetary assets and l1ab1l1t1es of the Group that are not 
denominated 1n the functional currency of the operating company involved, other than certain non-sterling borrowings treated as 
hedges of net investments 1n overseas ent1t1es 

Functional currency of the operating company 

all figures 1n £ m1ll1ons 

31 March 2011- sterling 
31 March 2010- sterling 

US dollar 

15 5 

5 1 

Net foreign currency monetary assets/(hab1ht1es) 
Euro Australian dollar Other 

(2 7) 

14 
64 
41 

11 

04 

Total 

20 3 

110 

The amounts shown 1n the table take into account the effect of the forward contracts entered into to manage these currency exposures 

The Group enters into forward forergn currency contracts to hedge the currency exposures that anse on sales and purchases 
denominated 1n foreign currencies, as the transaction occurs The pnnc1pal contract amounts of the outstanding forward currency 
contracts as at 31 March 2011 agarnst sterling are net US dollars sold £S 4m (US$8 3m) and net Euros sold of £12 Sm (€14 3m) 

Translational currency exposure 
The Group has s1gn1f1cant investments in overseas operations, partrcularly 1n the United States As a result, the sterling value of the 
Group's balance sheet can be s1gn1f1cantly affected by movement 1n exchange rates The Group seeks to m1t1gate the effect of these 
translational exposures by matching the net investment 1n overseas operations with borrowings denominated m their functional 
currencies untess the cost of such hedging actw1ty IS uneconomic This is achieved by borrowing in the local currency or 1n some 
cases 1nd1rectly through the use of forward foreign exchange contracts 

The Group had one €6m currency loan and one A$1 Sm currency loan as net rnvestment hedges rn year, both were repaid before 
31 March 2011 

D) F1nancral credit nsk 
The Group rs exposed to credit-related losses rn the event of non-performance by counterpart1es to f1nanc1at instruments, but does not 
currently expect any counterpart1es to fail to meet their obl1gat1ons Credit nsk 1s m1t1gated by Board approved policy of only selecting 
counterpart1es with a strong investment grade long-term credit rating for cash deposits, normally at least AA- or equivalent In the 
normal course of business, the Group operates notronal cash pooling systems, where a legal nght of set-off applies 

The maximum cred1t-nsk exposure in the event of other partres fa1lrng to perform their obhgat1ons under financial assets, excluding 
trade and other receivables, totals £121 9m (2010 £80 2m) The Group held cash and cash equivalents of £102 Sm at 31 March 2011 
(2010 £63 9m), which represents the maximum credit exposure on these assets The cash and cash equivalents were held with different 
financial 1nst1tut1ons which are rated AA or better 
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E) Liquidity nsk 
Borrowing fac1htres 
As at 31 March 2011, the Group had a Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) of US$250m and £118m (2010 £500m) The RCF 1s contracted 
until 2016 and 1s ut1hsed as shown rn the table below 

Interest rate Total Drawn Undrawn 
UBOR plus £m £m £m 

Committed fac1ht1es 31 March 2011 145% 2742 274 2 

Freeli'. available cash and cash equivalents 980 

Available funds 31 March 2011 372 2 

Committed fac1ht1es 31 March 2010 03% 500 0 143 7 356 3 

Freeli'. available cash and cash egu1valents 639 

Available funds 31 March 2010 420 2 

Gross contractual cash-flows for borrowings and other financial liabilities 
The followrng are the contractual matunt1es of f1nanc1al hab1htres, including interest payments The cash flows associated with 
derivatives that are cash flow hedges are expected to impact profit or loss m the periods shown 

As at 31 March 2011 
Contractual More than 

all fiB;ures m £ m1ll1on Book value cash flows 1 ~aror less 1-2 :rears 3-5 :rears S years 

Non-derivative financial liab1ht1es 

Trade and other payables (489 4) (489 4) (465 6) (23 8) 

Bank overdrafts (0 3) (O 3) (0 3) 

US pnvate placement debt (365 5) (494 5) (113 3) (18 4) (94 6) (268 2) 

Recap1tal1sat1on fee 23 

Fmance leases (10 7) (12 6) (2 8) (2 8) (7 O) 

Derivative financial liablhtles 

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges 

Forward foreign currency contracts -

cash flow hed~es (O 4) (04) (O 4) 

(864 0) (997 2) (582.4) (45 0) (101 6) (268 2) 

As at 31 March 2010 
Contractual More than 

all fi~ures m £ m1llron Book value cash flows 1 year or less 1-2 years 3-5 :rears 5 years 

Non-derivative financial hablht1es 

Trade and other payables (431 6) (4316) (396 4) (35 2) 

Bank overdrafts (3 2) (3 2) (3 2) 

US pnvate placement debt (376 7) (549 9) (24 2) (24 2) (156 9) (344 6) 

Multi-currency revolvrng fac1l1ty (143 7) (143 7) (143 7) 

Recap1tal1sat1on fee 16 

Fmance leases (12 5) (15 5) (2 8) (2 8) (8 5) (14) 

Denvat1ve f1nanc1al liabilities 

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges (3 8) (38) (2 8) (08) (O 2) 

Forward foreign currency contracts -

cash flow hedges (O 8) (O 8) (0 8) 

(970 7) (1,148 5) (430 2) (63 O) (309 3) (346 0) 
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28 Frnancral rrsk management continued 
F) Derivative f1nanc1al instruments 

As at 31 March 
2011 2010 

all figures m £ m1lhon Asset gains llab1Jrty losses Net Asset gams L1ab1l1ty losses Net 

Interest rate swaps (3 8) (3 8) 

Forward foreign currency contracts-

cash flow hedges (04) (04) (08) (0 8) 

Forward forergn currency contracts -

not designated as hedge accounted 48 48 

Forward foreign currency c.ontracts-

net investment hedges 

Derivative assets/(hab1ht1es) at the end 

of the year (O 4) (0 4) 48 (46) 02 

As at 31 March 
2011 2010 

all figures m £ m1ll1on Asset~1ns L1ab1lrty losses Net Asset gains L1ab1l1ty losses Net 

Expected to be recognised 

In one year or less (0 4) (O 4) 48 (3 6) 12 

Between one and two years (08) (O 8) 

Between two and five years (0 2) (O 2) 

(0 4) (0.4) 48 (4 6) 02 

G) Matunty of financial hab1ht1es 

As at 31 March 2011 
Finance leases 

Trade and Bank and denvatrve 
other borrowings financial 

all fii!ijures 1n £ mllhon E!al!!bles and loan notes instruments Total 

Due 1n one year or less 465 6 940 32 562 8 

Due in more than one year but not more than two years 23 8 (0 6) 19 251 

Due 1n more than two years but not more than five years 38 5 55 440 

Due 1n more than fwe years 2316 05 232 1 

4894 363 5 111 864 0 

As at 31 March 2010 
Finance leases 

Trade and Bank and derivative 
other borrowings financial 

all fi~ures 1n £ mlll1on ~ayables and loan notes instruments Total 

Due 1n one year or less 396 4 25 64 405 3 

Due in more than one year but not more than two years 35 2 (0 7) 26 37 1 

Due 1n more than two years but not more than five years 143 5 67 150 2 

Due 1n more than fwe years 376 7 14 3781 

431 6 522.0 171 970.7 

88 Q1net1Q Group pie Annual Report and Accounts 2011 



H) Sens1t1v1ty analysis 

The Group's sens1t1v1ty to changes 1n market rates on f1nanc1al assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2011 is set out 1n the table below 
The impact of a weakening 1n sterlrng on the Group's financial assets and hab1lit1es would be more than offset in equity and income by its 
impact on the Group's overseas net assets and earnings respectively Sens1t1v1ty on Group assets other than f1nanc1al assets and ltab1ht1es 
1s not included 1n this analysis 

The amounts generated from the sens1t1v1ty analysis are forward-looking estimates of market risk assuming certain market cond1t1ons 
occur Actual results 1n the future may differ materially from those pro1ected results due to developments 1n the global f1nanc1al markets 
which may cause fluctuations 1n interest and exchange rates to vary from the hypothetical amounts disclosed 1n the table below, which 
therefore should not be considered a proiect1on of likely future events and losses 

The estimated changes for rnterest rate movements are based on an instantaneous decrease or increase of 1% (100 basis points) 1n 
the spec1f1c rate of interest applicable to each class of f1nanc1al instruments from the levels effective at 31 March 2011, with all other 
variables remaining constant The estimated changes for foreign exchange rates are based on an instantaneous 10% weakening or 
strengthening 1n sterling against all other currencies from the levels apphcable at 31 March 2011, with all other variables rema1n1ng 
constant Such analysis 1s for 1llustrat1ve purposes only - 1n practice market rates rarely change 1n 1solat1on 

As at 31 March 2011 

all figures in£ m11J1on 

Sterling 

US dollar 

Other 

all figures in£ m1ll1on 

Sterling 

US dollar 
Other 

As at 31 March 2010 

all figures rn £ m1ll1on 

Sterling 

US dollar 

Other 

all figures m £ m1lhon 

Sterling 

US dollar 

Other 

1% decrease 1n interest rates 
Profit 

Equity before tax 

(O 6) 

(0 1) 

1% increase in interest rates 

Equity 
Profit 

before tax 

08 
02 
01 

1% decrease in interest rates 

Profit before 
tax 

(O 3) 

(3 1) 

1 % increase 1n interest rates 

Profit before 
Equity ta> 

05 
31 

10% weakening 1n sternng 

Equity 

(38 9) 

10 

Profit 
before tax 

(30) 

10%strengthenlng 1n ster11ng 

Equity 

318 

(1 OJ 

Profit 
before tax 

22 

10% weakening rn sterhng 

Equity 

(418) 

(O 1) 

Profit before 
tax 

(3 4) 

10% strengthening in sterling 

Equity 

34 2 

01 

Profit before 
tax 

28 
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Frnanc1al statements 
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29 Cash flows from operations 
all figures rn £ m1lhon 2011 2010 

Prof1t/(loss) after tax for the period so (63 3) 

Ad1ustments for 

Taxation expense/(1ncome) 216 (2 8) 
Net finance costs 308 34 6 

(Ga1n)/loss on business divestments and unrealised 1mpa1rment of investments (2 7) 62 

Amort1sat1on of purchased or rnternally developed 1ntang1ble assets 115 113 

Amort1sat1on of rntang1ble assets arising from acqu1s1t1ons and impairments 26 3 79 5 
Deprec1at1on and 1mpa1rment of property, plant and equipment 39 5 591 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 10 
Share of post-tax profit of equrty accounted ent1tres (0 2) (O 2) 
Share·based payments charge 33 58 
Net inventory wrrte-0ffs rn respect of cap1tahsed DTR·programme bid costs 23 8 
Changes rn retirement benefit obhgat1ons (13 4) (18 4) 
Pension curtailment gain (4 9) (2 0) 
Net movement rn prov1s1ons 90 109 

150 6 120 7 

Increase 1n rnventones 1 (5 1) (131) 
Decrease rn receivables 45 6 89 9 

lncreaseL,decrease} rn ~ayables 64 7 (28 3) 

Changes in working capital 105 2 485 

Cash generated from operations 255 8 169 2 

Add back cash outflow relatrng to UK restructunn~ 31 8 354 

Net cash flow from operations before UK restructuring costs 287 6 204 6 
1 Excludes inventory wnte-offs m respect of capitalised OTR programme bid costs 

30 Reconc1llat1on of net cash flow to movement in net debt 
all figures m £ mllhon note 2011 2010 

lncrease/{decrease) rn cash 1n the year 429 (200 9) 
Repayment of bank loans 1441 232 1 
Proceeds from bank borrowings (49) 

Settlement of forward contracts designated as net investment hedges 14 3 
Payment of bank loan arrangement fees 24 
Capital element of frnance lease payments 28 28 
Capital element of frnance lease receipts (3 O) (3 0) 

Change 1n net debt resulting from cash flows 1843 45 3 
Amort1sat1on of deferred financing costs (1 7) (0 7) 
Finance lease receivables 12 14 
Fmance lease payables (1 O) (11) 

Forergn exchange movements and other non-cash movements 13 7 35 6 

Movement 1n net debt 1n the year 196 5 80 5 
Net debt at the start of the year (457 4) (537 9) 

Net debt at the end of the year 31 (260 9) (457 4) 
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31 Analysis of net debt 

all frgures m £ m1ll1on 

Due w1th1n one year 

Bank and cash 
Bank overdraft 

Recap1tal1sat1on fee 

Finance lease receivables 

US pnvate placement 

Finance lease payables 

Derivative f1nanc1al assets 

Derivative financial hab1ht1es 

Due after one year 
Bank loan 

Recap1tal1sat1on fee 

US pnvate placement 

Finance lease receivables 

Finance lease payables 

Derivative f1nanc1al assets 

Denvatrve f1nancral l1ab1l1t1es 

Total net debt as defined by the Group 

32 Finance leases 
Group as a lessor 

Asat 
31 March 2010 

639 

(3 2) 

07 

30 

(2 8) 

48 

(3 6) 

62 8 

(143 7) 

09 
(376 7) 

10 0 

(9 7) 

(1 0) 

(520 2) 

(457 4) 

The m1n1mum lease receivables under finance leases fall as follows 

all figures m £ m11J1on 

Amounts receivable under finance leases 

W1th1n one year 

In the second to fifth years 1nclus1ve 

Greater than five years 

Less unearned fmance mcome 

Present value of minimum lease payments 

Class1f1ed as follows 

F1nanc1al asset - current 

F1nanc1al asset- non-current 

Cash flow Redasslficat1on 

40 0 

29 

(3 O) 

28 

42 7 

1392 

24 

1416 

1843 

(94 3) 

(94 3) 

94 3 

94 3 

M1mmum lease payments 

2011 2010 

30 30 

10 5 12 0 

15 

13 5 16 5 

(2 3) (3 5) 

112 13 0 

Non-cash As at 
movement 31 March 2011 

(14) 102 5 

(O 3) 

(0 1) 06 

30 30 

(94 3) 

(2 8) (2 8) 

(4 8) 

32 (O 4) 

(2 9) 83 

45 

(1 6) 17 
11 2 (271 2) 

(18) 82 
18 (7 9) 

10 

15 1 (269 2) 

12 2 (260 9) 

Present value of m1mmum 
lease payments 

2011 2010 

30 30 
82 89 

11 

11 2 13 0 

112 13 0 

30 30 
82 100 

11 2 13 0 

The Group leases out certain buildings under ftnance leases over a 12-year term expiring 1n 2015 
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32 Finance leases continued 
Group as a lessee 
The m1n1mum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows 

all figures m £ m1!hon 

Amounts payable under finance leases 

Wrthin one year 

In the second to fifth years inclusive 

Greater than five years 

less future finance charges 

Present value of m1n1mum lease payments 

Classified as follows 

F1nanc1al liability- current 

Financial l1ab1lity- non-current 

Minimum lease payments 
2011 2010 

28 28 

99 113 

14 

12 7 15 5 
(2 O) (30) 

10.7 12 5 

Present value of minimum 
lease payments 

2011 2010 

28 28 

79 89 

08 

107 12 5 

10 7 12 5 

28 28 

79 97 

10.7 12 5 

The Group utilises certain buildings under finance leases Average lease terms are typically between two and ten years (31 March 2010 
between two and ten years) 

33 Share capital and other reserves 
Shares allotted, called up and fully paid 

Speoal Share of £1 
Ordinary shares of 1£! ea1;h legulty) (non-equ•~l 

£ Number £ 

At 1 Apnl 2009 6,604,764 660,476,373 1 
Issued 1n ear 

At 31 March 2010 6,604,764 660,476,373 1 
Issued m ear 

At 31 March 2011 6,604,764 660,476,373 1 

Except as noted below all shares 1n issue at 31 March 2011 rank pan passu tn all respects 

Rights attaching to the Special Share 

Number 

1 

1 

1 

Total 
£ Number 

6,604,765 660,476,374 

6,604,765 660,476,374 

6,604,765 660,476,374 

Q1net1Q carnes out act1v1t1es which are important to UK defence and secuntv interests To protect these interests 1n the context of the 
ongoing commercial relatronsh1p between the MOD and Qmet1Q, and to promote and reinforce the Compliance Principles, the MOD 
holds a Special Share rn Qmet1Q The Special Share confers certarn nghts on the holder 

a) to require the Group to implement and ma1nta1n the Compliance System (as defined m the Articles of Association) so as to make 
at all times effective its and each member of Q1net1Q Controlled Group's application of the Compliance Pnnc1ples, ma manner 
acceptable to the Special Shareholder, 

b) to refer matters to the Board or the Compliance Committee for its cons1derat1on rn relation to the application of the Compliance 
Pnnc1ples, 

c) to veto any contract, transaction, arrangement or act1v1ty which the Special Shareholder considers 
1) may result 1n circumstances which constitute unacceptable ownership, influence or control over Qrnet1Q or any other member 

of the Qrnet1Q consolidated Group contrary to the defence or secunty interests of the United Kingdom, or 
11) would not, or does not, ensure the effective application of the Compliance Pr1nc1ples to and/or by all members of the Qrnet1Q 

Controlled Group or would be or 1s otherwise contrary to the defence or security interests of the United Kingdom, 
d) to require the Board to take any action {including but not limited to amending the Compliance Principles), or rectify any om1ss1on 

1n the appl1cat1on of the Compliance Pnnc1ples, 1f the Special Shareholder 1s of the op1n1on that such steps are necessary to protect 
the defence or security interest of the United Kingdom, 

e) to exercise any of the powers contained 1n the Articles 1n relation to the Compliance Committee, and 
f) to demand a poll at any of Q1net1Q's meetrngs (even though 1t may have no voting nghts except those specifically set out 

rn the Articles) 

The Special Shareholder has an option to purchase defined Strategrc Assets of the Group 1n certain circumstances The Special 
Shareholder has, inter aha, the right to purchase any Strategic Assets wh1ch the Group wishes to sell Strategic Assets are normally 
testing and research fac1l1t1es (see note 36 for further details) 
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The Specral Share may only be issued to, held by and transferred to H M Government (or as 1t directs) At any time the Special 
Shareholder may require Q1net1Q to redeem the Special Share at par If Q1net1Q 1s wound up the Special Shareholder will be entitled to 
be repaid the capital paid up on the Special Share before other shareholders receive any payment The Special Shareholder has no other 
right to share in the capital or profits of Qinet1Q 

The Special Shareholder must give consent to a general meeting held on short notice 

The Special Share entitles the Special Shareholder to requJre certain persons who hold (together with any person acting 1n concert with 
them) a material rnterest in Q1net1Q to dispose of some or all of their Ordinary Shares 1n certain prescribed clfcumstances on the grounds 
of national security or conflict of interest 

The Directors must register any transfer of the Special Share w1th1n seven days 

Other reserves 
The translation reserve includes the cumulative foreign exchange difference arising on translation since the Group trans1t1oned to IFRS 
Movements on hedge instruments, where the hedge 1s effective, are recorded 1n the hedge reserve until the hedge ceases 

The capital redemption reserve 1s not d1stnbutable and was created following redemption of preference share capital and the bonus 
issue of shares 

Own shares 
Own shares represent shares in the Company that are held by independent trusts and include treasury shares and shares held by the 
employee share ownership plan Included 1n retained earnings at 31 March 2011 are 5,494,001 shares (2010 6,440,256 shares) 
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34 Share-based payments 
The Group operates a number of share-based payment plans for employees The total share-based payment expense rn the year was 
£3 3m (year to 31 March 2010 £5 Sm) 

2003 Employee share option scheme (2003 ESOS) 
Under the employee share option scheme all employees as at 25 July 2003 received share options which vested when the Group 
completed its IPO and which must be exercised w1th1n ten years of grant The options are settled by shares 

2011 2010 
Weighted Werghted 

average exerc15e average 
Number E!rlCe Number exercise [!flee 

Outstanding at the start of the year 714,840 2 3p 924,186 2 3p 
Exercised dunng the year (59,570) 2 3p (103,822) 2 3p 
Forfeited during the year (110,630) 2 3~ (105,524) 2 3p 
Outstanding at the end of the year 544,640 2 3p 714,840 2 3~ 

The 2003 ESOS are equity settled awards and those outstanding at 31 March 2011 had an average remarn1ng hfe of 2 3 years (31 March 
2010 3 3 years) In respect of the share optrons exercised dunng the year, the average share price on the date of exercise was 121 3p 
The exercise prrce of the outstanding options was 2 3p Of the outstanding awards at the year end 544,640 were exercisable (2010 
714,840) 

Q1net1Q Share Option Scheme (QSOS) 
No new optrons were granted dunng the year under the QSOS The exercise prrce of QSOS options 1s equal to the average market pnce 
of the Group's shares on the date of the grant The options vest after three years For 3,349,939 (2010 8,711,683) of the options 
outstanding at the end of the year the number that will vest 1s dependent upon the growth of earnings per share (EPS) over the 
measurement perrod 25% of options wilt vest 1f EPS growth 1s 22 5% for the perrod and 100% will vest 1f growth 1s at least 52% No 
options will vest 1f EPS growth 1s below 22 5% Options will vest on a straight lrne basis 1f EPS growth 1s between 22 5% and 52% For the 
remarn1ng nil (2010 425,073) options the EPS growth target 1s replaced by a performance target based on Q1net1Q's ranking by reference 
to total shareholder return (TSR) against a comparator group of FTSE hsted companies over a three-year performance period, such that 
a below-median ranking will result 1n nil shares vesting, at the median level 30% of the options would vest and the amount vested will 
increase on a stra1ght-hne basis, such that 100% would vest 1f TSR reaches the upper quartile of the ranking over a three-year penod 

2011 2010 
Weighted Weighted 

average exercise average 
Number [!rlCe Number exercise [!rice 

Outstanding at the start of the year 9,136,756 186 2p 18,103,300 190 Op 
Forfeited dunnB; the year (5,786,817) 17912 (8,966,544) 193 52 
Outstanding at the end of the year 3,349,939 198 7p 9,136,756 186 Zp 

QSOS grants are equity-settled awards and those outstanding at 31 March 2011 had an average remaining llfe of 0 4 years 
(2010 O 9 years) There were no QSOS awards 1n 2011 (2010 nil) Of the options outstanding at the end of the year nil were 
exercisable (2010 425,07 3) The range of exercise prices for the outstanding optrons at the end of the year was 198 Sp to 214 Op 

Performance Share Plan (PSP) 
In the year the Group made awards of cond1t1onal shares to certain UK senior executives under the Performance Share Plan The awards 
vest after three years with 50% of the awards subject to total shareholder return cond1t1ons and 50% subject to EPS cond1t1ons as 
detailed 1n the QSOS TSR and EPS cond1t1ons above 

2011 2010 
Number of Number of 

shares shares 
Outstanding at the start of the year 3,686,623 1,318,213 

Granted during the year 943,500 3,219,463 
Exercised dunng the year (215,763) 
Forfeited during the year (1,191,511) (635,290) 

Outstanding at the end of the :t,ear 3,438,612 3,686,623 

PSP awards are equity-settled awards and those outstanding at 31 March 2011 had an average remaining hfe of 1 7 years (2010 2 2 
years) There 1s no exercise pnce for these PSP awards Monte Carlo modelling was used to fair value the TSR element of the awards 
at grant date Assumptions used in the models included 35% (2010 34%) for the average share pnce volatility to the FTSE comparator 
group and 40% (2010 37%) for the average correlation to the comparator group The weighted average fair value of grants made dunng 
the year was £1 01 (2010 £1 17) Of the options outstanding at the end of the year nil were exercisable (2010 nil) 

94 Q1net1Q Group pie Annual Report and Accounts 2011 



Restricted Stock Units (RSU) 
In the year the Group granted RSU awards to certain senior US employees under the RSU Plan The awards vest over one year, two years, 
three years and four years Half of the awards are dependent on achieving QNA organic profit growth targets and half on a time-based 
criterion The time-based cntenon requires the employee to have been 1n continued service up to the date of vesting QNA organic profit 
growth 1s measured over the most recent f1nanc1al year compared to the previous financial year, with 125% of this element awarded at 
QNA organic profit growth rate above 15%, 100% awarded at 12 5%, 75% awarded at 10% and 25% awarded at 5% 

2011 2010 
Number of Number of 

shares shares 

Outstanding at the start of the year 7,321,228 3,694,277 

Granted during the year 4,315,625 5,304,501 

Exercised during the year (869,663) (1,087,219) 

Forfeited during the year (2,830,677) (590,331) 

Outstanding at the end of the year 7,936,513 7,321,228 

RSUs are equity-settled awards and those outstanding at 31 March 2011 had an average remaining hfe of 1 5 years (2010 1 7 years) 
There 1s no exercise price for these RSU awards The weighted average fair value of grants made during the year was £1 25 (2010 £1 35) 
Of the awards outstanding at the end of the year 7,845 were exercisable {2010 2,726) 

Value Sharing Plan (VSP) 
In the year the Group granted VSP awards to certain senior UK employees under the VSP Plan The awards vest over a three-year 
performance period 70% of the awards are dependent on creating additional shareholder value, measured as net cash returns to 
investors and the increase 1n PBT over an 8 5% hurdle 30% of the awards are dependent on total shareholder return (TSR) against a 
comparator group of FTSE 250 listed companies (less investment trusts) over a three-year performance period Half of the awards vest 
three years from the date of grant, the rema1n1ng half of the awards vest four years from the date of grant Further details of the vesting 
cond1t1ons of the scheme are 1n the Remuneration Report on page 38 

Outstanding at the start of the year 

Granted during the year 

Outstanding at the end of the year 

2011 
Number of 

shares 

6,287,640 

6,287,640 

2010 
Number of 

shares 

VSP awards are equity-settled awards and those outstanding at 31 March 2011 had an average rema1n1ng life of 2 5 years (2010 nil) 
There is no exercise pnce for these VSP awards Monte Carlo modelling was used to fair value the TSR element of the awards at grant 
date Assumptions used m the models rncluded 34% for the average share pnce volatility to the FTSE comparator group and 50% for the 
average correlation to the comparator group The weighted average fair value of grants made during the year was £0 95 Of the awards 
outstanding at the end of the year nil were exercisable 
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34 Share-based payments continued 
Group Share Incentive Plan (SIP) 
Under the Q1net1Q Share Incentive Plan the Group offers UK employees the opportunity of purchasing up to £12S worth of shares a 
month at the preva1hng market rate The Group will make a matching share award of a third of the employee's payment The Group's 
matching shares may be forfeited 1f the employee ceases to be employed by Qmet1Q within three years of the award of the shares 
There 1s no exercise price for these SIP awards 

2011 2010 
Number of Number of 

matchrng match mg 
shares shares 

Outstanding at the start of the year 1,339,543 1,252,730 

Granted dunng the year 511,825 555,688 

Exercised dunng the year (414,487) (430,743) 

Forfeited during the :z:ear (54,856) (38,132) 

Outstanding at the end of the year 1,382,025 1,339,543 

SIP matching shares are equity-settled awards and those outstanding at 31 March 2011 had an average rema1n1ng life of 1 5 years 
(2010 1 5 years) There 1s no exercise price for these SIP awards Of the shares outstanding at the end of the year nil were exercisable 
(2010 nil) 

Group Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (DAB) 
Under the Q1net1Q Deferred Annual Bonus Plan the Group requires certain senior executives to defer part of their annual bonus as shares 
and be entitled to matching awards to a maximum of 11 based upon EPS performance The number that w11I vest 1s dependent upon the 
growth of EPS over the measurement perrod of three years as detailed in the QSOS EPS cond1t1ons above No awards will vest 1f EPS 
growth 1n the vesting perrod 1s below 22 5% 

2011 2010 
Number of Number of 

matchrng matchrng 
shares shares 

Outstanding at the start of the year 11,988 83,539 

Granted durrng the year 6,859 

Exercised during the year (2,052) (25,155) 

Forfeited durrng the :z:ear (3,077) (53,255) 

Outstanding at the end of the year 6,859 11,988 

DAB matchrng shares are equity-settled awards and those outstanding at 31 March 2011 had an average rema1n1ng life of 1 2 years 
(2010 1 8 years) There 1s no exercise prrce for these DAB awards Of the shares outstanding at the end of the year nil were exercisable 
(2010 nil) 

Share-based award pricing - options 
Share options (excluding TSR performance related) have been valued using Black-Scholes models to determine the farr value of awards 
There were no such awards 1n 2010 or 2011 

No assumptions have been disclosed 1n the current year, as no QSOS awards have been made in the year ended 31 March 2011 

Share-based award pricing - other 
Share-based awards that vest based upon non-market performance cond1t1ons, 1nclud1ng certain PSP, RSUs and Deferred Annual 
Bonus awards have been valued at the share price at grant less attntron For the 2003 Share Option Scheme, there was a pre-bonus 
issue werghted average share pnce of £1 and a weighted average exercise pnce of £1 based on thrrd-party transactions m the Company's 
shares 1n the penod 1mmed1ately pnor to the issue of the share options Pnor to IPO m February 2006, there was no active market for 
the Company's shares, therefore expected volatility was determined usmg the average volat1hty for a comparable selection of 
businesses At this time the Group had no established pattern of dividend payments therefore no d1v1dends were assumed 1n this model 
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35 Operating leases 
Group as a lessor 
The Group receives rental income on certain properties The Group had contracted with tenants for the following future m1n1mum 
lease payments 

all figures m £ m1lhon 

Wrt:hin one year 

In the second to fifth years 1nclus1ve 

Greater than five ears 

Group as a lessee 
all figures tn £ million 

Lease and sub-lease income statement expense- minimum lease payments 

The Group had the following future m1n1mum lease payment commitments 

all fi ures m £ m1ll1on 

Within one year 

In the second to fifth years 1nclus1ve 

Greater than five years 

2011 2010 

65 46 

240 16 3 

01 

306 20.9 

2011 2010 

22.S 233 

2011 2010 

15 2 169 

68 2 504 

32 2 33 2 

115 6 100 5 

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group on certain office property and plant 
average of 3-10 years 

Leases are negotiated for an 

36 Transactions with MOD 
The MOD continues to own its Special Share 1n Q1net1Q which conveys certain rights as set out 1n note 33 Transactions between the 
Group and the MOD are disclosed as follows 

Freehold land and buildings and surplus properties 
Under the terms of the Group's acqu1s1tron of part of the business and certain assets of DERA from the MOD on 1 July 2001, the MOD 
retained certain nghts 1n respect of the freehold land and buildings transferred These are 

1) Restrictions on transfer of title 
The title deeds of those properties with strategic assets (see below) include a clause that prevents their transfer without the approval 
of MOD The MOD also has the nght to purchase any strategic assets m certain circumstances 

11) Property clawback agreement 
The MOD retains an interest 1n future profits on disposal following a 'trigger event' A 'trigger event' includes the granting of planning 
permission for development and/or change of use, and the d1spos1t1on of any of the acquired land and buildings Dunng the 12 years 
from 1 July 2001, following a 'trigger event', the MOD 1s entitled to claw back a proportion of the gain on each 1ndiv1dual property 
transaction 1n excess of a 30% gain on a July 2001 professional valuation The proportion of the excess gain due to the MOD 1s based on 
a shd1ng scale which reduces over time from 50% to 9% and at 31 March 2011 stands at 16% (2010 28%) The July 2001 valuation was 
approximately 16% greater m aggregate than the cons1derat1on paid for the land and buildings on 1 July 2001 

Compliance Regime 
The Complrance Committee monitors the effective application of the Comphance Regime required by the MOD to ma1nta1n the pos1t1on 
of Q1net1Q as a suppher of independent and 1mpart1al sc1ent1fic/techn1cal advice to the MOD and ensures that the required standards are 
met 1n tnals 1nvolv1ng human volunteers 

Strategic assets 
Under the Pnncrpal Agreement with the MOD, the Q1net1Q controlled Group 1s not permitted without the written consent 
of the MOD, to 

1) dispose of or destroy all or any part of a strategic asset, or 
11) voluntarily undertake any closure of, or cease to provide a strategrc capab1hty by means of, all or any part of a strategic asset 

The net book value of assets 1dent1fied as being strategic assets as at 31 March 2011 was £3 Bm (31 March 2010 £4 4m) 

Long-Term Partnering Agreement 
On 27 February 2003 Qmet1Q L1m1ted entered into a Long-Term Partnering Agreement to provide the Test and Evaluation (T&E) fac1ht1es 
and training support servrces to the MOD This 1s a 25-year contract with a total revenue value of up to £5 6bn, dependent on the level 
of usage by MOD, under which Q1net1Q Limited 1s committed to prov1d1ng the T&E services with 1ncreas1ng eff1c1enc1es through cost 
saving and innovative service delivery 

Qmet1Q Group pie Annual Report and Accounts 2011 97 



Frnanc1al statements 
Notes to the f1nanc1al statements continued 

37 Directors and other senior management personnel 
The Directors and other senror management personnel of the Group during the year to 31 March 2011 comprise the Board of Directors 
and the Q1net1Q Executive Team 

all figures m £ m1lhon 2011 2010 

Short-term employee remuneration including benefits 

Post-employment benefits 

Share-based payments expense 

Total 

64 
02 

17 

83 

Short-term employee remuneration and benefits include salary, bonus, and benefits Post-employment benefits relate to pension 
amounts 

38 Contingent hab1ht1es and assets 
Subs1d1ary undertakings w1th1n the Group have given unsecured guarantees of £56 7m at 31 March 2011 (31 March 2010 £55 lm) 
in the ordrnary course of business 

54 
01 

10 

65 

The Group 1s aware of claims and potential claims by or on behalf of current and former employees, 1ndud1ng former employees of the 
MOD and DERA and contractors, 1n respect of intellectual property, employment rights and industrial illness and Injury which involve 
or may involve legal proceedings against the Group The Directors are of the op1n1on, having regard to legal advice received, the Group's 
insurance arrangements and prov1s1ons earned 1n the balance sheet, that 1t 1s unlikely that these matters will, 1n aggregate, have a 
material effect on the Group's financial pos1t1on, results of operations and llqurd1ty 

The Group has not recogn 1sed contingent amounts receivable relating to the Chertsey property which was disposed of dunng 2004 or 
the Fort Halstead property disposed of 1n September 2005 Add1t1onal cons1derat1on, subject to clawback to the MOD pursuant to the 
arrangements referred to 1n note 36, 1s potentially due upon the purchasers obta1n1ng add1t1onal planning consents, with the quantum 
dependent on the scope of the consent achieved 
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39 Post-retirement benefits 
Tnenn1al funding valuation 

The most recent full actuarial valuation of the defined benefit section of the Q1net1Q Pension Scheme was undertaken as at 30 June 
2008 and resulted in an actuarially assessed def1c1t of £111 3m On the basis of this full valuation, the Trustees of the scheme and the 
Company agreed the employer contnbut1on rate of 11 5% from 30 June 2008, and past service def1c1t recovery payments of £13m per 
year for a ten-year period from this date The next scheduled tnenn1al valuation will be performed as at 30 June 2011 

Introduction and background to IAS 19 
International Accounting Standard 19 (Employee Benefits) requires the Group to include 1n the balance sheet the surplus or def1c1t on 
defined benefit schemes calculated as at the balance sheet date It 1s a snapshot view which can be s1gn1f1cantly influenced by short-term 
market factors The calculation of the surplus or def1c1t 1s, therefore, dependent on factors which are beyond the control of the Group -
principally the value at the balance sheet date of equity shares 1n which the scheme has invested and long-term interest rates which 
are used to discount future l1ab1l1tres The funding of the scheme 1s based on long-term trends and assumptions relating to market 
growth, as advised by qualified actuaries 

The Q1net1Q Pension Scheme 
In the UK the Group operates the Q1net1Q Pension Scheme for the majority of its UK employees The Defined Benefit (DB) section of 
the scheme provides future service pensron benefits to transferring C1v1I Service employees All Group employees who were members, 
or eligible to be members, of the Principal C1vtl Service Pension Scheme or the UKAEA principal Non-Industrial Superannuation Scheme 
were 1nv1ted to JOm the DB section of the scheme from 1July2001, together with all new employees who were previously members of 
schemes which are part of the Publrc Sector Transfer Club On 31 March 2009, the Group withdrew from the Public Sector Transfer Club 
The Defined Contributron (DC) section of the scheme was set up for employees who were not el1g1ble or did not wish to join the DB 
section of the scheme The Company closed the DC section from 31 March 2011 and has replaced this with a Group Personal Pension 
Plan managed by Zurich All existing DC members will be automatically transferred to the GPP Plan The DC Section will be wound up by 
the Trustees in due course The expected employer cash contribution to the defined benefit scheme for the year ending 31 March 2012 
1s £32 Sm (2011 £36 Gm), subject to the outcome of the next triennial valuation m June 2011 

Other UK schemes 
ln the UK the Group has a small number of employees for whom benefits are secured through the Prudential Platinum Scheme The net 
pension def1c1ts of this scheme at 31 March 2011 amounted to £nil (31 March 2010 £0 2m) Q1net1Q also offers employees access to a 
Group Self Invested Personal Pension Plan, but no Company contributions are paid to this arrangement 

There were no outstanding or prepaid contributions at the balance sheet date (March 2010 £n1l) Set out below 1s a summary of the 
overall !AS 19 defined benefit pension schemes' llab1l1t1es The fair value of the schemes' assets, which are not intended to be reahsed 1n 
the short term and may be subject to s1gn1ficant change before they are realised, and the present value of the schemes' l1ab1ht1es, which 
are derived from cash flow projections over long periods, and thus inherently uncertain, were 

all figures in£ m1llron 2011 2010 2009 2008 

Equ1t1es 5641 714 6 473 7 620 8 

Corporate bonds 158 7 69 5 78 4 839 

Government bonds 165 3 69 6 83 2 76 3 
Property 780 53 4 

Other 15 0 88 121 32 

Total market value of assets 9811 915 9 647 4 784 2 
Present value of scheme l1ab1l1t1es (1,105 7) (1,063 2) (752 6) (807 6) 

Net pension l1ab1hty before deferred tax (124 6) (147 3) (105 2) (23 4) 

Deferred tax asset 32 4 412 294 65 

Net pension hab1lrty (92 2) (106 1) (75 8) (16 9) 
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Financial statements 
Notes to the financial statements continued 

39 Post-retirement benefits continued 
Changes to the fair value of scheme assets 
all figures 1n £million 

Opening fair value of scheme assets 

Expected return on assets 

Actuanal (loss)/gain on scheme assets 

Contnbut1ons by the employer 

Contributions by plan part1c1pants 

Net decrease in assets from disposals 

Net benefits paid out and transfers 

Closing fair value of scheme assets 

Changes to the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
all figures 1n £ m1lhon 

Opening defined benefit obl1gatron 

Current service cost 

Interest cost 

Contnbut1ons by plan part1c1pants 

Actuanal (gam)/loss on scheme l1ab1lrtres 

Net decrease 1n hab1ht1es from d1Sposals 

Curtailment garn 

Past service cost 

Net benefits pard out and transfers 

Closing defined benefit obhgat1on 

Total expense recognised 1n the income statement 
all figures 1n £ mllhon 

Pension costs charged to the rncome statement 

Current service cost 

Past service cost 

Interest cost 

Expected return on plan assets 

Curtailment 

Total expense recognised 1n the Income statement (gross of deferred tax) 

Analysis of amounts recognised 1n statement of recognised income and expense 
all figures in£ m1JJ1on 2011 

Total actuanal (loss)/garn (gross of deferred tax) (4 7) 

Cumulative total actuarial losses recognised 1n the Statement 
of Recognised Income and Expense 

History of scheme experience gains and losses· 

Experience (losses)/gams on scheme assets 

Experience gains/(losses) on scheme hab1l1t1es 

Experience gams and losses exclude the impact of changes in assumptrons 
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(258 1) 

(140) 

320 

2011 2010 

915 9 647 4 

68 6 46 3 

(14 O) 206 6 

366 38 4 

02 03 

(0 6) 

(26 2) (22 5) 

9811 915 9 

2011 2010 

1,063 2 752 6 

229 200 

59 5 48 8 

02 03 

(9 3) 266 8 

(O 8) 

(49) (2 O) 

03 
(26 2) (22 5) 

1,105 7 1,063 2 

2011 2010 

22 9 200 

03 

59 5 48 8 

(68 6) (46 3) 

(49) (2 O) 

92 20 5 

2010 2009 2008 

(60 2) (95 7) 65 5 

(253 4) (193 2) (97 5) 

206 6 (212 8) (83 9) 

(2 9) 37 l (1 O) 



Assumptions 

The major assumptions (weighted to reflect 1nd1v1dual scheme differences) were 

2011 2010 

Rate of increase in salaries 46% 46% 

Rate of increase 1n pensions 1n payment 36% 36% 
Discount rate applied to scheme liab1l1t1es 56% 56% 
RPI inflation assumption 36% 36% 
CPI inflation assumetion 27% N/A 

Assumed life expectancies in years 

Future male pensioners (currently aged 60) 88 87 

Future female pensioners (currently aged 60) 90 89 
Future male pensioners (currently aged 40) 90 89 
Future female pensioners (currently aged 40) 91 90 

The assumptions used by the actuary are the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to the 
timescale covered, may not necessarily be borne out 1n practice It 1s important to note that these assumptions are long term, and 1n 
the case of the discount rate and the inflation rate are measured by external market indicators The life expectancy assumptions for 
mortahty have increased 1n the year to 31 March 2011 with the base tables for mortality in line with the Medium Cohort projections 
with m1n1mum annual rates of improvement of 1 25% for males and 0 75% for females (2010 improvement 1% for males and 0 5% 
for females) The current mortality rates reflect the standard tables PNMAOOMC (for mates) and PNFAOOMC (for females) for members' 
year of birth These mortality tables are published by the Continuous Mortality lnvest1gat1on and adopted by the actuarial profession 

Sens1t1v1ty analysis of the principal assumptions used to measure scheme llab1ht1es 

Assumption 

Discount rate 

Rate of 1nflat1on 

Salary increase 

Rate of mortality 

Scheme assets 

Change in assumption 

Increase/decrease by 0 1% 

Increase/decrease by 0 1% 

Increase/decrease by 0 1% 

Increase by one year 

Impact on scheme llab11ities 

Decrease/increase by £24 lm 

Increase/decrease by £24 Sm 

Increase/decrease by £5 Sm 

Increase by £22 2m 

The overall expected rate of return on plan assets 1s based upon the expected return rates for each asset class Equity return rates 
are the long-term expected return rates based upon the market rates of return for risk-free investments, typically government bonds, 
together with the h1stoncal level of nsk premium associated with equ1t1es, with the resulting rate then being reviewed and benchmarked 
against a peer group of listed companies Expected long-term rates of return on scheme assets (weighted to reflect the 1nd1v1dual 
scheme actual asset allocations) were 

Equities 

Corporate bonds 

Government bonds 

Property 

Cash 

Weighted average 

Return on scheme assets 

all figures in£ m1lhon 

Actual return on plan assets 

Expected return on scheme assets 

Actuanal (loss)/gam on scheme assets 

Actual gain on scheme assets 

Defined contnbut1on schemes 

Payments to the defined contnbut1on schemes totalled £24 lm (March 2010 

2011 2010 

80% 80% 

55% 55% 

43% 44% 

80% 85% 
43% 43% 

69% 75% 

2011 2010 

68 6 46 3 

(14 O) 206 6 

54 6 252 9 

£24 6m) 
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Fmanc1al statements 
Notes to the fmanc1al statements continued 

40 Capital commitments 
The Group had the following capital commitments for which no prov1s1on has been made 

all figures rn £million 2011 2010 

Contracted 43 59 

Capital commitments at 31 March 2011 include £3 9m (2010 £5 Sm) 1n relation to property, plant and equipment that will be wholly­
funded by a third-party customer under long-term contract arrangements 

41 Subs1d1aries 
The com pan res listed below are those which were part of the Group at 31March2011 and which, 1n the opmron of the Directors, 
s1gn1f1cantly affected the Group's results and net assets dunng the year The Directors consider that those companies not hsted are not 
s1gn1f1cant 1n relation to the Group as a whole A comprehensive fist of all subs1d1anes will be disclosed as an appendix to the Group's 
annual return 

Name of company 

Subs1d1anes1
'
2
'
3 

Q1net1Q Holdings limited 

Q1net1Q Lim 1ted 

Qmet1Q Overseas Holdings L1m1ted 

Qmet1Q North Amerrca, Inc 

Qmet1Q US Holdings, Inc 
Analex Corporation 

Apogen Techno!og1es, Inc. 

Foster-Miller, Inc 

Westar Aerospace & Defence Group, Inc 

Pnnc1pal area of operatron Country of 1ncorporat1on 

UK England & Wales 

UK Engtand & Wales 

UK Engiand & Wales 

USA USA 
USA USA 
USA USA 
USA USA 
USA USA 
USA USA 

1 
Accounting reference date 1s 31 March All pnnc1pal subs1d1ary undertakings hsted above have fmancral year ends of 31 March and 100% of the ordmary shares are owned 
by the Group 

2 
Qmet1Q Hold1ngs ltm1ted 1s a direct subs1d1ary of Q1net1Q Group pie All other subs1d1anes are held indirectly by other subs1d1arres of Qmet1Q Group pie 

1 
AU companies e:icceptfor holding compames are operatmg compames engaged m the Group's principal act1v1t1es as described m the Directors' Report on page 45 
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Company balance sheet 

all figures 1n £ milhon 

Fixed assets 

Investments m subs1d1ary undertaking 

Current assets 
Debtors 

Current l1ab1ht1es 

Creditors amounts falling due w1thm one year 

Net current assets 
Net assets 

Capltal and reserves 
Equity share capital 

Capital redemption reserve 

Share premium account 

Profit and loss account 

Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders 

There are no other recognised gams and losses 

note 

2 

3 

4 

6 

6 

6 

6 

2011 2010 

112 0 108 7 

112 0 108 7 

306 3 303 9 

306 3 303 9 

(79 2) (91 O) 

227.1 212 9 

339 1 3216 

66 66 

39 9 39 9 

147 6 147 6 

145 0 127 5 

3391 3216 

The financral statements of Qmet1Q Group pie (company number 4586941) were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised 
for issue on 27 May 2011 and they were signed on its behalf by 

Mark Elhott 
Chairman 

Leo Quinn 
Chief Executive Officer 

David Mellors 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Notes to the Company financial statements 

1 Accounting policies 
The following accounting pohc1es have been apphed consistently 1n dealing with items which are considered material m relation to the 
Company's f1nancral statements 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and 1n accordance with applicable UK accounting 
standards As permitted by section 408(4) of the Companies Act 2006, a separate profit and loss account dealing with the results of 
the Company has not been presented 

Investments 

In the Company's financial statements, investments 1n subs1d1ary undertakings are stated at cost less any 1mpa1rment 1n value 

Share-based payments 

The fatr value of equity-settled awards for share-based payments 1s determined on grant and expensed straight line over the period 
from grant to the date of earliest uncond1t1onal exercise The fair value of cash-settled awards for share-based payments 1s determined 
each period end until they are exercised or lapse The value 1s expensed straight hne over the period from grant to the date of earliest 
uncond1t1onal exercise The charges for both equity and cash-settled share-based payments are updated annually for non-market-based 
vesting cond1t1ons Further details of the Group's share-based payment charge 1s disclosed 1n note 34 of the Group f1nanc1al statements 
The cost of share-based payments 1s charged to subs1d1ary undertakings 

2 Investment in subs1d1ary undertaking 
As at 31 March 
all figures in£ mllhon 

Subs1d1ary undertakrng-100% of ordinary share caprt:al of Q1net1Q Holdings l.lm1ted 

Capital contnbut1ons arising from share-based payments to employees of subs1d1aries 

2011 

92 4 

19 6 

112 0 

2010 

92 4 
16 3 

108 7 

A list of all pnnc1pal subs1d1ary undertakings of Q1net1Q Group pie rs drsclosed 1n note 41 to the Group financial statements The £3 3m 
(2010 £5 Sm) increase 1n investment 1n the year relates to the capital contribution in relation to share-based payments for employees 
of subs1d1ary companies 

3 Debtors 
As at 31 March 
all f1 ures in £ m1ll1on 

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 

4 Creditors 
As at 31 March 
all fi ures 1n f m1thon 

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 

5 Share capital 
The Company's share capital 1s disclosed 1n note 33 to the Group financial statements 
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2011 2010 

306 3 303 9 

2011 2010 

79 2 910 



6 Reserves 
capital 

Issued share redemption Share Profit Total 
all fiS:ures in£ m1ll1on capital reserve premium and loss equ!£! 
At 31 March 2010 66 39 9 147 6 127 5 3216 

Prof rt: 14 8 14 8 

Purchase of own shares (0 6) (0 6) 

Share-based E!a~ments 33 33 

At 31 March 2011 66 399 147 6 145 0 339 1 

At 31 March 2009 66 39 9 147 6 73 6 267 7 

Profit 80 5 80 5 

Purchase of own shares (08) (08) 

Drv1dend paid (31 6) (31 6) 

Share-based E!a)'.ments 58 58 

At 31 March 2010 66 39 9 147 6 127 5 321 6 

The capital redemption reserve 1s not distributable and was created following redemption of Preference Share capital 

7 Share-based payments 
The Company's share-based payment arrangements are set out 1n note 34 to the Group f1nanc1al statements 

8 Other information 
Directors' emoluments, excluding Company pension contnbut1ons, were £2 7m (2010 £2 8m) These emoluments were all in relation 
to services provided on behalf of the Qmet1Q Group with no amount specifically relating to their work for the Company Details of the 
Drrectors' emoluments, share schemes and entrtlements under money purchase pension schemes are disclosed m the Report of the 
Remuneration Committee 

The remuneration of the Company's auditors for the year to 31 March 2011 was £15,000 (2010 £5,000) all of which was for statutory 
audit services No other services were provided by the auditors to the Company 
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Five-year record for the years ended 31 March 
(unaudited) 

all figures in£ m1llron 

US Services fm 

UK Services fm 

Global Products fm 

Revenue fm 

US Services fm 

UK Services fm 

Global Products fm 

Underlying operating profit1 fm 

Qmet1Q North Amenca fm 

EMEA fm 

Ventures fm 

Revenue fm 

QmetLQ North Amenca fm 

EMEA fm 

Ventures fm 

Underlying operating profit1 fm 

Underlying operating marg1n1 

" Underlying profit before tax1 fm 

Profrt/(loss) before tax fm 

Profit:/(loss) after tax fm 

Underlying baSlc EPS' (pence) pence 

Diluted EPS (pence) pence 

Basic EPS (pence) pence 

Dividend per share pence 

Underlyrng net cash from operations 
(post capex)

1 
fm 

Net debt fm 

Average number of employees 

Orders fm 

588 2 

6116 

502 8 

1,702 6 

44 3 

48 7 

52 4 

145 4 

85 
114 6 

26 6 

so 
142 

08 
08 

160 

2658 

2609 
12,033 

1,559 7 

201o' 

6280 

6939 

303 5 
1,625 4 

526 

591 

86 

120 3 

201o' 

800 1 

818 8 

65 

1,625 4 

677 

611 
(8 S) 

120 3 

74 

85 7 
(661) 

(63 3) 

111 

(9 7) 

(9 7) 

1 58 

169 2 

457 4 

13,604 

1,400 9 

2009' 2008
3 20073 

765 6 540 2 358 2 

842 3 820 1 779 3 

94 57 12 0 

1,617 3 1,366 0 1,149.5 

830 62 1 39 9 

842 800 73 0 

(15 6) (15 1) (6 9) 

1516 127 0 106 0 

94 93 92 

130 2 109 0 940 

1140 51 4 89 3 

93 6 47 4 690 

15 9 13 4 113 

14 3 72 10 3 

14 3 72 10 5 

4 75 4 25 3 65 

175 2 138 3 107 0 

537 9 379 9 300 8 

13,882 13,470 11,870 

1,596 0 1,277 1 1,214 0 
1 Underlying measures are stated before amortisation of intangibles ans1ng from acqws1t1ons and specific non recurrmg items Specific non recurring items include amounts 

relating to restructunng charges, pension curtailment gams, contingent payments on acqu1s1t1on treated as remuneration, net mventory wnte-offs m respect of cap1labsed 
OTR programme brd costs, 1mpa1rment of property, plant and equ1pment, 1mpa1rment of mtang1ble assets, gam/(loss) on business combmat1ons and divestments, unreahsed 
1mpa1rments ofmvestments, and tax thereon Oefimt1ons of underlying measures of performance are m the glossary on page 107 Underlying financrat measures are 
presented as the Board beheves these provide a better representation of the Group's long term performance trend 

2 0perat1ng profit and operating margms for 2009, 2008 and 2007 have been restated to show the net finance element of the IAS 19 pension cost m the finance income 
and expense Imes This was previously reported mother operating costs 

llhe Group's management structure changed wrth effect from l Apnl 2010 Comparatives for the new structure have been provided for 2010 Segmental data for 2007 
to 2010 has been retained on the old structure as reported 1n previous financial statements 
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Glossary 

AGM Annual General Meetmg 
Book to bdl ratio Ratro of funded orders received m the year to 

revenue for the year, adjusted to exclude revenue 
from the 25-year L TPA contract 

BPS Basis pomts 

C41SR Command, control, communrcat1ons, computers, 
mtelhgence, surveillance and reconnarssance 

Combined Code Gwdellnes required by the llstmg Rules of the 
F1nanc1al Services Authority to address the principal 
aspects of Corporate Governance 

Compliance The prmc1ples underlying the Compliance Regime, 
Pnnoples covering 1mpart1ahty, mtegnty, confl1cts, 

confident1ahty and security 

COTS Commercial-Off-The-Shelf 
CR Corporate Respons1b1hty 

Cyve1tlance, Inc Cyve1llance, tnc is a Qmet1Qcompany and leader 
m cyber mtell1gence, currently serving f1nanc1al 
1nst1tut1ons worldwide and more than 100 m1Jl1on 
global customers 

DAB Deferred Annual Bonus 

DERA Defence Evaluation and Research Agency, the 
majonty of which was transferred into Qmet1Q 
in 2001 

DHS US Department of Homeland Security 
DoD US Department of Defense 

DTR MOD's Defence Tra1mng Ratronahsat1on 
programme 

EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, deprec1at1on 
and amort1sat1on 

EMEA Europe, Middle East and Australasia 
EPS Earnings per share 

Funded backlog The expected future value of revenue from 
contractually committed and funded customer 
orders (excluding £3 9bn value of the remaining 
17 years of LTPA contract) 

GWH G1ga-Watt Hours 
HMRC Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (UK) 

IAS lnternatronat Accounting Standards 

IDIQ Indefinite delivery indefinite quantity 
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

IPO Initial Public Offenng 
KPI Key Performance Indicator 

LIBID London inter-bank bid rate 

LIBOR London inter-bank offered rate 
LSE London Stock Exchange 

LTPA Long-Term Partnering Agreement - 25-year 
contract established in 2003 to manage the MOD's 
test and evaluation ranges 

MOD UK M1mstry of Defence 

NASA National Aeronautics and Space Administration 
(USA) 

OCI Organ1sat1onal COnfhcts of Interest 

Organic Growth The level of year-on-year growth, expressed as 
a percentage, calculated at constant foreign 
exchange rates, adjustingcomparatrves to 
incorporate the results of acquired entitles 
and excluding the results for any disposals or 
d1scontmued operations for the same duration 
of ownership as the current penod 

PBT Profit Before Tax 

PSP Performance Share Plan 

QNA QmetlQ North America 

QSOS Qmet1Q Share Option Scheme 

R&D Research & Development 

ROCE Return on Capital Employed 

RFID Radio frequency rdent1ficat1on 
RIDDOR Reporting of Injuries, Diseases & Dangerous 

Occurrences Regulations 

RoSPA Royal Society for the Preventron of Accidents 

RSU Restricted Stock Unit 

SDSR Strategic Defence and Security Review undertaken 
by UK Government 

Specific non- Restructuring charges, pension curtailment gains, 
recurring items and contingent payments on acqu1s1t1on treated as 

acqu1srt1on remuneration, net inventory wnte-offs in respect of 
amortisation cap1tahsed OTA-programme bid costs, 1mpa1rment 

of property, plant and equipment, 1mpa1rment of 
intangible assets, ga1n/(loss) on busmess 
comb1nat1ons and divestments, unreahsed 
impairments of investments, and tax thereon 

TSR Total Shareholder Return 

UDR Urgent Operational Requirements 

UK GAAP UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

Underlying basic Basic earnings per share as adjusted to exclude 
earnings per share 'specific non-recurring items and acqu1s1t1on 

amort1sat1on' 

Underlying effective The tax charge for the year excluding the tax 
tax rate impact of 'specific non-recurring items and 

acqu1srt1on amort1sat1on' expressed as a 
percentage of underlying profit before tax 

Underlying net cash Net cash mflow from operations before 
from operat10ns restructuring costs less net cash outflow on 

(post capex) purchase/sale of intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment 

Underlying operatmg The ratio of underlying net cash from operations 
cash conversion (post capex) to underlying operating profit 

excluding share of post tax result of equity· 
accounted 1oint ventures and associates 

Underlymgoperating Underlying operating profrt expressed as a 
margin percentage of revenue 

Underlymg operating Operating profit as adjusted to exclude 'spec1f1c 
profit non-recurring items and acquis1t1on amort1sat1on' 

Underlying profit Prof rt before tax as adjusted to exclude 'specific 
before tax non-recurring items and acqws1t1on amortisation' 

Unfunded Orders Typically tong-term contracts awarded by the 
US government wh1ch the customer funds 
incrementally over the life of the contract 
The Group does not recogmse such awards mto 
the reported backlog until fundmg 1s confirmed 

VSP Value Sharing Plan 
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Additional information 

Financial calendar 
2 August 2011 

2 August 2011 

3 August 2011 

2 September 2011 

30 September 2011 

23 November 2011 

February 2012 

31 March 2012 

May 2012 

Analysis of shareholders' 

lntenm management statement 

Annual General Meeting 

Final 2011 d1v1dend ex-cl1v1dend date 

Final 2011 d1v1dend payment date 

Interim f1nane1al penod end 

Interim results announcement 

Interim management statement (prov1s1onal date) 

F1nanc1al year end 

Prel1m1nary results announcement 

lnst1tut1onal investors with a shareholding greater than 0 Sm shares 96% 
Other (1nclud1ng employees, management and f1nanc1al 1nst1tut1ons 
with a shareholding less than O Sm shares) 4% 

Analysis as at 26 May 2011 

Auditor 
KPMG Audit Pie 
Chartered Accountants 
15 Canada Square 
London 
E14 SGL 

Advisers 
Corporate brokers 

JP Morgan Cazenave 

10 Aldermanbury 
London 
EC2V 7RF 

Company information 

UBS Investment Bank 

1 Finsbury Avenue 
London 
EC2M 2PP 

Company Reg1strat1on Number 4586941 

Registered office 
Cody Technology Park 
Jvely Road 
Farnborough 
Hampshire 
GU14 OLX 

United Kingdom 
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100% 

Principal legal advisors 

Herbert Smith LLP 
Exchange House 

Pnmrose Street 
London 

EC2A 2HS 

Registrars 

Equ1n1t1 
Aspect House 
Spencer Road 
Lancing 
West Sussex 
BN99 6DA 



Where can you learn more? 

View our report onhne at www Q1net1Q com/Investors 

The Qmet1Q Annual Report 2011 can be viewed at www Q1net1Q com/Investors along with further useful shareholder mformatron 

and 1nformat1on on the Company, its performance, the Annual General Meeting and latest presentations 

For more mformat1on v1s1t www Q1net1Q com 

You can access the following 

Latest shareholder 1nformat1on 
• latest share pnce 
• Financial calendar 

• RNS news feeds 

• Corporate governance 

Archive Information 
• Results and trading updates 
• Company reports 

Company presentations 

Shareholder services 
Register onhne 

• Sharev1ew 

• Common questions 

Feedback 

• Your feedback 

• Investor contacts 

Electronic commun1cat1on 
Qmet1Q has taken full advantage of changes brought about by the Companies Act 2006 which recogn1ses the growing importance of 
electronic commun1cat1ons and allows companies to provide documentation and commun1cat1ons to shareholders via their websites 
(except to those who have spec1f1cally elected to receive a hard copy (1 e paper)) 

The wider use of electronic commun1cat1ons enables fast receipt of documents, reduces the Company's pnnt1ng, paper and postal costs 
and has a pos1t1ve impact on the envrronment 

Shareholders may also cast their vote for the 2011 AGM onl1ne quickly and easily usmg the Sharevote service by v1s1tmg 
www sharevote co uk 

Corporate respons1b1hty 
Read more about our corporate respons1b1l1ty policy at www Q1net1Q com/er 

Designed by luminous co uk 
Pnnt by Midas Press 

QlnetiQ Group pie Annual Report and Accounts 2011 109 



QinetiQ 

Regastered office 
QmetJQ 
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